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This Annual Report is published in late March 2025, but the information contained herein was as at
30 September 2024 unless otherwise specified.
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Glossary
=N
GRS

In this Annual Report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following HRAFRA > BXEFBREINN U THEEEFIU
expressions shall have the following respective meanings: TAERRE

2023 AGM”
TR —FRRBERE]

"2024 AGM"
(CTE T UERFBFEAD]

" AGM(s)”
MRERBEARE]

"Annual Report”

TR
“Articles of Association”
TAR# = 24081

"Audit Committee”
EZEEE)

"Auditor(s)”
Mz 8Rm)

“Board”
== 8-

“BVI"
FBVI |

"CEO"
MrEREHITE

“China” or "PRC"
MFRE

“CG Code”
=Sl

"Chairman”

ME/&E

"Companies Act”
WNID 3

“Company”

N/ )
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the AGM held in Hong Kong on Friday, 29 December 2023;
NZZ_=F+ZRBZ+NB (BHE) REBRTHNRREFAE;

the AGM to be held in Hong Kong on Monday, 30 December 2024;
BRZEZNF+"A=+0 (B REBRTHREBEFKRSG ;

the annual general meeting(s) of the Company;

ERENRRBFERE ;

the annual report of the Company for the Year;

KABBERFEZFR ;

the articles of association of the Company as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time;
RABARKET HRIAUEECHNERZABERMAA ;

the audit committee of the Board;
EEEEZEEY;

the independent auditor(s) of the Company;
KRRBVEILIZEED ;

the board of Directors;
BEg;

the British Virgin Islands;
HEETRES

the chief executive officer of the Company;
RABEFHITE S

The People’'s Republic of China and for the purpose of this Report, excluding Hong
Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan;
FEARHMNBEERRARSMS FEEEE  RFMFIITHERSE ;

the Corporate Governance Code as contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules;

(EMRRD)MERCIPrEEEERTR

the chairman of the Board;

EEERITFE;

the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time

FRERFEAENE (EESD)  EARE  BRIUEMSEN

Mayer Holdings Limited, an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability, the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1116);

FUERBERAE —HXNHESESHEMRIINERERERAS  HEEHTRMON
B P EMR BT (RO AR D 1116) 5



“Company Secretary”
MREIME]

“COVID-19" or "Pandemic”
ETIE A2

“Director(s)”

===y

"EGM(s)”
AR R Bl A&

“ESG”
F'ESG

"Executive Director(s)”

MITEE

“Group”
TR

“Guangzhou Mayer”

TEMNZEEE

"HK$"
=2l

“HKAS"
r&EEgs 2R

"HKFRS”
IEBMHREER)

“HKICPA”
b=l N =

“Hong Kong”
&%)

“Independent Non-executive
Director(s)” or "INED(s)"”
MBI IERITE R

“Listing Rules”

(EMRAIN

“Memorandum”

MEB =2 KA

Glossary
2= =
Ll

the company secretary of the Company;
KRB ZABNE ;

the novel coronavirus decease 2019;

TE-NEHEERHEER

the director(s) of the Company;
KRBEE;

the extraordinary general meeting(s) of the Company;

ERBRRFHKE ;

environmental, social and governance;
RE-HERER

the executive Director(s);

WITESE

the Company and its subsidiaries;
KRBIREWBERT ;

Guangzhou Mayer Corporation Limited, a core operating subsidiary of the Company
operating in Guangzhou, the PRC, of which the Company holds an indirect 81.4%
interest;

BINEZRBRAB ARABARFEBENKCENZLEEWNB AR A ABBERER
H81.4% %5 ;

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong for the time being;
ERNEBEEGEET

the Hong Kong Accounting Standards;
BRGER;

the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards;
EEPHFREED

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants;
ELGHOAE ;

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;
FEEERITHE ;

the independent non-executive Director(s);

BIUFERITESE;

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange;
WAz PREE 25 LR A ;

the memorandum of association of the Company as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time;
KRBARET - HRIAUAEHNERZABREE KR ;

EDERERAT 3
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Glossary

1=

50 52

“"Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules;

MRZE<PAI P ERRAD MR+ EHETAERETESIZNRESF

“NED(s)"or “Non-executive
Director(s)"”
MEBITES]

“Nomination Committee”

MEHEEE)

“Remuneration Committee”

the non-executive Director(s);

FFHITES

the nomination committee of the Board;

EXGRYERE;

the remuneration committee of the Board;

&8 g EEEHMNEET

“"RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC for the time being;

TARB ERNPEZEEEBEARE

“SFC” the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong;

Mg BERRFRIEEFEREETD ;

"SFO" the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong);
M58 5 K R E 1R A BB EOESTIER S RBAERA

“Share Option Scheme”
MRERG ST

“Shareholders”

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 31 May 2019;
ARBIRZEBE—NERR=1+—HERMNERESD ;

the holders of the Share(s);

Mg BRAFEAN
“Share(s)"” the ordinary share(s) of par value of HK$0.20 each in the capital of the Company;
M5 KNG AREGREEC.208 T EBR ;

"Stock Exchange”

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

TH 32 P EBMERBABRAT ;

"USA" the United States of America;

M6 ENRERE ;

"US$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the USA for the time being
= BRNERZEEBET

“Year” the financial year ended 30 June 2024;
MRFE BHE_Z_NFEARA=THLEMBFE;
“Year 2023" the year ended 30 June 2023; and
F2023FE BE_T_=FA=THLEE &
"%" per cent.

% | BAotbe

In this Report, the terms "“associate(s)”, “close associate(s)”, “connected FAMET BXEBBRIEIN HBEA T2
person(s)”, “controlling shareholder(s)”, “subsidiary(ies)” and “substantial —~ ZREHE A~ TREE A+~ MERRIRER ) THB AT
shareholder(s)” shall have the respective meanings given to such terms in the RITERE | EEF(LHRI)EFTZSAEN
Listing Rules, unless the context otherwise requires. o

4 Mayer Holdings Limited
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Ip Yun Kit (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Ka Yue (CEO)

Ms. Zhang Yana

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung

Mr. Lu Jianping

Mr. Du Ning

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

Mr. Lau Kwok Hung (Chairman)
Mr. Lu Jianping

Mr. Du Ning

Nomination Committee
Mr. Ip Yun Kit (Chairman)
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung

Mr. Lu Jianping

Mr. Du Ning

Remuneration Committee
Mr. Lu Jianping (Chairman)

Mr. Lau Kwok Hung

Mr. Du Ning

COMPANY SECRETARY
Sir Kwok Siu Man KR

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Ip Yun Kit
Sir Kwok Siu Man KR

REGISTERED OFFICE
PO Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
Room 2001, 20/F,

Tung Ning Building,

2 Hillier Street,

Hong Kong

Please refer to p.88 of this Report for details of the change of the
composition of each of the Board of Directors and the Board committees from

28 March 2024 to 30 September 2024.
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Corporate Information

NEEN

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited

Hong Kong Certified Public Accountants and
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

LEGAL ADVISORS

P. C. Woo & Co.

C. L. Chow & Macksion Chan Solicitors
Eddie Lee & Company, Solicitors

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
Tricor Services (Cayman Islands) Limited
2nd Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square,
P.O. Box 902,

Grand Cayman, KY1-1103,

Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

IN HONG KONG

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,

Wan Chai,

Hong Kong

LISTING INFORMATION
Place of Listing
Main Board of the Stock Exchange

STOCK CODE
1116

Board Lot
10,000 Shares

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.mayer.com.hk
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Suspension of Trading in Shares

DELAY IN PUBLICATION OF THE ANNUAL RESULTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

Pursuant to Rule 13.49(1) of the Listing Rules, the Company was required
to publish an announcement for the annual results of the Group for the
financial year ended 30 June 2023 (the “Year 2023" and the "2023
Annual Results”, respectively) on a date not later than three months
after the end of the financial year of the Company, namely on or before 30
September 2023. Under Rule 13.49(2) of the Listing Rules, the preliminary
announcement in relation to the 2023 Annual Results shall be based on the
Group's consolidated financial statements for Year 2023, which shall have
been agreed with the Auditor. However, the Company was not able to publish
the 2023 Annual Results on or before 30 September 2023 in accordance with
Rules 13.49(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules as additional time was required for
the Company to gather and provide the outstanding necessary documents
and information requested by the Auditor, including but not limited to the
following:

(i) a finalised investigation report in relation to the independent
investigation into the Allegations (of which the details are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 15 June 2023) as referred to on
p.41 of this Report (the "Independent Investigation” and the
"Investigation Report”, respectively), which shall be prepared by an
independent investigator (the “Independent Investigator”);

(i) the management accounts of Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group
Limited (“Happy BVI"), a company incorporated in the BVI and
presently an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and its
subsidiaries (“Happy Group”) for the six months ended 30 June 2023;
and

(iii) other related financial information of Happy Group for audit purposes.

Rule 13.49(3) of the Listing Rules provides that where an issuer is unable to
issue its preliminary results in accordance with Rules 13.49(1) and (2) of the
Listing Rules, it must announce its results based on the financial results that
have yet to be agreed with the Auditor (so far as the information is available).
The Board, after due and careful consideration, was of the view that it would
not be appropriate for the Company to publish the unaudited management
accounts of the Group for Year 2023, which were subject to audit at that
stage, as such information might confuse or mislead the Shareholders and
potential investors of the Company. The Board and the management of the
Company would continue to work closely with the Auditor so as to facilitate
the completion of the remaining audit procedures and to publish the 2023
Annual Results as soon as practicable.

TRADING SUSPENSION

Pursuant to Rule 13.50 of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange will normally
require suspension of trading in an issuer’s securities if the issuer fails to
publish periodic financial information in accordance with the Listing Rules,
and the suspension will normally remain in force until the issuer publishes an
announcement containing the requisite financial information. Accordingly,
trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange has been halted with effect
from 9:00 a.m. on 29 September 2023 pending the publication of the 2023
Annual Results by the Company.

HiERHER

TR E_S-_=F,XBA=+HL
FEZEFHEE

RIBCETRAD) E13.49(D)E AR /,Ji”TL
RARNBMBEELERE=BR HN_ZE_=fF
jlﬁ:JFEjZZH'J’%fZ’K%@iiv__EF/\
B=+HLEBEE (12023FEF)) NBEEE
BAE (12023FEFEEE)) - RE(ETRSE
13.49(2)16 > BRA2023FEX£EN YT RN ERELL
FEBEDAZEMETN2023EEESHFHERE
BEE R AN NE B EEEINSEIWE IR
Az B Z R s R ERS (BEEARRAE TEM)
FREXHRER  ZATBEERBE(EHRIDE
B4%)()Vﬁ_§:_ﬁhﬁ +HBZ® A
NR2023F E S

() AR EFMIEMAZZEIER (HFB
R AABHBEAZZE=FXXB+HHENW
NE) FrETEILAT (MZEILAE)) AR

REAETRE (ATHRS)) ATRESH
—ZBURAERE (BILABELF) BE

(i) —MEFBVIEEMAR QB MR AR B EE
’\éllﬁ% \EREFBFIMHIERERER
NE(TREBVI)) R EWB LS (TREER))
HE_Z-_=FAHB= +E|Jt/\1l)§57ﬂ$
iRE &

(i) REEEAMBAMBERD UHEZ-

CEMHRBD) F13.49C)KHTE » WEEIT AKREER
BCEMRAD)E13. 49N RERMGEN 2
i B E N BRIE 15 o8 B A% B AT 2 AR 1 & AN B 75
E - VNGE | (rlﬁﬁéﬂﬁﬁéelmM%%ﬁm
BHEHEZERDA ARAFAELAMAEE2023
fﬁﬁﬁ%%%vﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁﬁa RAKRBERZMEE
EITEZ ﬁ’ﬁ&%ﬁﬂTﬁEE%ﬁy%&af?ﬁé
EEERAURE-BEEGNANTACEEB#
BEZYMEZASE J—/(TmﬁjJrcEE SN Y
FoUENEITTNER TRRAM2023FE

HFEE

RF(EHRANEE13.5006  MEIT AKBERR(LE
TRADORECRTIEVBER BMXFMERS
ERETANBFEFEE MEFEEERES
HEEM HEETATEHEMBMBEERD
NERBLE-AL BRHERZZE_=FAA-+I
HELFABREREEREXMEST  UFEAAQ
Bl 2023F E Mo
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Suspension of Trading in Shares
HER{HEE

Potential Audit Issues Raised by the Auditor
As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 10 October 2023,

due to the outstanding documents and/or information requested by the
Auditor including but not limited to the finalized Investigation Report,
the management accounts of Happy Group for the six months ended 30
June 2023 and related financial information of Happy Group for audit
purposes, the Auditor might not be able to ascertain the information
required to be contained in the 2023 Annual Results. For instance:

(i) If the Auditor is unable to obtain the management accounts and
other related financial information of Happy Group for audit
purposes, the Auditor may not be able to carry out the audit
procedures to satisfy themselves as to whether the financial
information of Happy Group for Year 2023 is accurately recorded
and properly accounted for in the Group's consolidated financial
statements; and

(ii) the Auditor could only be able to form an appropriate audit opinion
upon obtaining the Investigation Report; and

there were certain potential audit issues which might be raised by the
Auditor in the 2023 Annual Results, details of which were disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 10 October 2023:

RESUMPTION GUIDANCE

On 28 December 2023, the Company received a letter from the Stock
Exchange setting out the following guidance for the resumption of trading in
the Shares on the Stock Exchange (the “Resumption Guidance”):

(a)

Publish all outstanding financial results required under the Listing Rules
and address any audit modifications;

Conduct an appropriate Independent Investigation, assess the impact on
the Company's business operation and financial position, announce the
findings and take appropriate remedial actions;

Demonstrate the Company’s compliance with Rule 13.24* of the Listing
Rules; and

Inform the market of all material information for the Shareholders and
the Company’s investors to appraise the Company’s situation.

Rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules requires a listed company to carry out, directly or
indirectly, business with a sufficient level of operations and assets of sufficient value
to support its operations to warrant the continued listing of the listed company’s
securities.

The Company must meet all the Resumption Guidance, remedy the
substantive issues causing the trading suspension of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange (the “Suspension”) and fully comply with the Listing Rules to
the Stock Exchange’s satisfaction before trading in the Shares is allowed to
resume. Whilst the Company may seek the Stock Exchange’s guidance on its
resumption plan, its resumption plan is not subject to the prior approval from
the Stock Exchange before implementation. The Stock Exchange may modify
or supplement the Resumption Guidance if the Company’s situation changes.

8
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Suspension of Trading in Shares

Under Rule 6.01A(1) of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange may cancel
the listing of any securities that have been suspended from trading for a
continuous period of 18 months. In the Company's case, the 18-month
period will expire on 28 March 2025. If the Company fails to remedy the
substantive issues causing the Suspension, fulfill the Resumption Guidance
and fully comply with the Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange’s satisfaction
and resume trading in its Shares on the Stock Exchange by 28 March 2025
(the “"Resumption Deadline”), the Listing Division will recommend the
Listing Committee to proceed with the cancellation of the Company’s listing.
Under Rules 6.01 and 6.10 of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange also has
the right to impose a shorter specific remedial period, where appropriate.

The Company must also comply with the Listing Rules and all applicable laws
and regulations in Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands before resumption of
trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange (the “Resumption”).

Additional Resumption Guidance

Mr. Chan Chun Kit resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director and
accordingly ceased his offices in the Board committees with effect from 18
January 2024. Immediately following the above resignation and cessation as
well as certain changes in the composition of the Board committees,

(1) the Company had only two INEDs, which fell below the minimum
number of three INEDs as required under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing
Rules; and

(2) there were only two members of the Audit Committee, which fell below
the minimum number of three members as required under Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules.

Therefore, the Company was not in compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21
of the Listing Rules.

On 24 January 2024, the Company received a letter from the Stock Exchange,
setting out additional guidance for the Resumption (the “Additional
Resumption Guidance”, together with the Resumption Guidance, the
"Updated Resumption Guidance”):

° Re-comply with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The Stock Exchange also indicated that it may modify the Updated
Resumption Guidance and/or give further guidance as and when appropriate.

Fulfilment of the Additional Resumption Guidance

Mr. Du Ning was appointed, amongst others, as an INED and a member of the
Audit Committee with effect from 26 January 2024. Immediately following
the above appointments,

(@) the Board comprised six members, including three INEDs. Accordingly,
the Company has fulfilled the minimum number of INEDs required by
Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; and

HiERHER
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Suspension of Trading in Shares
HER{HEE

(b) there were three members of the Audit Committee. Accordingly, the
Company has complied with the requirement of the minimum number of
the Audit Committee members as prescribed in Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules.

As such, the Company has fulfilled the Additional Resumption Guidance.

Further Resumption Guidance

On 8 February 2024, the Company received a letter dated 7 February 2024
from the Stock Exchange, setting out the following further guidance for the
Resumption (the “Further Resumption Guidance”):

e Re-comply with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules (i.e. to achieve diversity of
Board members with both genders)

The Stock Exchange also indicated that it might modify the resumption
guidance and/or give further guidance as and when appropriate.

Fulfilment of Further Resumption Guidance

Ms. Zhang Yana was appointed as an Executive Director with effect from 21
March 2024. Immediately following such appointment, the Board comprised
seven members, including six male Directors and a female Director and the
Company re-complied with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules.

As such, the Company has fulfilled the Further Resumption Guidance.

Two Additional Resumption Guidance
On 12 April 2024, the Company received a letter from the Stock Exchange
setting out two additional guidance for the Resumption:

e Demonstrate that there is no reasonable regulatory concern about
the management integrity and/or the integrity of any persons with
substantial influence over the Company’s management and operations,
which may pose a risk to investors and damage market confidence; and

e  Conduct an independent internal control review and demonstrate that
the Company has in place adequate internal controls and procedures to
comply with the Listing Rules.

Appointment of Internal Control Adviser

On 17 April 2024, the Company appointed Zhonghui Anda Risk Services
Limited (the "IC Adviser”) as its independent professional adviser to
conduct a thorough review to identify any deficiencies of the Company’s
internal controls, and to make recommendations to improve the Company’s
internal controls and ensure compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Company will take appropriate measures as soon as possible thereafter to
address the deficiencies (if any) and implement the enhanced internal control
procedures based on the recommendations of the IC Adviser.

The Stock Exchange also indicated that it might modify the resumption
guidance and/or give further guidance as and when appropriate.
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Suspension of Trading in Shares

Submission of Draft Investigation Report

The Company, through its financial adviser (the “Financial Adviser”),
submitted its first response along with a draft Investigation Report (the
"First Draft Investigation Report”) and other documents to the
Stock Exchange in late June 2024 in respect of the Resumption Guidance.
Comments from the Stock Exchange on the Company’s submission were
received in late July 2024 and the Company has been in the process of
preparing its replies to the Stock Exchange.

The Company received a letter dated 30 September 2024 from the Stock
Exchange, reminding the Company of the Resumption Deadline and other
matters.

RESUMPTION PLAN AND PROGRESS

Sufficient Level of Operations

Notwithstanding the Suspensions, the Group has been:

(a) focusing on its business operations of the processing, manufacturing and
selling of steel sheets, steel pipes and other steel products in China;

(b) developing the applications of nano phase change energy storage
material(s) (the “Nano PCMs") with environmental related technologies
under the agricultural industry in the PRC to enhance its business
portfolio; and

(c) operating as usual in all material aspects.

Resolution of Suspension Issues

To resolve the issues causing the Suspension and to comply with the Listing
Rules to the Stock Exchange’s satisfaction, the Company is currently taking all
necessary steps in, including but not limited to, working closely with:

(i) Grant Thornton Advisory Services Limited (“Grant Thornton”), the
changed Independent Investigator, to facilitate the completion of the
Investigation;

(i) the IC Adviser to review and improve the Company's internal controls;
and

(iii) the Auditor to facilitate the completion of the remaining audit
procedures to publish the outstanding financial results of the Group
(i.e. the annual results for the Year (the “2024 Annual Results”), the
interim results for the six months ended 31 December 2023 (the “2024
Interim Results"”) and the 2023 Annual Results).
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Suspension of Trading in Shares
HER{HEE

Further Delay in Publication of Financial Results

As additional time is required by (i) Grant Thornton to facilitate the
completion of the Investigation; (ii) the IC Advisor to review and improve the
Company’s internal controls; and (iii) the Company and the Auditor to review
the Investigation Report prepared by Grant Thornton, the Auditor to proceed
with the remaining audit procedures to finalize the 2023 Annual Results and
the Company to prepare the 2024 Interim Results, having discussed with
the Auditor, the Company expects that the publication date of (a) the 2024
Interim Results and the 2023 Annual Results will be further postponed, and
(b) the 2024 Annual Results will be postponed, to a date falling on or before
30 November 2024.

CONTINUED SUSPENSION
Trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange will remain suspended until
further notice.

The Company will make further announcement(s) in relation to the above
matters as and when appropriate and in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules to keep the Shareholders and its potential investors informed
of the latest progress in complying with the latest Resumption Guidance.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 28 September, 10
and 31 October, 19 November and 28 December 2023 as well as 19 and
26 January, 14 February, 15 and 21 March, 17 April, 14 June as well as 27
September 2024,
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Board presents the audited consolidated results of the Group for the
Year, which have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, together with the
comparative figures and the percentage changes for Year 2023 as follows.

REVIEW OF RESULTS

For the Year, the Group reported consolidated revenue of approximately
RMB714,408,000, representing an increase of 32.7% compared to
approximately RMB538,163,000 for Year 2023. Gross profit margin for the
Year was 12.2% and that of Year 2023 was 13.2%. The Group recorded
loss for the Year of approximately RMB14,874,000, compared to loss of
approximately RMB335,996,000 for Year 2023. Loss attributable to owners
of the Company for the Year was approximately RMB14,735,000, compared
with Year 2023’s loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB338,846,000. Loss per share for the Year was RMB0.68 cent versus Year
2023's loss per share of RMB15.7 cents.

The Group recorded an increase in its revenue for the Year as compared to
that of Year 2023 primarily owing to a substantial increase in its revenue
in domestic sales of steel pipes, steel sheets and other steel products and
substantially reduced loss for the Year when compared to that of Year 2023,
mainly attributable to a reduction of loss of approximately RMB335,733,000
in urban renewal project planning and consulting in 2023.

Further, Guangzhou Mayer, the core 81.4%-owned subsidiary of the
Company operating in Guangzhou, the PRC and engaged in the steel
business, recorded profit before tax for the Year of approximately
RMB12,225,000, compared to Year 2023's profit before tax of approximately
RMB15,237,000.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Production and Sales of Steel

Guangzhou Mayer has been specializing in the production of steel pipes, steel
sheets and other steel products for over 25 years. It is a benchmark brand in
the PRC's stainless steel water pipe industry. It is also a manufacturer in the
PRC that can independently control all links and processes of stainless steel
pipe making.

Guangzhou Mayer has participated in many large projects and cooperated
with the government and many large enterprises. Besides domestic sales,
its steel products are exported to Southeast Asia, Africa, Europe, the USA
and other parts of the world. Customers include the Chinese Ministry of
Construction and major tap water companies.

The quality of Guangzhou Mayer’s steel products has been recognized
by many customers. Guangzhou Mayer has obtained the certificates
of environmental management system, occupational health and safety
system and quality management system through 1SO14001 environmental
management system certification, 1SO45001 occupational health and safety
management system certification and ISO9001 quality management system
certification experts’ on-site review.

At the same time, in order to stabilise the supply of raw materials and
maintain the market share of customers, Guangzhou Mayer needed to order
futures from certain major steel mills in the PRC every month, so there was
inevitably a certain loss of the inventory value. However, part of the value loss
has been reduced by the company’s vigorous bargaining with those steel mills
in procurement and entering into some quantitative pricing contracts with
customers, coupled with preferential treatment from the steel mills.

To liaise with potential customers and promote additional sales, Guangzhou
Mayer had set up a registered non-Hong Kong company in Hong Kong in
mid-December 2022.

Looking forward, the Group will further improve its product quality and
service, modernise the production equipment, conduct product research and
development to increase its competitiveness while controlling its operation
cost on the one hand, and will continue to make market analysis and exert
efforts to expand the sales channels to enlarge its customer base and increase
its market share on the other hand.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Although there were still instabilities and uncertainties caused by the complex
and volatile international and domestic macro-economical environment
in early 2023, the Chinese government had been proactively launching
or revising policies to boost China’s economy. Most importantly, Beijing
announced the commencement of relaxation on border control measures
against the COVID-19 starting from 8 January 2023, which was the first time
since March 2020. Although the steel industry may pick up gradually over a
longer period of time, the relaxation of tightened policies and implementation
of supportive policies relating to the real estate market promulgated by
the PRC government since the third quarter of 2022 may bring positive
momentum to the overall economy, and hence be of benefit to the steel
industry.

Steel Prices
The steel prices in the PRC started declining from May 2021 until the end of
October 2022, experiencing a decrease of approximately 45% from its peak.

From early November 2022 to mid-March 2023, the steel prices rebounded
by around 30% due to high expectations following the ease of the Pandemic.
However, owing to the slow recovery of demand after the Pandemic, the steel
prices declined once again by approximately 20%.

From early June to mid-September 2023, the steel prices recovered by about
10% as steel mills reduced production to maintain prices. Despite fluctuations
during this period, the overall trend of steel prices remained downward.
The price fluctuations were attributed to severe global inflation, significant
contraction in overall demand, excess steel production capacity and intense
market competition leading to lower profit margins.

Urban Renewal Projects Planning and Consulting

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had several urban renewal planning and
consulting service projects in progress. These projects are located in Zhuhai,
China, and have an estimated site area of approximately 480 mu in total
(subject to the final approval by the government) within their redevelopment
zones. One project known as the old village redevelopment project of
Yuetang Village* (B E#}) was located in Sanzao Town, Jinwan District,
Zhuhai (the “Yuetang Village Redevelopment Project”).

During the Year, the Group’s urban renewal projects planning and consulting
services did not record any revenue (Year 2023: RMBNil). Its operation in

Zhuhai witnessed stagnant progress and unsatisfactory results.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Yuetang Village Redevelopment Project

Reference is made to the conditional sale and purchase agreement dated 11
June 2019 (as amended by certain supplemental agreements) entered into
among (i) Elate Ample Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “"Purchaser” or "Elate Ample”); (ii) Harbour Prestige International
Limited, a company wholly owned by the Guarantor (as defined below)
and presently a substantial Shareholder (the “Vendor” or “Harbour
Prestige”); (iii) Mr. Zhou Shi Hao, the beneficial owner of the Vendor
and formerly an Executive Director (the “Guarantor” or "Mr. Zhou"),
and (iv) the Company in relation to the sale and purchase of the entire
issued share capital of Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited (a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and presently an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (the “Target Company” and
the "Share Capital”, respectively) and the transactions contemplated
thereunder at a consideration of HK$260 million (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement”).

The Target Company owns a 49% equity interest of Zhuhai Hua Fa Yue Tang
Property Development Limited (Sk/8ZEZE A E2EEME AR AE) ("Hua Fa
Yue Tang” or the “Project Company”), a company established in the PRC
and managing the Yuetang Village Redevelopment Project.

Guaranteed Target Profit Level

Based on the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Target
Company for the three financial years ended 31 December 2021, the
accumulated audited consolidated profit after tax of the Target Company
after the completion of the purchase of the Share Capital by the Purchaser
(the "Acquisition”and the “Accumulated Net Profit", respectively) was
approximately RMB27,486,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$32,983,000),
representing a shortfall of approximately RMB189,181,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$227,017,000) as compared to the target profit level of
HK$260 million (the “Target Profit Level”) to be achieved by the Target
Company.

On 11 March 2022, the Purchaser, the Vendor, the Guarantor and the
Company entered into a conditional supplemental agreement to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement for, among others, the extension of time for the Target
Company to meet the Target Profit Level for 18 months (i.e. from the target
period, being the three financial years ended 31 December 2021 to the new
target period, being the period from 1 January 2019 to 30 June 2023 (the
“New Target Period”)) (the "Supplemental Agreement”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Acquisition constituted a major transaction for the Company under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. Further, the Guarantor and the Vendor
were connected persons (defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company
and accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the Supplemental
Agreement constitute a non-exempt connected transaction for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are subject to, amongst others,
the approval of the Shareholders (other than the Vendor, the Guarantor and
their respective associates (defined under the Listing Rules)) not interested in
the Supplemental Agreement (the “Independent Shareholders”) at an
EGM to be convened.

An independent Board committee comprising all the current INEDs (the
“Independent Board Committee”) had been established to advise
the Independent Shareholders in respect of the terms of the Supplemental
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder. An independent
financial adviser (the “First Independent Financial Adviser”) was
appointed to advise the Independent Board Committee and the Independent
Shareholders in this regard.

Extension of Long Stop Date

Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, completion of the transactions
contemplated thereunder was conditional upon the fulfillment of the
condition precedent to the Supplemental Agreement on or before 31 July
2022 (the "Long Stop Date"”). As additional time was required for the
fulfillment of the condition precedent(s) to the Supplemental Agreement, on
29 July 2022, the Purchaser, the Vendor, the Guarantor and the Company
entered into a second supplemental agreement to the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, pursuant to which the Long Stop Date shall be extended to 31
July 2023. Save as disclosed above, all other terms and conditions of the
Supplemental Agreement remain unchanged and shall continue in full force
and effect.

Change of Independent Financial Adviser

After the expiry of the engagement letter of the First Independent Financial
Adviser on 30 September 2022, another Independent Financial Adviser was
appointed by the Company to advise the Independent Board Committee
and the Independent Shareholders of the reasonableness of the terms of the
Supplemental Agreement.

Despatch of Circular

A circular was initially expected to be despatched to the Shareholders on or
before 30 June 2023, containing, among other things, further details of the
Supplemental Agreement and the second supplemental agreement to the
Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 29 July 2022. However, due to the latest
developments as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 30
June 2023, the Company expected that no further supplemental agreements
would be entered into to extend the period for the Target Company to
achieve the Target Profit Level. Accordingly, the circular was not despatched
to the Shareholders.
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Development of the Property Development Projects of the
Target Company from the Fourth Quarter of 2022 towards
Early 2023

The Company had been evaluating and monitoring the progress of the
Yuetang Village Re-development Project and other property redevelopment
projects, which are situated in Zhuhai City (the “Projects”). However,
since the outbreak of the Pandemic, the Zhuhai City government had
been implementing strict preventive and containment measures, as well as
lockdown and other policies relating to the restrictions of people flow, which
constricted general economic activities within the local and surrounding areas
and consequently, affected and stagnated the property development industry
and the operating environment in Zhuhai City (the “Industry”) as a whole.
The construction timetable of each of the Projects has been temporarily
stalled and delayed due to (i) delay in the supply of construction materials;
(i) labour shortage as a result of the abovementioned restriction and
containment measures; and (iii) increased difficulties for and/or hesitation of
potential buyers to perform site-visits during the Pandemic and the negative
impact brought to the general economy of Zhuhai City, which have affected
the property purchasing momentum.

Given the circumstance as a result of the Pandemic, the Directors were not
certain of the recovery time of the Industry but had been closely monitoring
and assessing the status of the Projects. In attempting to evaluate the future
prospect of the Projects, the Company engaged an independent professional
property valuer (the “Valuer”) to appraise and assess the estimated
turnaround time of the Industry in order to formulate the plan to resume the
Projects.

Taking into account (i) the loosen-up of tightening policies relating to the
Industry as imposed by the PRC government; (ii) the stabilised demand of
the residential buildings in Zhuhai City as driven by an inelastic demand and
purchasers’ expectation of the recovery of Industry; and (iii) the loosen-up
of restriction and regulatory policies in relation to the Pandemic, which was
expected to increase the market confidence in respect of the Industry and
attract potential purchasers of residential buildings, the Valuer was of the
view that the Industry is reckoned to recover steadily and gradually return
to the pre-epidemic level not later than the second half of 2023, subject
to future development of the Pandemic, as well as the macroeconomic and
political environment around the world.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Actions Considered by the Company towards the Projects

In addition to the above arrangement, the Company had considered the
feasibility of exercising of the option granted by the Vendor to the Purchaser
under the Sale and Purchase Agreement in respect of the sale and transfer of
the entire issued Share Capital of the Target Company (the “Put Option”)
and taking legal action towards the Vendor and the Guarantor in case that
they were not able to fulfill their obligations under the Put Option. However,
having considered that (i) the Vendor and the Guarantor have expressed
to the Company that they do not have the financial capacity to fulfill their
obligations in a timely manner assuming that the Company exercises the Put
Option; and (i) should any legal actions be taken against the Vendor and
the Guarantor, the Company upon going through lengthy legal procedures
would only be able to receive cash compensation which may not be sufficient
to cover the Company'’s initial investment costs in the Projects, the Directors
consider that the exercise of the Put Option and the taking of any legal
actions against the Vendor and the Guarantor by the Group are not in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

In relation to the realisation of investment in the Projects, the Directors had
made reference to the Valuer's opinion on the estimated recovery time of the
Industry of being not later than the second half of 2023. Given the condition
of the Industry, having considered (i) the potential gain from the Projects; (ii)
the signs of recovery from the Pandemic in the PRC; and (iii) the Company’s
commitment and capital investment in the Projects and that the Company
may be able to recover its initial investment costs and to harvest the gain
generated by the Projects upon the recovery of the Industry, the Directors
came into the conclusion that it was in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole not to realize its investment in the Projects.

As disclosed in the Company’s 2022/23 Interim Report, the Company and the
Purchaser then intended to enter into a further supplemental agreement (the
“Supplemental Agreement I1”) with the Vendor and the Guarantor to
(i) further extend the New Target Period up to 31 December 2024 by making
reference to the Valuer's estimation on the recovery timeline of the Industry;
and (ii) revise the calculation formula regarding the fulfiliment of the Target
Profit Level under the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

Up to early March 2023, the Company was still in negotiations with the
Vendor and the Guarantor to formulate a detailed and achievable action plan
and timetable of the Projects and to finalise the terms and conditions under
the Supplemental Agreement II.

The Yuetang Village Re-development Project was considered by the Board as
at a preliminary stage (i.e. with land survey completed and the proposal of
the re-development units submitted to the local governmental authorities) as
a result of, among other reasons, the impact of certain preventive measures
by the local government in response to the outspread of the COVID-19 since
2019. The Vendor, the Guarantor and the majority of the Board have not
finalised the details of the Yuetang Village Redevelopment Project in their
meetings since March 2023, which then caused the Yuetang Village Re-
development Project to be put on-hold despite the signs of the recovery from
the COVID-19.
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In light of the above circumstances and as disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 30 June 2023, the Yuetang Village Redevelopment
Project is still at its preliminary stage, and accordingly, the Board considers
that the Target Company will not be able to achieve the guaranteed Target
Profit Level in the foreseeable future so that the Company does not expect
to enter into any further supplemental agreement to, among others, extend
the period for the Target Company to achieve the guaranteed Target Profit
Level until any solution can be reached and/or agreed. The Company has been
seeking legal advices from its legal advisers on appropriate legal actions to
be taken regarding the Supplemental Agreement in relation to the matters
mentioned above if and when necessary, in order to protect and safeguard
the interests of the Shareholders and the Company.

At the same time, each of the other re-development projects in Zhuhai,
similar to the Yuetang Village Redevelopment Project, was also considered
by the Board as at a preliminary stage (i.e. pending approval of the local
governmental authorities to commence construction).

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 14 March,
1 and 29 April, 1 June, 14 and 29 July and 31 October 2022 as well as 31
January, 28 April, 30 June and 10 August 2023 respectively.

Current Status

On 5 October 2023, the Company, as plaintiff, filed a writ of summons
with the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
"HK High Court”) with an indorsement of claim against Mr. Zhou and
Mr. Chen Zhirui (“Mr. Chen", formerly an executive Director) (collectively,
"Zhou & Chen"). The Company claimed that Zhou & Chen repeatedly
refused to hand over the accounting documents of the Target Company for
the purposes of ascertaining the rights of the Company under the Sale and
Purchase Agreement as well as the financial results of the Group, and by
doing so, Zhou & Chen have breached their duties of care and/or fiduciary
duties and/or duties of fidelity/good faith owed to the Company (the “Legal
Proceedings”).

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 6 October
2023 and p.43 of this Report.

Any material developments and updates will be announced by the Company
as and when appropriate.

Environmental Technology Related Business

It came to the Board’s attention that environmental protection related issues
in the PRC had been one of the topics being focused and mentioned in
the 13th and 14th Five Year Plans for Economic and Social Development of
the PRC, each of which aims to, including but not limited, contain carbon
pollution and emission and promote and encourage the use of green
building materials. Driven by the strengthening policies and the enforcement
of environmental protection regulations made by the PRC government,
the Board considered that there would be continuous substantial demand
and opportunities for the integration and application of environmental
technologies for the purposes of lowering operation and production costs and
improving services quality and efficiency in the PRC to support and maintain
its rapid urbanization and industrialization development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Board also considered that the Grantee (as defined below), a company
principally engaged in the provision of business and consultancy services,
might leverage on its expertise in investment advisory services and its business
network to provide certain consultancy services to the Group to assist
and facilitate the development of the Group's environmental technology
related business (i.e. applying or provision of environmental technologies,
products, equipment and systems in the production of steel compounds and
other industrial compound materials) (the “Environmental Technology
Business”).

On 12 January 2022, the Company entered into a consultancy agreement
with Sino Light Investment Advisory Limited (the “"Grantee”) regarding
the appointment of the Grantee as a consultant of the Company for the
provision to the Group of, amongst others, the following services for or in
relation to the development of the Environmental Technology Business (the
"Consultancy Services”) for a term of two years (the "Consultancy
Agreement”) from the completion date of the Consultancy Agreement:

(i) the business and investment, consultation and advisory services;

(ii) screening, identifying and introducing potential quality business partners
to the Group, and assisting the Group in entering into joint venture
agreement(s) and/or business cooperation agreement(s) with such
partners; and

(iii) proposing viable financial solutions to the Group for development of the
Environmental Technology Business,

Pursuant to the Consultancy Agreement, the Board resolved to grant
share options of the Company to the Grantee to subscribe for a total
of 174,800,000 Shares at the exercise price of HK$0.2 per Share (the
“Share Options”) under the Share Option Scheme as consideration for
the Consultancy Services. Completion of the Consultancy Agreement was
conditional upon the passing of the necessary resolutions by the Shareholders
at an EGM to be convened, approving the grant of Share Options to the
Grantee and the transactions contemplated thereunder. An EGM was held on
22 April 2022 and the relevant resolutions were passed by the Shareholders
thereat. The transactions contemplated under the Consultancy Agreement
were completed on 25 April 2022.
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Details of the Share Options
Grant Date:
12 January 2022

Exercise Price of Share Options Granted:
HK$0.20 per Share

Closing Price immediately before Grant Date:
HK$0.19 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange

Number of Share Options Granted:
174,800,000 Share Options (each Share Option shall entitle the holder
thereof to subscribe for one Share)

Validity and Exercise Period of Share Options:
Subject to the Share Option Scheme, the Share Options are valid and
exercisable in whole or in part for a period of ten years from the Grant Date.

Vesting Conditions:

i) 50% of the Share Options shall be vested on the date of completion of
the Joint Venture Agreement (as defined in the Consultancy Agreement)
to be entered into between the Company and a Business Partner (as
defined in the Consultancy Agreement), and shall be exercisable until the
expiry date of the validity period; and

i) conditional upon completion of the Joint Venture Agreement, 50% of
the Share Options shall be vested on the date of the completion of the
Equity/Debt Financing (as defined in the Consultancy Agreement) by the
Company successfully introduced and facilitated by the Grantee, and
shall be exercisable until the expiry date of the validity period.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 12 January 2022, circular
dated 30 March 2022 and announcement dated 22 April 2022 for details.

So far, the Grantee has introduced certain potential business partners for the
Environmental Technology Business to the Company and negotations and
discussion are underway between the Group and such potential business
partners. However, no formal joint venture agreements and/or business
agreements have been entered into and the Grantee has not yet proposed
any viable financial solutions to the Group for any potential joint venture and/
or business cooperation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Nano PCMs Business

Equity Investment Agreement

On 25 July 2022, Guangzhou Mayer entered into an equity investment
agreement with Guangdong Golden Way Environmental and Energy
Saving Technology Co., Ltd* (BESEEREEREARAE) ("Golden
Way"), Start Upward Limited (“Start Upward”) and an individual
(the “Individual”), all being independent third parties (the "Equity
Investment Agreement”), pursuant to which:

(i) Golden Way conditionally agreed to make the Capital Contribution
(as stated in the Equity Investment Agreement) to Guangzhou Mayer
Technology Development Ltd* (BMNED#RIZERERAE) ("Mayer
Technology”), an existing wholly-owned subsidiary of Guangzhou
Mayer, in cash in the amount of RMB6 million;

(i) Guangzhou Mayer conditionally agreed to make the Capital
Contribution, which increased its capital investment in Mayer Technology
from RMB1 million to RMB14 million;

(iii) the registered capital of Mayer Technology will be increased from RMB1
million to RMB20 million as a result of the Capital Contribution; and

(iv) Start Upward conditionally agreed to grant Mayer Technology the
exclusive right of the use of the licensed patent granted to it in
respect of the production technology of the Nano PCMs (i.e. the nano
phase change energy storage ice plate and materials) in the PRC (the
"Exclusive Right”).

After the entering into of the Equity Investment Agreement, Mayer
Technology can be principally engaged in the manufacturing and selling of
8°C Nano PCMs and relative equipment. Upon the Capital Contribution,
the equity interests owned by Guangzhou Mayer and Golden Way in Mayer
Technology will be 70% and 30%, respectively and in other words, the equity
interest held by Guangzhou Mayer in Mayer Technology will be diluted from
100% to 70%. Therefore, the transaction contemplated under the Equity
Investment Agreement constitutes a deemed disposal of the Group's equity
interest in Mayer Technology under Rule 14.29 of the Listing Rules. However,
the financial results of Mayer Technology will continue to be consolidated into
the financial statements of the Group.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 26
September 2022.

Development of Nano PCMs Business

In accordance with the terms of the Equity Investment Agreement, Start
Upward has granted Mayer Technology the Exclusive Right after being paid
by Mayer Technology the first batch of cash amount of RMB5 million. Mayer
Technology proceeded to construct an ultra-high efficiency project engine
room and four Nano PCMs production lines in the factory area of Guangzhou
Mayer in Yonghe Economic Zone of Guangzhou Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Guangzhou, the PRC.
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The estimated investment of the project is mainly for the production of Nano
PCMs. The products of the Nano PCMs will be widely used in air-conditioning,
refrigeration and heating systems in server rooms, medical care, public
buildings, airports, rail transit, hotels, large industries and other areas. They
will subvert the existing popular concept of air-conditioning system. With the
goal of leading the future air-conditioning industry towards the direction of
energy saving, these products will become a new generation of deep energy-
saving and environmentally friendly products.

The nano phase change cold storage ice plate project of Mayer Technology
completed the construction of reaction kettle, cold storage, cooling tower,
air-cooled unit, and high efficiency testing machine room in about late April
2023, has been running a single production equipment since the end of June
2023, and has started small batch production, and the products produced
have been used in the existing high-efficiency machine room system, and this
project has already been used for the cooling of Guangzhou Mayer’s existing
office space.

Since the existing new solar collector tube technology is better than the
electric heating technology originally designed as it will greatly save electricity
costs for production and operation, the technical plan had been readjusted.
The installation of the solar collector tube technology project had been
completed and put into production by the end of September 2023 and four
production lines were put into trial operation.

In October 2023, the Group started testing several projects and installed
energy storage panels. In November 2023, the Group held a new energy
storage product conference, which attracted the industry’s attention. In
January 2024, the Group carried out energy storage tanks, pipelines and
system equipment at the Beijing Shunyi base of the Institute of Agricultural
Environment and Sustainable Development of the Chinese Academy of
Agricultural Sciences. For the period from April 2024 to September 2024, the
Group continued to receive several nano phase change ice plate testing and
automatic control system installation projects.

Technology Consultancy Agreement

On 30 August 2023, Guangzhou Mayer and the Center of Engineering and
Construction Service, Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs of the PRC (&
XN TRERRE L) (the “Consultant”) entered into a technology
consultancy agreement (the “"Technology Consultancy Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Consultant shall provide the following consultancy
services to Guangzhou Mayer in relation to the application of the Nano PCMs
in the agricultural industry in the PRC for a year from 30 August 2023 to 29
August 2024, both days inclusive:

(i) assisting in contacting the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs in
Pinggu District of Beijing, PRC so as to promote the application and
testing of the Nano PCMs in agricultural facilities;

(i) organising and arranging technical demonstrations and research
discussions among authorised experts in relation to the agricultural
applications of the Nano PCMs (such as facility agriculture and
agricultural product storage cold chain);
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(iii) providing guidance and assistance in promoting the Nano PCMs and
their technology in the agriculture field and rural areas based on the
satisfactory results of the application testing of the Nano PCMs; and

(iv) providing full support in establishing a research institute of Guangzhou
Mayer in Beijing in relation to the application of the Nano PCMs in the
agricultural industry.

The Consultant is a PRC governmental institution which is responsible for,
among other things, enhancing the overall performance and the technology
of the agricultural industry in the PRC.

The Board is of the view that the Consultant, given its governmental
authority in the agricultural field in the PRC, is able to effectively promote
and enhance the application and usage of the Nano PCMs in the agricultural
industry, which allows the Group to capture market opportunities, expand
its environmental technology related business in the PRC, further enhance its
business portfolio and generate additional return for the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. Therefore, the Board considers that the entering into
of the Technology Consultancy Agreement is in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.

UPDATE OF CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION

After negotiations between Guangzhou Mayer and Golden Way, the Capital
Contribution will be postponed for one year to 26 July 2024. A supplemental
agreement to the Equity Investment Agreement was entered into among
Guangzhou Mayer, Golden Way and the Individual on 18 September 2023
(the "EIA Supplemental Agreement”).

As at 30 September 2024, the Capital Contribution has not been completed.
Guangzhou Mayer is following up the matter with Golden Way.

UNAUTHORISED DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY'’S
EQUITY INVESTMENT

On 9 February 2022, a former Director who was also former directors of
certain subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC using a suspected forgery
seal entered into an agreement with other parties to dispose of a 51%
equity interest of the Group in Hei Jing Photoelectric Technology Co., Limited
("Hei Jing") at a cash consideration of RMB5.3 million (the “Hei Jing
Disposal”). The consideration was received on 1 February 2022 and 31
March 2022 and the registration of the ownership of the equity interest
was changed to the purchaser on 14 February 2022. After the removal of
the former Director, the Board carried out a review of the transaction. The
Directors considered that the consideration of the Hei Jing Disposal was
too low and unfair and the Group would suffer a significant loss upon the
Hei Jing Disposal. In the view of the Directors, the Hei Jing Disposal was
unenforceable. Therefore, the Group instigated a legal action to rescind the
agreement and resume the ownership of the 51% equity interest in Hei Jing.

On 2 January 2024, the Shenzhen Baoan District People’s Court issued a
judgment to dismiss the Group’s claim. In order to protect the interests of
the Group and after having sought legal advice, the Directors have decided
to appeal against the judgement and filed an appeal to the Shenzhen
Intermediate People’s Court. The legal action is in progress and the outcome
is uncertain.

The Company will keep the Shareholders and the potential investors informed
of any further material developments in connection with the above by way of

further announcement(s) as and when appropriate.
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UNAUTHORIZED DISPOSAL OF ANOTHER
SUBSIDIARY'’S EQUITY INTEREST

On 29 November 2023, while during a regular check on the Company’s
subsidiaries, it came to the Board’s attention that Happy (Hong Kong) New
City Group Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Happy
HK") had completed the assignment of the right to inject RMB14.7 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$15.8 million based on an exchange rate of
RMB1 to HK$1.0750) into the registered capital of Zhuhai Mayer HuaFeng
Development Co., Limited* (Fk/EEGEZERAFRAE (formerly known
as Zhuhai Zhongle HuaFeng Development Co., Limited* (BkiBR4LzEE
ZREAMAT])), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
("HuaFeng Development”) at nil consideration to %iE &t = ith &= 5K &
EFRAE), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liabilities ("% &
W FE") on 23 October 2023 without authorization and/or approval from
the Board (the “Injection Right Disposal”). The Board confirmed that
none of the Directors had previously been aware of or participated in any of
the negotiations and discussions of the Injection Right Disposal. Moreover,
the Directors noted that according to the amended articles of association of
Huafeng Development, the passing of the resolution regarding the Injection
Right Disposal required the approval from all of its shareholders.

Legal Actions Taken

On 6 December 2023, the Company had sought legal advice from a legal
adviser of the Company in Hong Kong regarding the Injection Right Disposal
based on the documents provided by the Company and available information
obtained from public resources (the”Disposal Advice"”) and took steps to
follow up on the matter. Pursuant to the Disposal Advice, the resolutions of
the board of directors of HuaFeng Development approving, amongst others,
the transfer of the 49% equity interest from Happy HK to 2%t & and the
Injection Right Disposal might not be properly authorized and reliable and
may, therefore, be considered ineffective.

Listing Rules Implication

As the highest applicable percentage ratio calculated for classification of the
transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules in respect of the Injection
Right Disposal exceeds 25% but is less than 75%, the Injection Right Disposal
constitutes a major transaction of the Company and is subject to reporting,
announcement and Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14 of
the Listing Rules.

The Company considers the Injection Right Disposal to be ineffective as it
was not properly authorized or approved by the Board and it is, therefore,
inappropriate to have an EGM for the Shareholders to vote on any resolution
in this regard. In light of the situation, a circular and a notice of EGM are not
expected to be prepared and dispatched by the Company to the Shareholders
and the Company will follow up on the relevant legal actions that have been/
will be taken, and with the Disposal Advice, to alleviate and recover the loss
suffered by the Group from the Injection Right Disposal.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 15 January 2024 for
details.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Segment Revenue and Gross Profit
(i) Production and Sales of Steel Products

(ii)

In disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers, the revenue
from:

(@) domestic sales of steel products in the PRC during the Year
was approximately RMB637,820,000, representing an increase
of approximately 33.5% compared with approximately
RMB477,794,000 for Year 2023;

(b) indirect export sales of steel products in the PRC during the Year
was approximately RMB29,932,000, representing an increase of
approximately 13.5% compared with approximately RMB26,365,000
for Year 2023; and

(c) direct export sales of steel products outside the PRC during the Year
was approximately RMB46,656,000, representing an increase of
approximately 37.2% while it was approximately RMB34,004,000
for Year 2023.

As a result, the aggregate revenue of this segment increased by 32.7%
from approximately RMB538,163,000 for Year 2023 to approximately
RMB714,408,000 for the Year.

This segment recorded gross profit of approximately RMB87,387,000
for the Year with a gross profit margin of approximately 12.2%,
compared with gross profit of approximately RMB71,198,000 with a
gross profit margin of approximately 13.2% for Year 2023. The gross
profit margin increased slightly due to an increase in the proportion of
the domestic sales of steel pipes, steel sheets and steel products with a
higher profit margin. The segment profit for the Year was approximately
RMB12,225,000 (Year 2023: RMB15,237,000).

The domestic sales, indirect export sales and direct export sales
accounted for approximately 89.3%, 4.2% and 6.5% of the total sales
of the Year respectively as compared with approximately 88.8%, 4.9%
and 6.3% for Year 2023.

Urban Renewal Project Planning and Consulting

During the Year, no revenue was recorded from this segment (Year 2023:
Nil). Recognition of revenue in this segment mainly depends on the
progress of the redevelopment projects accordingly. The segment loss
for the Year was approximately RMB106,000 (Year 2023: approximately
RMB335,733,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Consolidated Revenue and Gross Profit

The Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB714,408,000, gross
profit of approximately RMB87,387,000 and a gross profit margin of
approximately 12.2% for the Year, compared with revenue of approximately
RMB538,163,000, gross profit of approximately RMB71,198,000 and a gross
profit margin of approximately 13.2% for Year 2023.

Other Income

The Group's other income increased from approximately RMB17,310,000
for Year 2023 to approximately RMB20,036,000 for the Year. During the
Year, the Group received a subsidy from the local government authorities
of the PRC of approximately RMB7,966,000 (Year 2023: RMB6,107,000)
to support the Group's operation and encourage innovation of production
technology, and sundry income of approximately RMB3,426,000 (Year
2023: RMB452,000), but recorded decreases in bank interest income from
approximately RMB1,193,000 for Year 2023 to RMB626,000 for the Year and
scrap sales from approximately RMB9,558,000 for Year 2023 to approximately
RMB8,018,000 for the Year.

Other Net (Loss)

The Group recorded other net loss of approximately RMB5,580,000 for the
Year compared to other net loss of approximately RMB336,571,000 for
Year 2023. This was mainly due to a decrease in impairment loss on trade
and other receivables of approximately RMB43,244,000 and the absence
of an impairment on prepayment of approximately RMB96,460,000 and an
impairment on an associate of approximately RMB198,346,000 as incurred in
Year 2023.

Operating Expenses

The total operating expenses of the Group for the Year were approximately
RMB109,756,000 (Year 2023: RMB78,821,000), of which approximately
RMB63,680,000 was distribution costs, approximately RMB45,364,000
was administrative expenses and approximately RMB712,000 was other
operating expenses, accounting for approximately 58.0%, 41.3% and 0.6%
of revenue for the Year respectively, while the amounts for Year 2023 were
approximately RMB42,845,000, RMB35,937,000 and RMB39,000 respectively,
accounting for approximately 54.4%, 45.6% and 0% of revenue for Year
2023, respectively. The increase in total operating expenses was mainly due to
an increase of revenue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Finance Costs
During the Year, the Group incurred finance costs of approximately
RMB3,592,000 (Year 2023: RMB6,263,000), of which bank interest expenses
amounted to approximately RMB3,540,000 (Year 2023: RMB1,739,000).
No promissory notes interest was incurred for the Year (Year 2023:
RMB4,210,000).

Income Tax Expense

The income tax expense for the Year was approximately RMB3,300,000,
increased by RMB497,000 or approximately 17.7% compared with
approximately RMB2,803,000 for Year 2023.

Loss for the Year

The Group substantially reduced loss after tax for Year 2023 of approximately
RMB335,996,000 to loss after tax for the Year of approximately
RMB14,874,000, primarily owing to the absence of an impairment loss of
approximately RMB338,050,000 as incurred for Year 2023 despite an increase
of approximately 39.2% in operating expenses (in particular the distribution
expenses), which exceeded the 32.7% increase in the Group’s revenue for the
Year.

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

As a result, the Group recorded loss attributable to owners of the Company
for the Year of approximately RMB14,735,000 whereas recording loss
attributable to owners of the Company for Year 2023 of approximately
RMB338,846,000.

Property, Plant and Equipment

As at 30 June 2024, the property, plant and equipment amounted to
approximately RMB84,525,000, representing an increase of approximately
34.6% when compared to approximately RMB62,805,000 as at 30 June
2023, mainly attributable to additions to construction of property in progress.

As at 30 June 2024, land and buildings, leasehold improvements as well
as plant and machinery of the Group with a total carrying amount of
approximately RMB42,185,000 were pledged (30 June 2023: Nil) to secure
bank borrowings granted to the Group.

Right-of-use Assets and Lease Liabilities

As at 30 June 2024, the Group recognized the right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities amounting to approximately RMB5,233,000 and RMB553,000
respectively, as compared to approximately RMB5,915,000 and RMB971,000
respectively as at 30 June 2023. The Group leases various land and buildings
and its lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 2 years.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term on a straight-line
basis. Accordingly, depreciation of right-of-use assets for the Year was
approximately RMB647,000 (Year 2023: RMB327,000).
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Interest in an Associate

Through the completion of the Acquisition, the Group commenced a new
business line on urban renewal project planning and consulting since then.
The Target Company, through its invested company Hua Fa Yue Tang, as an
associate of the Company, of which a 49% equity interest was indirectly
owned by the Company, operates the Yuetang Village Redevelopment Project
located in Sanzhao Town, Jinwan District, Zhuhai City, the PRC. Details of the
Acquisition were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 11
June, 12 September, 30 September and 31 October 2019 and 26 November
2020, respectively and the circular of the Company dated 23 August 2019.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

As at 30 June 2024, the financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss generated from the Acquisition amounted to Nil (30 June 2023: Nil).
Contingent consideration receivable of Nil (30 June 2023: Nil) and put option
of Nil (30 June 2023: Nil) were designated at these financial assets which
were stated at fair value.

Inventories

As at 30 June 2024, the inventories amounted to approximately
RMB80,444,000 (30 June 2023: RMB92,956,000), representing a 13.5%
decrease and an aggregation of stock in various status, being raw materials,
work-in-progress, finished goods and goods-in-transit. Raw materials
increased by 2.4% from approximately RMB34,663,000 as at 30 June 2023
to approximately RMB35,491,000 as at 30 June 2024 and finished goods
decreased by 22.1% from approximately RMB54,017,000 as 30 June 2023 to
approximately RMB42,092,000 as at 30 June 2024.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade and other receivables amounted to approximately RMB356,102,000
as at 30 June 2024, representing an increase of 13.0% when compared to
approximately RMB315,005,000 as at 30 June 2023, which was a combined
effect of, amongst others, increases in trade receivables less allowance for
doubted debts of 17.8% and other receivables of 23.1% and a decrease in
prepayment and other deposit of 8.8%. The increase in trade receivables was
mainly owing to increase in sales.
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Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables amounted to approximately RMB195,921,000 as
at 30 June 2024, representing an increase of approximately 32.9% when
compared to approximately RMB147,469,000 as at 30 June 2023. The
increase in trade and other payables was primarily attributable to increases in
trade payables, other payables and contract liabilities of 40.9%, 38.4% and
21.6%, respectively.

Borrowings

As at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023, the Group’s outstanding borrowings
were RMB100,000,000 and approximately RMB75,000,000, respectively. The
loan of RMB100,000,000 outstanding as at 30 June 2024 was from bank,
denominated in RMB and bore fixed interest rates of between 3.2% to 3.7%
per annum for the Year, which will mature in within one year (2023: loan of
RMB75,000,000 from a bank denominated in HK$ and bearing interest rates
of 3.45% to 3.8% per annum).

Land and buildings, leasehold improvements as well as plant and machinery
with a total carrying amount of approximately RMB42,185,000 of the Group
were pledged to secured the borrowings as at 30 June 2024 (30 June 2023:
Nil) and no conditions were imposed on any controlling Shareholders.

Promissory Notes

On the completion date of the Acquisition, a subsidiary of the Company
issued promissory notes with a principal amount of HK$158,000,000 as part
of the settlement of the consideration for the Acquisition (the “PNs”). The
PNs bore interest at 3% per annum payable semi-annually and the maturity
date was 2 years from the date of issue. The fair value of the PNs upon
issuance was assessed at approximately HK$136,090,000 by an independent
professional valuer. The effective interest rate of the PNs was 10%.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
TREASURY POLICIES

As at 30 June 2024, the authorised share capital of the Company
was approximately RMB724,843,000 (HK$800,000,000) divided into
4,000,000,000 Shares with a par value of HK$0.2 each and the issued
share capital of the Company was approximately RMB391,760,000
(HK$431,600,000) divided into 2,158,000,000 Shares. As at 30 September
2024, the share capital of the Company comprises ordinary Shares only.

During the Year, the Group financed its operations by (i) cash flow from
operating activities; and (ii) borrowings from bank.

The Group continues to adhere to prudent treasury policies. The Group
continued to insure against major receivables in order to lower the risks of
credit sales and to ensure that funds would be recovered on a timely basis,
hence fulfilling the requirements for debt repayments and working capital
commitments.
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The Group had not used any financial instruments for hedging purposes for
the Year and had no plans for material investments or capital assets in the
coming Year.

The Group had net current assets of approximately RMB23,410,000 as
at 30 June 2024 as compared with RMB62,262,000 as at 30 June 2023.
The current ratio (i.e. current assets divided by current liabilities) was
approximately 1.05 times as at 30 June 2024, compared with that of
approximately 1.16 times as at 30 June 2023.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had a balance of RMB100,000,000
borrowings from banks to finance the Group’s working capital and capital
expenditures (30 June 2023: from a bank of RMB75,000,000).

During the Year, the Group recorded net cash inflow of approximately
RMB15,523,000 from its operating activities. The amount was mainly
attributed to the loss before tax of approximately RMB11,574,000,
together with finance cost of approximately RMB3,592,000, depreciation of
approximately RMB4,985,000 and impairment loss on other receivables of
approximately RMB3,833,000, which were offset by net change in trade and
other receivables of approximately RMB42,465,000 but were compensated
by net change in inventories of approximately RMB12,581,000 and net
change in trade and other payables of RMB48,452,000. Net cash outflow
of approximately RMB26,071,000 was from investing activities for the Year,
mainly caused by the payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment
of approximately RMB28,183,000. Net cash inflow of approximately
RMB21,177,000 from financing activities for the Year mainly resulted from
the new borrowing from a bank of RMB100,000,000 but was mainly set off
by repayment of borrowings of RMB75,000,000. Bank deposits and cash
balances as at 30 June 2024 amounted to approximately RMB57,554,000,
which was mainly denominated in Renminbi and HK dollars (30 June 2023:
RMB46,388,000).

The debt-to-equity ratio (i.e. total liabilities divided by issued share capital)
as at 30 June 2024 was approximately 127.2% while it was approximately
100.6% as at 30 June 2023. Current portion of borrowings accounted for
approximately 16.7% and 13.9% of the total assets of the Group as at 30
June 2024 and 30 June 2023, respectively.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURES

As most of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in
RMB, US dollars and HK dollars and those currencies remained relatively
stable during the Year, the Group was not exposed to any significant foreign
exchange risk. In general, it is the Group's policy for each operating entity to
borrow in local currencies, where necessary, to minimize currency risk. As the
impact from foreign exchange exposure was minimal, the Directors were of
the view that no hedging against foreign currency exposure was necessary.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS
As at 30 June 2024, land and buildings, leasehold improvements as well as
plant and machinery of the Group with a total carrying value of approximately
RMB42,185,000 were pledged to a bank for securing financing facilities
granted to the Group (30 June 2023: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Writs of summons against the Company

On 29 March 2012, writs of summons were issued by Capital Wealth Finance
Company Limited and Capital Wealth Corporation Limited against the
Company to claim a sum of HK$15,500,000 plus relevant legal costs incurred/
to be incurred. The Company intends to contest the claim. In the Directors’
opinion, the ultimate liability, if any, will not have a material impact on the
Group's financial position.

Claims against the Company

On 14 April 2021, the Company received two writs of summons under action
numbers HCA 548 of 2020 and HCA 213 of 2021 issued in the High Court
of Hong Kong (the “"HK High Court”) by the solicitors acting for plaintiffs
against the Company (as defendant). The plaintiffs alleged that the Company
had been indebted to them pursuant to convertible notes (principal amount
of HK$90,000,000 in aggregate) and a promissory note (principal amount of
HK$300,000,000) issued in May 2011 by the Company (the “Claims”).

After seeking professional advice from the legal advisor, and to the best
of the knowledge, information and belief of the Directors having made all
reasonable enquires, the Board believes that the claimants are attempting
to cause harm to the interests of the Company through the use of legal
proceedings. Accordingly, the Company will strenuously defend the Claims
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, reserve the right to
counterclaim against the claimants, and use its best endeavours to safeguard
the overall interests of the Shareholders. In the Directors’ opinion, the Claims,
if any, will not have a material impact on the Group’s financial position.
Details of the Claims were set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 14 April and 6 May 2021, respectively.
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LEGAL CASES UPDATE

Claim Disputes in Shenzhen

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated 13 October
2017, 5 October, 20 November and 27 November 2018 as well as 19 March
2020, respectively and circular dated 23 August 2019, which disclosed that
Guangzhou Mayer had provided investments in aggregate amounting to
RMB50 million, doubtfully, to three investment companies by the former
management of Guangzhou Mayer. The current management of Guangzhou
Mayer considers these investments as deceitful acts committed by the former
management of Guangzhou Mayer and the three investment companies,
and so proper legal actions have been conducted by Guangzhou Mayer
for recovering these investments, including filing claim petitions to the
People’'s Court of Qianhai Cooperation District, Shenzhen, Guangdong
Province* in the PRC (the “Court of Qianhai”)* and reporting to the
relevant police department in the PRC. In October 2018, the People’s Court
of Futian District of Shenzhen City* (the “Futian District Court”) had
taken up the mentioned petitions from the Court of Qianhai and had a
hearing on 20 November 2018. The Futian District Court made decisions
that the two defendants shall repay in total RMB30 million plus interest for
the reporting period of possession of the fund to Guangzhou Mayer. The
Auditors expressed their qualified opinion on the issue in the audited financial
statement for the year ended 31 December 2018 with full impairment made
in the same year.

Guangzhou Mayer has been considering to commence a civil lawsuit against
the ultimate beneficial owner of two defendants, as Guangzhou Mayer has
received notices from the Futian District Court that the two defendants did
not have any executable assets for legal enforcement procedure to settle the
claims according to the court decisions.

Further announcement(s) will be made to update on the progress of the
matter as and when appropriate.

Suspected Breach of Fiduciary Duties by Former Directors

As announced by the Company on 2 December 2021, the Company became
aware that Mr. Xu Lidi ("Mr. Xu"), the former Chairman and an Executive
Director, and Mr. Wang Donggi (“Mr. Wang"), a former Non-executive
Director, were suspected to be in breach of their fiduciary duties owed
towards the Company by abusing the use of the corporate chops of Bamian
Investments Pte Ltd ("Bamian”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
holding 81.4% of the equity interests of Guangzhou Mayer, to unlawfully
dismiss the office of Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, the Chairman and an executive
Director then, Mr. Lin Jinhe (“Mr. Lin") and Ms. Wan Liman (“Ms. Wan")
as directors of Guangzhou Mayers. In light of the above, the Board resolved
to, among other matters, take legal actions against Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang for
their suspected breaches of fiduciary duties as and when necessary.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On 17 January 2022, a hearing of the HK High Court in respect of the
interlocutory injunction application (the “Action”) filed by the Company, as
plaintiff, on 6 January 2022 against Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang (together with Mr.
Xu, the "Defendants”), as defendants, took place. The Company claimed
that the Defendants had acted in ways that were in breach of the undertaking
letters signed by them on 4 August 2017 in favour of the Company, which
stipulated that each of the Defendants shall, among other things, act in the
best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. As advised
by the Hong Kong legal advisers of the Company (the “Legal Advisers”)
and as stated in the statement of claim of the Action, the Company claimed
against the Defendants, amongst others, an order that the Defendants
do deliver up the company seal, financial seal, contract seal, invoice seal,
financial department seal, board of directors’ seal and legal representative
seal of each of Guangzhou Mayer and certain indirect subsidiaries of the
Company in Guangzhou and Shenzhen, the PRC.

On 20 January 2022, the Company received a sealed copy of the order
from the HK High Court that the application for the interim injunctive relief
under the Action be dismissed. As advised by the Legal Advisers, despite the
Company’s efforts in seeking to persuade the HK High Court that Hong Kong
is the proper forum for the dispute to be determined based on the separate
undertaking letters signed by each of Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang respectively, the
HK High Court decided not to exercise its discretion to allow the application
for service out of jurisdiction of the writ of summons and the relevant
documents of the HK High Court on Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang as defendants.
The reasons given by the HK High Court were that as the reliefs sought
concerned the seals of subsidiary companies incorporated in the PRC and
involved questions of the PRC law, the more suitable forum for adjudicating
the disputes among the Company, Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang should be the courts
in the PRC.

The Company is still in the course of seeking legal advice on the above and,
among other things, considering the initiation of legal proceedings in the PRC
and/or Singapore against Mr. Xu and/or Mr. Wang to safeguard the legitimate
rights and interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 2 December 2021 as
well as 10, 11 and 20 January and 6 April 2022, respectively for details.
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Setting up of Independent Investigation Committee

In December 2021, the Board set up an independent investigation committee
(the "NC") comprising Mr. Chan Chun Kit, Mr. Lau Kwok Hung and Mr.
Wong Chi Kin ("Mr. Wong"), all being the INEDs, with Mr. Chan Chun Kit
as chairman, to investigate the suspected breach of fiduciary duties by Mr.
Xu and Mr. Wang and the allegations made by Mr. Xu as mentioned under
the “Former Executive Director’s Allegations” sub-section below. In mid-
December 2021, an independent forensic and corporate recovery company
(the "2021 Independent Investigator”) was appointed by the IIC to
perform an investigation on the relevant matters and report its findings
to the IIC based on its investigation results. In mid-January 2022, the IIC
also referred the allegations made by Mr. Wang as mentioned under the
"Former Non-Executive Director’s Allegations” sub-section below to the 2021
Independent Investigator for investigation.

Following the resignation of Mr. Wong as an INED and the appointment of
Mr. Lu Jianping as an INED, on 28 February 2022, Mr. Lu Jianping became a
member of the IIC in substitution of Mr. Wong.

The 2021 Independent Investigator issued its report in early April 2022
(the "Il Report”) and the IIC reviewed the Il Report and provided its
recommendations to the Board. The Board concurred with the Il Report and
the IIC's recommendations for prompt implementation.

Based on its findings, the 2021 Independent Investigator is of the view that
Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang were in breach of their fiduciary duties owed to the
Company.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 6 April 2022.

Directorship and Management Committee in Guangzhou Mayer
As mentioned on p.34 of this Report, the Company became aware that Mr.
Lee Kwok Leung, Mr. Lin and Ms. Wan had been unlawfully dismissed as
directors of Guangzhou Mayer and in light of the above, the Board resolved
to, among other things, invalidate the resolutions of Guangzhou Mayer in
respect of the dismissal of Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, Mr. Lin and Ms. Wan as
directors of Guangzhou Mayer, as well as the appointment of Mr. Hao Qiang
(“Mr. Hao"), Mr. He Peng ("Mr. He"”) and Mr. Liu Haiyang ("Mr. Liu") as
directors of Guangzhou Mayer.

Upon the investigation by the Company in mid-December 2021, it was found
out that, without the knowledge of the Board, Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, Mr. Lin
and Ms. Wan had been dismissed as directors of Guangzhou Mayer and Mr.
Hao, Mr. He and Mr. Liu were appointed as directors of Guangzhou Mayer at
an extraordinary general meeting of Guangzhou Mayer held on 24 November
2021 (the "GM Shareholders’ Meeting”).

36 Mayer Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report

RIBIRERZEE

RIE-_—F+_F BEZGgRIUBUBEERE
g (MERE)  ARIREEE - ERTERE
GEEE ((FEEE)) EHR KREDMRBILIFN
TES HRIRESEDETE  UBEETXE
HITESEZI DBRERZERGBRERES
TERZEEEUARGHAEFHZIEE - RZF
T—H+ZRAE —RBIAL R ERBEAT
(M2021BIURER ) BERAGSERASHEME
B URBEAEERABAGHREEB/EER -
RIBZZF—AFE BREFTE T X AR
TEFENEZEI DHRRZEREMFIEERR
2021 HEEHREE -

REAEREBUFNTESAEEERTEE
SHEIUFRTESFE R-_T-_"F-A"+N
HERF BB ErElRBREME

2021BUBEENR _Z__FNAYHERS

(ZBIFAERSG)  BASEFAZBULRER
STHEFERHUHEZ - EFERAERBULAE
BERERGRETURERR-

RIERAETHIR 2021BUBEERRKRETERE
FEEBRREHATABMEZEEEE

RARABEBEA_Z__FHANRBZA

ofF S
o \\\»}

REMNECNEERBREEZET
WMINAREFI4ENR K A RBMEFE R
EMEERBLETWATEES NABRREMNE
DEERA ENLRBER EFERE (HPE
B EMETAMBRFERLE KEERE
ZETEMNEDERHUKRSEMRELE (THE
) BRLE (BEEE) RBEFRE (8%
) BREMNEDERIRERZE

KAERBNR _E_—F+-"ATEREEHE &
EFETFAANBENERT REMNEZR T - —
F+—AZTHHETHORERNAE (TEME
DREARE)) b FERLE - MEERERZRETE
BRIFEMNEDEER/A KA E -BLRERD
TEESEREMNEDESE-



Management Discussion and Analysis

As advised by the legal advisers of the Company in the PRC, in order to
give effect to the invalidation of the relevant resolutions passed at the GM
Shareholders’ Meeting, the Company should, via Bamian as Guangzhou
Mayer's major shareholder, convene an extraordinary general meeting of
Guangzhou Mayer (the "Guangzhou Mayer EGM") and pass resolutions
to remove and appoint directors of Guangzhou Mayer as it shall propose. On
29 January 2022, the Guangzhou Mayer EGM was held whereby it was legally
and validly resolved by Bamian that the new directors of Guangzhou Mayer
shall comprise Mr. Alan Lee, Mr. Lin, Ms. Wan, Mr. Xiao Libo (an executive
Director) and Mr. Huang Fugen. As a result, Mr. Hao, Mr. He and Mr. Liu shall
no longer be directors of Guangzhou Mayer with effect from 29 January
2022.

Subsequent to the Board meeting held on 26 November 2021, it was resolved
by the Board on 29 March 2022 that a general management and control
committee (the “Committee”) shall be established by Guangzhou Mayer
in substitution of the risk management committee, the asset management
committee, the senior management nomination and remuneration committee,
and the internal audit committee. The Committee shall report to the board
of directors of Guangzhou Mayer and provide advice on the management,
including risk management and asset management), senior management
nomination and remuneration, and internal audit aspects of Guangzhou
Mayer. The Committee was established in late April 2022 after the approval
by the board of directors of Guangzhou Mayer.

Former Executive Director’s Allegations

Mr. Xu, when resigning from the Company as the Chairman and an executive
Director on 3 December 2021, made certain allegations against the Company
and certain Directors, which were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 6 April 2022. He alleged that, amongst others, after a substantial
Shareholder had acquired 460,000,000 Shares, representing approximately
24.04% of the issued share capital of the Company, on 26 October 2021,
those Directors nominated by the substantial Shareholder used various
measures to attempt to take control of the Board and ignored the facts and
frequently convened Board meetings in relation to a resolution which was
voted down at the Board meetings more than once to achieve their own
goals.

Based on its findings, the 2021 Independent Investigator opines that the
appointment of the Directors nominated by the substantial Shareholder was
valid and that it is reasonable to conclude that all the relevant resolutions of
the Board meetings concerned were passed in good faith and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole as the purpose of them was
to strengthen the corporate governance of Guangzhou Mayer.

The Company is currently seeking legal advice on such allegations and will
keep the Shareholders and potential investors of the Company informed
of any further material developments in connection therewith by way of
announcement(s) as and when appropriate.
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Former NED’s Allegations

Mr. Wang, when resigning from the Company as a NED on 11 January 2022,
made certain allegations against the Company and certain Directors, which
were disclosed in the Company's announcements dated 12 January and 4
February 2022. He alleged that, amongst others, the Board which was under
the manipulation of certain individuals passed a resolution through repeatedly
convening Board meetings and considering resolutions which were of the
same content and frequently proposed at various Board meetings.

The details of the legal proceedings initiated by the Company against Mr.
Wang have been disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 10
and 20 January 2022, respectively.

The Company is still in the course of seeking legal advice on the allegations
made by Mr. Wang and initiating legal proceedings against him and will
keep the Shareholders and potential investors of the Company informed of
any further material developments in connection with the above by way of
announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

Based on its findings, the 2021 Independent Investigator opines that it is
reasonable to conclude that Mr. Wang's allegations were not substantiated.
Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 6 April 2022 for details.

Updates on Market Misconduct Tribunal’s Determination

By a notice dated 4 March 2016, the Company was notified by the SFC
that it had commenced proceedings in the Market Misconduct Tribunal
(the “MMT") against (i) the Company for failing to disclose price-sensitive
information as soon as reasonably practicable; and (ii) certain former senior
officers of the Company for their reckless or negligent conduct causing the
alleged breach by the Company of the provisions of the statutory corporate
disclosure regime. Hearings were held on 1 November 2016 (on liability) and
15 March 2017 (on sanctions) (the “MMT Proceedings”). The MMT issued
two reports on 7 February 2017 and 5 April 2017, respectively (the "MMT’s
Determination”), which (i) found that the Company and each of the
following former directors and senior executive of the Company, namely Chan
Lai Yin, Tommy, Hsiao Ming-chih, Lai Yueh-hsing, Huang Jui-hsiang, Chiang
Jen-chin, Xue Wenge, Li Degiang, Lin Sheng-bin and Alvin Chiu (collectively,
the “Specified Persons”) were in breach of the disclosure requirements;
and (ii) imposed sanctions on each of the Specified Persons. Details of MMT's
Proceedings are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 14 March
2016, as well as 8 February and 6 April 2017.

Following an appeal against the MMT's Determination by the relevant
party(ies), the Court of Appeal on 5 June 2020 handed down its judgment
which set aside the determination of liability against the Specified Persons,
including the Company. However, the Court ordered the case to be remitted
to the MMT to consider the limited issue of whether the subject information
would be likely to materially affect the share price taking into account the
post-suspension events.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The remitted hearing before the MMT had originally been scheduled to be
heard in August 2021 but was adjourned to the dates to be fixed by the
MMT. Following the adjourned remitted hearing before the MMT commenced
on 25 January 2022, the MMT issued a report dated 28 July 2023 making the
following determinations:

1. the specific information particularised in the notice served by the SFC
to the Company on 7 March 2016 and mentioned below is inside
information (the “Inside Information”):

a. the resignation of the then Auditors on 27 December 2012;

b. the Auditors’ indication that they would issue a potential qualified
audit report if the audit issues which the Auditors had identified
in respect of, among others, the following transactions of the
Company were not resolved. The transactions and the inside
information in respect of them that should have been disclosed
were:

the disposal of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the
"First Subsidiary”) for HK$15.5 million, which was alleged
by the Company to have been a sale of all the issued share
capital of the First Subsidiary to a party and which the Auditors
regarded as questionable; and

ii. the supply agreements that two subsidiaries of the Company'’s
jointly controlled entity (the “Subsidiaries”) entered into with
two suppliers and the respective prepayments made by them
of US$10 million and US$4 million, without security, to the
suppliers, which appeared to the Auditors to be irrecoverable;
and

c. the Auditor’s concern that the prepayment of US$10 million by one
of the Subsidiaries to the supplier might be irrecoverable and/or
lacked commercial substance;

2. the Company was subject to a disclosure requirement under section
307B of the SFO in respect of the Inside Information and breached that
disclosure requirement; and

3. the Specified Persons also breached the disclosure requirement in respect
of the Inside Information under section 307G(2) of the SFO.

In addition, the MMT has directed that the hearing to decide on the
consequential orders to be imposed (the “MMT Hearing"”) be initially fixed
on 13 November 2023 at 10:00 a.m. (with 1 day reserved).
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Latest Development

Following the above, the MMT Hearing took place on 23 November 2023.
On 15 December 2023, the MMT issued a report in respect of the MMT
Proceedings, setting out its determinations in respect of section 307N of the
SFO and the consequential orders (the “Determination Report”).

Orders
As set out in the Determination Report, the MMT has pursuant to various
sub-sections of 307N(1) of the SFO made the following orders that:

1. each of the Specified Persons must not, for a period from 20 to 30
months from the date of the Determination Report, without the leave of
the Court of First Instance of Hong Kong:

(a) be or continue to be a director, liquidator, or receiver or manager
of the property or business, of a listed corporation or any other
specified corporation; or

(b) in any way, whether directly or indirectly, be concerned or take part
in the management of a listed corporation or any other specified
corporation;

2. the Company and each of the Specified Persons pay to the government
of Hong Kong a regulatory fine of HK$300,000 and from HK$150,000 to
HK$800,000, respectively; and

3. the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council of Hong Kong be
recommended to take a disciplinary action against one of the Specified
Persons; and

4. each of the Specified Persons undergo a training programme on
directors’ duties and corporate governance approved by the SFC in
compliance with Part XIVA of the SFO.

Full version of the Determination Report was uploaded onto the website of
the MMT on 15 December 2023.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 29 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

COMPLAINTS AGAINST THE COMPANY
In about late April 2023, the Board received complaints from complainant(s)
who did not agree to disclose his/her/their identity(ies), whereby such

complainant(s) made the following allegations (the “Allegations”):

(i) the Company was controlled by an individual (the “Alleged
Controller”) through several figureheads and Mr. Lee Kwok Leung,
an executive Director and the Chairman, and the Alleged Controller
manipulated the trading of the Shares;

(ii) the Alleged Controller misappropriated funds in the aggregate amount
of HK$205,000,000 from the Company;

(iii) the Alleged Controller defaulted on the repayment of a borrowing from a
company (which was subsequently acquired by and became a subsidiary
of the Company after the borrowing took place), which then, due to
lack of funding, caused delay in the progress of the Yuetang Village
Redevelopment Project in the PRC, held by such company; and

(iv) there was a purposeful delay of a Board meeting by certain Directors and
the company secretary of the Company.

Response from the Board

Based on a preliminary assessment of the Allegations, the currently available
records of the Company and to the best of the Directors’ knowledge after
making all reasonable enquiries, the majority of the Board (including the
INEDs) but excluding Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen, both the then executive
Directors, is of the view that the Allegations are unfounded and made

without basis.

Taking into account the dissenting views of Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen, it was
resolved by the full Board (including Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen) at a Board
meeting held on 23 May 2023 that:

"Il Committee”),
comprising all the INEDs, namely Mr. Lau Kwok Hung, Mr. Chan Chun Kit

(i) an independent investigation committee (the

and Mr. Lu Jianping, be established to conduct an internal investigation
on, among other things, (a) the Allegations; and (b) the veracity of the
matters alleged by or concerns raised by Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen leading
to their dissenting views; and

(i) an independent investigator be subsequently appointed to perform an
investigation on the matters referred to the above.
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The majority of the Board (including the INEDs but excluding Mr. Zhou and
Mr. Chen) also considered that there was no material adverse impact on the
operations of the Group brought along by the Allegations raised.

Mr. Chan Chun Kit was then elected as the chairman of the Il Committee, and
Frank Forensic and Corporate Recovery Limited (“Frank”), the Independent
Investigator, has been appointed by the Il Committee to perform an
investigation on, among others, the Allegations.

The Il Committee, the Company and the Auditor obtained a preliminary
draft of the Investigation Report prepared by Frank in late September and
early October 2023, respectively. With effect from 1 December 2023, Mr. Lu
Jianping was appointed as a co-chairman of the Il Committee and Mr. Chan
Chun Kit became another co-chairman of the Il Committee.

Development after 31 December 2023

With effect from 18 January 2024, Mr. Chan Chun Kit resigned as an INED
and ceased to act as, amongst others, a co-chairman and a member of the
Il Committee and Mr. Lu Jianping became the chairman of the Il Committee
with Mr. Lau Kwok Hung as a member. With effect from 26 January 2024, Mr.
Du Ning was appointed as, amongst others, an INED and a member of the
Il Committee. Immediately thereupon, the II Committee comprised all three
INEDs, namely Mr. Lu Jianping (chairman), Mr. Lau Kwok Hung and Mr. Du
Ning.

After the liaison work amongst the members of the Il Committee following
the change in the composition of the I Committee, it was resolved by the I
Committee that (i) the Injection Right Disposal would be added to the scope
of the independent investigation; and (ii) having considered that, among
other things, the scope of the independent investigation would be widened
and the completion of the independent investigation would be critical
for the Company to fulfill the Resumption Guidance, Grant Thornton, an
independent investigator, was appointed by the II Committee to take over
Frank to carry out the independent investigation on the Allegations and the
Injection Right Disposal (the “Investigation”).

As a result of the above, the Investigation would cover the matters relating to
the Allegations and the Injection Right Disposal (i.e. to assess their impacts on
the business operation and financial position, announce the findings and take
appropriate remedial actions).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Recent Development
The Company:

(@) through the Financial Adviser, submitted the First Draft Investigation
Report to the Stock Exchange in late June 2024 in respect of the
Resumption Guidance;

(b) through the Financial Advisor, received a letter dated 29 July 2024
from the Stock Exchange, setting out the Stock Exchange’s preliminary
observations and queries to the First Draft Investigation Report as well as
the Group's audit and internal control issues for the Company’s remedial
actions; and

(c) has been in the process of preparing its replies to the Stock Exchange.

The Company will keep the Shareholders and potential investors of the
Company informed of the results of the Investigation by Grant Thornton and
any further material developments in connection therewith by way of further
announcement(s) as and when appropriate

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST ZHOU & CHEN

As mentioned on p.20 of this Report, the Company, on 5 October 2023,
took Legal Proceedings against Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen for breach of duty of
care and/or fiduciary duties and/or duties of fidelity/good faith owed to the
Company.

Accordingly, the Company is claiming against Zhou & Chen (i) damages and/
or equitable compensation, to be assessed; (ii) a declaration that Mr. Zhou
and/or Mr. Chen were/was in breach of their/his duties owed to the Company,
fiduciary and/or otherwise; (iii) all necessary accounts and inquiries to enable
the Company to fulfil its duties under the Listing Rules; (iv) interest; (v) costs;
and (vi) further and/or other reliefs as the court deems fit.

Having considered that the Legal Proceedings are between the Company
(as plaintiff) and two of the then Directors Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen (as
defendants) and therefore, the conflict of interest of Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen
arising therefrom, the Board has resolved at the Board meeting held on 6
October 2023 (the "October Board Meeting") to temporarily suspend all
administrative and executive duties and powers of each of Mr. Zhou and Mr.
Chen as an executive Director with effect from the conclusion of the October
Board Meeting until further notice for the purpose of safeguarding the
interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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Requisition By a Shareholder to Remove Directors

On 12 October 2023, the Company received a requisition letter from a
requisitionist (pursuant to the instruction of Mr. Cheung Ngan, being (i) the
holder of 518,680,000 Shares, representing approximately 24.04% of the
total issued share capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company as at the date of deposit of the requisition;
and (ii) a substantial Shareholder) requesting the Board to call for an EGM in
accordance with article 68 of the Articles of Association for the purpose of
considering and, if thought fit, passing by the Shareholders the resolutions
of removing Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen as executive Directors as ordinary
resolutions of the Company (the “Proposed Resolutions”).

In accordance with the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association,
the Board had duly convened and held the EGM on 8 November 2023 (the
"2023 EGM"). The Proposed Resolutions were passed thereat and each of
Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen was removed as an executive Director with immediate
effect upon the passing of the Proposed Resolutions.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 15 October and 8
November 2023 and circular dated 20 October 2023.

The Company disputed the validity of the votes of Harbour Prestige, being
410,000,000 votes (the “Votes"”) against the Proposed Resolutions at the
2023 EGM.

Having sought legal advice on the matter, on 13 November 2023,
the Company and Elate Ample as plaintiffs (collectively, the
Plaintiffs”), filed a writ of summons with the HK High Court with an
indorsement of claim against Harbour Prestige, Mr. Zhou (the ultimate
beneficial owner and/or director and/or effective controller of Harbour
Prestige) and Yicko Finance Limited (“Yicko") (collectively, the
Defendants”). On the basis of the terms of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, an escrow agreement dated 26 November 2019 was entered into
among Harbour Prestige, Elate Ample, the Company and Yicko (the “Escrow
Agreement”), whereby it was agreed that 410,000,000 Shares registered
under the name of Harbour Prestige (the “Escrow Shares”) are/were held
in escrow by Yicko. Pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement, until
the Escrow Shares are released by Yicko to Harbour Prestige, neither Harbour
Prestige nor its representatives are permitted to exercise any rights attached
to the Escrow Shares, including but not limited to the right to attend, vote
and/or appoint proxies to attend at any meetings of the Shareholders. The
Escrow Plaintiffs claimed that in breach of the Escrow Agreement, Harbour
Prestige authorised Zhou Xi Wen (or in his absence, the chairman of the
meeting) to vote, and the chairman of the meeting did vote, on behalf of
Harbour Prestige at the 2023 EGM using the Escrow Shares.

"Escrow

"Escrow
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Accordingly, the Company is claiming (i) an order for a declaration that
Harbour Prestige had breached the Escrow Agreement; (ii) an order for
declaration that the Votes made by Harbour Prestige at the 2023 EGM was
null and void and of no effect; (iii) an order for declaration that the Proposed
Resolutions are nonetheless valid; (iv) the return of the Escrow Shares by
Harbour Prestige to the Company and/or its designated person(s) pursuant
to the Escrow Agreement and/or the Sale and Purchase Agreement; (v) an
order that the Escrow Defendants do, by way of execution of all necessary
documents and/or instructions, return to the Company and/or its designated
person(s) the Escrow Shares; (vi) further or alternatively to the above,
damages to be assessed; (vii) interests; (viii) costs; and (ix) further and/or other
reliefs as the court deems fit.

EMPLOYMENT, TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had a total of 322* employees (30 June
2023: 360*), the vast majority of whom were in the PRC and 7 Directors.
Total staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments for the Year were
approximately RMB55,137,000* (Year 2023: RMB48,107,000**), including
retirement benefits cost of approximately RMB5,884,000* (Year 2023:
RMB5,908,000**). Remuneration packages of the Group are maintained at a
competitive level to attract, retain and motive employees and are reviewed on
a periodic basis. The Group always maintains good relation with its employees
and is committed to employee training and development on a regular basis to
maintain the quality of its products and services.

*  excluding Happy Group
** jncluding Happy Group

The Share Option Scheme was approved and adopted by the Shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2019. The Board
considers that the Share Option Scheme will incentivise more persons/ entities
to contribute positively to the Group, and facilitate the retention and the
recruitment of high-calibre staff of the Group. Share Options were granted to
the Grantee in late April 2022. Please refer to the “Environmental Technology
Related Business” paragraph under the “Business Review” sub-section above.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Except as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any material acquisition
and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Period
and did not have any significant investments held as at 30 June 2024.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no significant capital commitments outstanding at 30 June
2024 and 30 June 2023.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year
(Year 2023: Nil).
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial conditions, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. Key risks

and uncertainties affecting the Group are set out as below:

Global Economic and Macro-Economic Conditions

The impact of economic conditions on market price and customers’
confidence would affect the revenues and results of the Group. The economic
growth or decline in the Group’s geographical markets that affect customers’
demand would also affect the Group's business. The Group continues to
implement its strategies to develop and explore in different markets, thereby
reducing its dependency on specific markets.

Investment Risk

To balance the risk and return across investment types is a key consideration
of investment framework. Risk assessment is one of important aspects of
the investment decision process. Management would regularly review and
monitor the progress of the investments of the Group and submit to the
Board for further strategic adjustments.

Customers’ Credit Risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk by the Group, which will cause a
financial loss due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties,
arises from the carrying amounts of the recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in place to
determine credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The
Group only extends credit to customers based on careful evaluation of the
customers’ financial conditions and credit history. Credit sales of products are
made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of debts at the end of the reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

Liquidity Risk

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to
support the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. Management monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures
compliance with the relevant loan covenants.

Financial Risk

The Group's major financial instruments include available-for-sale investments,
trade and other receivables, cash and bank balances, trade and other
payables and bank borrowings. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure that appropriate measures are implemented on a

timely and effective manner.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Compliance Risk

The Board monitors and ensures that the Group is in compliance with
the applicable laws, rules, regulations and codes. The Group engages
professionals from time to time to keep abreast of the latest developments
in the regulatory environment, including legal, financial, environmental and
operational developments. The Group also implements a strict control in
prohibiting any unauthorised use or dissemination of confidential or inside
information.

OUTLOOK

Notwithstanding the Suspensions, the Group has been:

(a) focusing on its business operations of the processing, manufacturing and
selling of steel sheets, steel pipes and other steel products in the PRC;

(b) developing the applications of the Nano PCMs with environmental
related technologies under the agricultural industry in the PRC to

enhance its business portfolio; and

(c) operating as usual in all material aspects.
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Responses to/Removal of Qualified Opinion
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PRELIMINARY RESPONSES TO QUALIFIED OPINION
The Board and the Audit Committee had noted that the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the Year were subject to the qualified opinion
of ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the Independent Auditor (the “Qualified
Opinion”), on the basis as set out in the section headed “Basis for Qualified
Opinion” in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 90 to 98 of this
Report. The Board and the Audit Committee did not express different views
from that of the Independent Auditor on the basis of the qualifications as the
unresolved qualifications for the Year, which might have consequential effect
on the Group’s financial performance for the Year and the related disclosure
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

Further, the views of the Group towards the issues are as follows:

The recent progress of the urban land redevelopment projects in Zhuhai, the
PRC has been put on hold despite the recovery of the COVID-19 and as the
Yuetang Village Project is still at its preliminary stage, the Board believes that
the Target Company will not be able to achieve the guaranteed Target Profit
Level in the foreseeable future so that the Company does not expect to enter
into any further supplemental agreement to, among others, extend the period
for the Target Company to achieve the guaranteed Target Profit Level.

As set out in the Company's announcement dated 6 October 2023, the
Group has filed a lawsuit against the Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen in Hong Kong
for breach of their respective Directors’ duties concerning their management
in the redevelopment project located in the PRC. Accordingly, the Company
is claiming against Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen for (i) damages and/or equitable
compensation, to be assessed; (ii) a declaration that Mr. Zhou and/or Mr.
Chen were/was in breach of their/his duties owed to the Company, fiduciary
and/or otherwise; (iii) all necessary accounts and inquiries to enable the
Company to fulfil its duties under the Listing Rules; (iv) interest; (v) costs; and
(vi) further and/or other reliefs as the court deems fit.

Moreover, during a regular check on the Company’s subsidiaries, it came to
the Board's attention that Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited had
completed the disposal of Zhuhai HuaFeng, being the assignment of the right
to inject RMB14.7 million (equivalent to approximately HK$15.8 million based
on an exchange rate of RMB1 to HK$1.0750) into the registered capital of
Zhuhai HuaFeng at nil consideration to the purchaser on 23 October 2023
without authorization and/or approval from the Board. Upon completion of
the disposal of Zhuhai HuaFeng, the registered capital of the Zhuhai HuaFeng
did not change but the right to inject 49% of the registered share capital
of the Zhuhai HuaFeng was transferred to the purchaser. Details of the
unauthorized disposal are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 15
January 2024.
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Responses to/Removal of Qualified Opinion

In light of the above circumstances, the Company and the Audit Committee
of the Company have come into conclusion that it is not commercially
reasonable for the Company to continue to invest its time and resources
in the Target Company, and the Group is expected to record a one-off loss
due to the provision for impairment loss in respect of its investment in the
Target Company and having considered (i) the poor financial performance
of the Target Company and its subsidiaries (the “Target Group”); (ii) the
limited asset value of the Target Group as compared to the Group as a
whole; and (iii) the legal costs and management efforts in legal proceedings
and the resumption of re-development of Yuetang Village of the Target
Group, the Board is of the view that it is of benefit to dispose of the Target
Company. Details regarding the disposal of Target Group were disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 5 March 2025.

Upon completion of the disposal of the Target Group, the Group can utilize
its resources to re-focus on its existing steel business, which remains solid and
brings a stable stream of revenue to the Group, as well as the development of
the applications of nano phase change energy storage material(s) with nano-
scale technologies, which is a new business line of the Group as disclosed in
its announcement dated 30 September 2024.

Regarding the consolidation of Hei Jing, the Group remains committed to
pursuing the legal action against relevant former directors of Guangzhou
Mayer for breaches of their director’s duties, specifically for unauthorized
execution of the disposal of the ownership of its 51% equity interest in Hei
Jing and may consider taking appropriate further actions with professional
advice in due course.

Further Information

The Il Committee had resolved that the unauthorized assignment of the right
to inject RMB14.7 million into the registered capital of Zhuhai HuaFeng that
resulted in a decrease of the Company’s shareholding in Zhuhai HuaFeng from
100% to 51% would be included in the expanded scope of the independent
investigation.

Recognizing the gravity and implications of the unauthorized assignment,
and taking into consideration that the scope of the independent investigation
has been broadened, the Il Committee further acknowledges that the timely
completion of the independent investigation is critical to the Company's
ability to meet the requirements set forth under the resumption guidance
issued by the Stock Exchange. In light of this, the I Committee has decided
to appoint Grant Thornton Advisory Services Limited, an independent
investigator, to take over from Frank Forensic and Corporate Recovery Limited
and to conduct the independent investigation on the Allegations and the
disposal of Zhuhai HuaFeng (collectively, the “Investigation”).
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Responses to/Removal of Qualified Opinion
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This expanded Investigation will comprehensively address matters pertaining
to the Allegations and the disposal of Zhuhai HuaFeng, which include, but are
not limited to: (i) assessing the impacts of the Allegations and the disposal of
Zhuhai HuaFeng on the Company’s business operations and financial position;
(i) analyzing and verifying the underlying facts and circumstances; (iii) publicly
announcing the findings of the Investigation in a transparent manner; and (iv)
implementing appropriate remedial actions to safeguard the interests of the
Company.

The II Committee emphasizes the importance of this enhanced scope in
ensuring a thorough and independent review of all relevant matters.

Removal of Qualified Opinion

Regarding items 1 to 4 of the Qualified Opinion, the Auditor has indicated
that, following the disposal of the entire equity interest in Target Group on
5 March 2025, the financial results of Happy Group (including the Zhuhai
HuaFeng Group) will be deconsolidated. As such, there will be no impact
on the Group’s financial position as of 30 June 2025. Consequently, these
Qualified Opinions will be removed for the financial year ending 30 June
2025.

In respect of items 1 and 3 of the Qualified Opinion, the Auditor will issue a
qualification on the share of results for the period up to the date of disposal
of the entire equity interest in the Target Group, as well as the impairment
of interest in an associate, prepayments, trade receivables, and the relevant
comparative figures for the financial year ending 30 June 2025. This qualified
opinion is expected to be removed no later than the financial year ending 30
June 2027.

In respect of item 2 of the Qualified Opinion, following the disposal of the
entire equity interest in the Target Group in March 2025, the associated put
option has lapsed and will no longer have any impact on the Group’s financial
position. Accordingly, the Qualified Opinion will be removed for the financial
year ending 30 June 2025.

The consideration receivable represents compensation from the Vendor due
to the failure of the Target Group to achieve the target profit levels specified
in the Sale and Purchase Agreement. As stipulated in the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, if the accumulated net profit of the Target Group for the three
years ending 31 December 2021 falls below HK$130 million, the obligations
under the Promissory Note, including but not limited to payment obligations,
will cease, and the escrow agent, Yicko, will not be required to release any
Consideration Shares to the Vendor. Moreover, the Consideration Shares will
be released to the Company pursuant to the Escrow Agreement.
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Responses to/Removal of Qualified Opinion

As set out in the announcement of the Company dated 18 March 2025,
based on the audited consolidated financial statements of the Target
Company, the Target Company has recorded an accumulated net profit
of approximately HK$14.4 million for the three financial years ended 31
December 2021, which is below the Target Profit Level. The Company is of
the view that the payment liability under the Promissory Note has ceased
pursuant to the Sales and Purchase Agreement and the Consideration Shares
will be released to the Company in accordance with the Escrow Agreement,
and the Company, the Purchaser or their respective nominees may sell or
dispose of the Consideration Shares (in a way which is unilaterally considered
appropriate) without notifying the Vendor or obtaining authorization from
the Vendor and are entitled to receive the relevant proceeds. The Group has
notified the Vendor and the Guarantor in writing regarding the failure to
achieve the Target Profit Level, as well as the cessation of obligations under
the Promissory Note. Currently, the Company is pursuing appropriate legal
actions to recover all 410,000,000 Consideration Shares held in escrow and
to claim damages against the Vendor and Guarantor for breaches of the Sale
and Purchase Agreement and/or guarantee obligations.

During the audit for the financial year ending 30 June 2025, the Auditor
will engage with management and legal counsel to provide updates on
the progress of the ongoing legal proceedings. On the assumption there is
no legal action taken by the Vendor and the Guarantee to dispute (i) the
cessation of obligations under the Promissory Note on the part of the Group;
and/or (i) the return of the Consideration Shares, the Qualified Opinion will
be removed for the year ending 30 June 2025. However, the Auditor will
qualify the gain on compensation recognized in the profit or loss, as well as
the relevant comparative figures of financial assets, the changes in fair value
of financial assets, and the consideration receivable for the year ending 30
June 2025. This Qualified Opinion is expected to be removed no later than
the financial year ending 30 June 2027.

In respect of item 4 of the Qualified Opinion, the Auditor will qualify the
financial performance of Zhuhai HuaFeng Group up to the date of disposal,
along with the comparative figures for the financial year ending 30 June
2025. This qualified opinion is expected to be removed no later than the
financial year ending 30 June 2027.
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Responses to/Removal of Qualified Opinion
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In respect of item 5 of the Qualified Opinion, the Guangdong Shenzhen
Intermediate People’s Court has recently issued a judgment dismissing the
Group’s claim to rescind the agreement and regain control over Hei Jing.
The Group remains committed to pursuing legal action against relevant
former directors of Guangzhou Mayer for breaches of their director's duties,
specifically for unauthorized execution of the agreement and disposal
of the ownership of its 51% equity interest in Hei Jing. The Group is
currently evaluating whether any further action can be pursued. Should
it be determined that no additional action is feasible, Hei Jing will be
deconsolidated, which will have no impact on the Group’s financial position
as of 30 June 2025. Consequently, the Qualified Opinion will be removed
for the financial year ending 30 June 2025. However, the Auditor will qualify
the loss on deconsolidation of Hei Jing and the relevant comparative figures
in the year ending 30 June 2025. Such qualified opinion is expected to be
removed no later than the year ending 30 June 2027.

In light of the above, the Board and the Audit Committee are of the view that
the abovementioned plans are feasible and sufficient to address the Qualified
Opinion.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board and the management are committed to maintaining and ensuring
high standards of corporate governance as good corporate governance can
safeguard the interests of all Shareholders and enhance corporate value. The
Board continuously reviews and further improves the corporate governance
practices and standards of the Group from time to time to ensure that
business activities and decision making processes are regulated in a proper
manner.

The Company has applied the principles, and complied with all the code
provisions, in Part 2 of the CG Code throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group's strategic planning and
development, as well as determining the objectives, strategies and policies
of the Group while delegating day-to-day operations of the Group to
management. Besides, each member of the Board is expected to make a full
and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and ensure that the Board acts in
the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors, including Mr. Ip Yun Kit
(Chairman), Mr. Cheung Ka Yue (CEO) and Ms. Zhang Yana as Executive
Directors and Mr. Lau Kwok Hung, Mr. Lu Jianping and Mr. Du Ning as INEDs.
At least one of the three INEDs possesses appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management expertise, which complies with the
requirement under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. Details of their respective
experiences, background and qualifications are included in the “Biographical
Information of Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 73 to 75
of this Annual Report.

Following the resignation of Mr. Chan Chun Kit as an INED with effect from
18 January 2024, the Company had only two INEDs, and did not comply
with the minimum number of three INEDs under Rule 3.10(1) of the Lisiting
Rules. The Company has taken remedial steps to address the non-compliance,
including seeking potential INED candidate referrals from business partners.
With the appointment of Mr. Du Ning as an INED with effect from 26 January
2024, the Company re-complied with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on 28 March 2019, which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
of the Board. The Company recognizes that increasing diversity at the Board
level will support the attainment of the Company’s strategic objectives and
sustainable development. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Company will also
take into consideration its own business model and specific needs from time
to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report
EERER/ERS

The Board has delegated certain duties under the Board Diversity Policy to the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will discuss and adopt
the above measurements when it reviews the composition of the Board.
After assessing the suitability of the Directors’ skills and experience to the
Company’s business, the Nomination Committee considered that the existing
Board is suitably qualified with professional backgrounds and/or equipped
with extensive expertise for the purposes of providing direction to and
oversight of the strategy and business of the Group in achieving its objectives.

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy at least
annually or in necessary condition, as appropriate, to ensure its continued
effectiveness from time to time.

The proportion of female Board representation is a measurable objective of
the Company in assessing the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy.

The Board currently comprises five male Directors and one female Director.
The Company values gender diversity and aims to maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity of the Board in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and sustainable development. The Board targets to maintain at
least the current level of female representation, with the ultimate goal of
increasing the proportion of female members over time as and when suitable
candidate(s) is/are identified.

In addition, as at 30 June 2024, the percentage of female members in all
employees (including senior management) of the Group, being a measurable
objective for gender diversity, was approximately 33%*. The Group will
continue to take gender diversity into consideration during recruitment,
as well as identify and select potential female talents with different skills,
experience and knowledge to join the Group.

* excluding Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited and its subsidiaries.

Independence and Relationship

The INEDs ensure that the Board accounts for the interests of all Shareholders
and all issues are considered in an objective manner. The Company has
received an annual written confirmation from each of the INEDs as regards
their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on these
confirmations, the Board considers that all of them to be independent.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationship among the members of the Board. All
of them are free to exercise their individual judgment.
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Independent Views

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal to good
corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board has established
mechanisms to ensure that independent views and input from any Director
are conveyed to the Board for enhancing an objective and effective decision
making. The governance framework and the following mechanisms are
reviewed annually by the Board to ensure their effectiveness:

1. The Nomination Committee will assess the independence, qualification
and time commitment of a candidate who is nominated to be a new
INED before appointment and also the continued independence of
existing INEDs and their time commitments annually. On an annual
basis, all INEDs are required to confirm in writing their compliance of
independence requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
and to disclose the number and nature of offices held by them in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments.

2. The Nomination Committee will conduct the performance evaluation of the
INEDs annually to assess their contributions.

3. External independent professional advice is available as and when
required by individual Directors.

4. All Directors are given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda
for the Board meetings.

5. All Directors are encouraged to express freely their independent views and
constructive challenges during the Board meetings.

6. A Director (including an INED) who has a material interest in a matter
shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution
approving the same. Further, the matter would be dealt with by a
physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution of the Directors.
INEDs who, and whose close associates, have no material interest in the
matter would be present at that Board meeting to express their views
and input on the matter.

7. The Chairman (who is presently an Executive Director) meets with INEDs
annually without the presence of other Executive Directors.

EEERKS

BB
FRBANESFEFIMHREEERELGRES
ENEEHEZ EFEERIUMGILIERER
EENBUBMAERENFETESE  HEU
EMEHRRNEREENAN - EFEEEEE
ERERR LU S LU RE R

1. RAZESREZEATERIELG MBI
FERTEENEEANBILIE -EERATR
BEE URSEFERABILFENTES
BB MRREMKBER -8F A
BUIFATESHARB(ETRA) H3.13
HRUEETAERRECBTELERE
WHBEREE LT AT NAABEERUNK
EBRMENREMEBEAREE-

2. REZEERESEHBUYFNTESTETE
Rl EH SR ERER

3. EREMNEFARER FJRMUIBBILIER
ER-

4. FIAEFHARERFEMAZETETHS

o

5. BEPMAEFEEEFEERNBBRRER
ETHNBUBRMRERREERE

6. ER—FEFHEAEANEMNES (BEBIL
FRTER) AT EZFTENECTESS
REBEEPREBWNFAEEAR S ZFEIE
CREERESFETEMFESTNITEARE
HERE-ETZFERUEERN DB
HITESAREREREA THEZEET
CREURERSHZFTENEMRER

7. EF REWRTES SETLBEMNTE
EHENBR TEBIIFNITESETE

EDERERAT
2024 FR 5 5



Corporate Governance Report
EERER/ERS

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the period from 1 July 2023 to 11 June 2024, Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, an
Executive Director, was the Chairman. During the period from 12 June 2024
to 30 June 2024, Mr. Ip Yun Kit, an Executive Director, was the Chairman and
thereafter, he continues to act as the Chairman. During the Year, Mr. Xiao
Libo, an Executive Director, was the CEO until 27 September 2024 and since
27 September 2024, Mr. Cheung Ka Yue, an Executive Director, has been
appointed as the CEO. The roles and functions of the Chairman and the CEO
were/have been performed by separate individuals. The separation ensures a
balance of power and authority so that power is not concentrated in any one
individual.

There is no relationship between the Chairman and the CEO.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership and effective running of
the Board, ensures that all material issues are decided by the Board in a
conductive manner and effectively implements the strategies of the Group.
The CEO not only shares the responsibility of running the business of the
Group and effectively implements the Group's strategies, but also leads and
monitors the daily operation of the Group’s business with other Executive
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT (“CPD")

All newly appointed Directors will receive an induction training in respect of
directors’ responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other applicable rules
and regulations delivered by the Company’s legal advisers of Hong Kong Laws
or the Company Secretary (as the case may be).

Each of Mr. Du Ning, Ms. Zhang Yana and Mr. Ip Yun Kit had (i) obtained
legal advice from the Company's legal advisors in Hong Kong as regards
the requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to him/her as a
director of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of making a false
declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange on 26 January,
21 March and 24 May 2024 respectively before they were appointed as
a Director and (ii) confirmed that he/she understood his/her obligations a
director of a listed issuer.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 in Part 2 of the CG Code, the Directors
should participate in appropriate CPD to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses
to ensure that they are fully aware of the responsibilities and obligations of
directors under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.
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All Directors have been participating in CPD by reading articles, training
materials and updates as regards legal and regulatory changes and matters
of relevance to the Directors and/or attending relevant training courses,
seminars, webinars or conferences in the discharge of their duties. The
Company has also continuously updated Directors on the latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements,
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.

The record of individual training received by each of the current Directors for
the Year is set out below:
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BOARD MEETINGS AND ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
During the Year, the Directors passed certain resolutions in writing and the
Board held 12 meetings (including 4 regular meetings) to discuss, among
other matters, the Group's affairs, investment projects and the operational
and financial performance of the Group. Notice of the Board meetings was
given to all the Directors fourteen days before each regular Board meeting.
All Directors have an opportunity through an official channel to raise matters
for discussion in the agenda. An agenda and accompanying Board papers are
sent to all the Directors at least three days before regular Board meetings. The
Company held its AGM on 29 December 2023.

The attendance record of the Directors to these Board meetings is set out in
the below section headed “Attendance Records at Meetings”.

During the Year, the Chairman held one meeting with the INEDs without the
presence of other Executive Directors.
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The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for
each Board meeting and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. The Company Secretary also keeps the minutes of each meeting
signed by the chairman thereof, which are available to all the Directors for
inspection.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or retain independent professional advisors if
necessary. They also have unrestricted access to seek advice and service of the
Company Secretary who is responsible for providing the Directors with Board
papers and related materials and ensuring that appropriate and applicable
procedures are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial Shareholder or
Director arise, the matter will be discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolutions. INEDs with no conflict of interest
would be present at a meeting to deal with conflict issues. Board committees
of the Company, including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, all follow the applicable practices
and procedures used in Board meetings for committee meetings.

DIRECTORS’ TERM OF APPOINTMENTS AND RE-
ELECTION

According to article 95 of the Articles of Association, the Board shall have
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so
appointed shall hold office only until the first AGM after his/her appointment
and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting provided that any
Director who so retires shall not be taken into account in determining the
number of Directors who are to retire at such meeting by rotation pursuant
to article 112. As such, Mr. Ip Yun Kit, Ms. Zhang Yana and Mr. Du Ning, who
were appointed as new Directors by the Board after the 2023 AGM, shall retire
at the 2024 AGM and, being eligible, would offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles of Association, at each AGM
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation and shall be eligible for re-election provided that every Director shall
retire from office by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. Lu Jianping will retire by rotation at the forthcoming 2024 AGM and is
eligible for re-election.

Each of the NED and the INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for an initial term of one year commencing on the respective
dates of their appointment and shall continue thereafter from year to year
until and unless terminated by either party by giving the other party one
month’s prior written notice according to the terms of the corresponding
appointment letter.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct for
securities transactions by Directors. Having been made specific enquiries by
the Company, all the existing Directors confirmed that they had complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the Year or
the period from their respective dates of appointment as Directors to 30 June
2024 (as the case may be).

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a clear, balanced assessment of
the Group’s performance and prospects. It is also responsible for preparing
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial
position on a going concern basis with supporting assumptions or
qualifications as necessary and other inside information announcements
and financial disclosures. Management provides the Board with the relevant
information it needs to discharge these responsibilities.

The responsibilities of the Auditor to the Shareholders are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 90 to 98 of this Annual Report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 22 August 2005 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code, which are available for
perusal on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Responsibilities
The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include:

(i) reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the
Board;

(i) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
making recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorship;

(i) making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors; and

(iv) reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the measurable objectives that
the Board has set for implementing such policy.

Nomination Policy and Procedures

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of the Directors to the Nomination Committee. Without
prejudice to the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee as set
out in its terms of reference, the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of the Directors rests with the entire Board.
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The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of a Director, including an INED in
accordance with the following procedures and process:

A. The Nomination Committee:

will, giving due consideration to the current composition and size
of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills, perspectives and
experience at the outset to focus the search effort;

ii. may consult any source it considers appropriate in identifying
or selecting suitable candidates such as referrals from existing
Directors, advertisement, recommendations from third party agency
firms and proposals from the Shareholders with due consideration
given to the criteria (the “Criteria”) which include but are not
limited to:

(a) Diversity in the aspects of, amongst others, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest (details of the Board
Diversity Policy is set out on page 53 of this Annual Report);

(c) Qualifications, both academic and professional, including
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Group’s business is involved,;

(d) Independence (for the INEDs);

(e) Reputation for integrity;

(f) Potential contributions that the individual can bring to the
Board;

(g) Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board; and

(h) Provisions of the Listing Rules.
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iii. may adopt any process it considers appropriate in evaluating the
suitability of the candidates such as interviews, background checks,
presentations and third party reference checks;

iv. will consider a broad range of candidates who are in and outside of
the Board’s circle of contacts;

v. upon considering a candidate’s suitability for the directorship, will
hold a meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if thought
fit, approve the recommendation to the Board for appointment;

vi. will provide the relevant information of the selected candidate for an
Executive Director to the Remuneration Committee for consideration
of the remuneration package of such selected candidate; and

vii. will thereafter make the recommendation to the Board in relation to
the proposed appointment.

B.  Where a NED (including an INED) is considered, the Remuneration
Committee will make the recommendation to the Board on the policy
and structure for the remuneration;

C. The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be interviewed by
the members of the Board, who are not members of the Nomination
Committee and the Board will thereafter deliberate and decide the
appointment (as the case may be);

D. All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the
consent to act as Director of the relevant Director (or any other similar
filings requiring the relevant Director to acknowledge or accept the
appointment as Director (as the case may be) to be filed) with the
relevant regulatory authorities, if required,

E. The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend the retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving due consideration
to the Criteria, including but not limited to:

the overall contribution and service of the retiring Director(s) to
the Company, including but not limited to the attendance of the
meetings of the Board and/or its committees and the general
meetings of the Company where applicable, in addition to the
level of participation and performance on the Board and/or its
committees; and

ii. the continuity of the retiring Director(s) to satisfy the Criteria; and

F. . Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate
as Director at the following general meeting, the relevant information
of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to Shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and
regulations.

By incorporating diversity in the Criteria as abovementioned, it facilitates the
Company to develop a pipeline of candidates to the Board to achieve gender
diversity.
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EXERKS

Composition
During the Year, there were changes of the composition of the Nomination
Committee as follows:

(@) on 18 January 2024, Mr. Chan Chun Kit ceased to be the chairman and
a member and Mr. Lee Kwok Leung was appointed as a member and the
chairman; and

(b) on 12 June 2024, Mr. Lee Kwok Leung ceased to be the chairman and
a member and Mr. Ip Yun Kit was appointed as a member and the
chairman.

As at 30 September 2024, the Nomination Committee comprises an Executive
Director Mr. Ip Yun Kit (as the chairman of the committee) and three INEDs,
namely, Mr. Lau Kwok Hung, Mr. Lu Jianping and Mr Du Ning.

Summary of Work Done

Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be held at least once a year
and when required. During the Year, the Nomination Committee held four
meetings, mainly to select individuals nominated for directorships, review the
composition of the Board and the retirement and re-election of Directors,
assess the independence of INEDs and make relevant recommendations to the
Board during the Year.

On 30 September 2024, the Nomination Committee met to perform certain
of its functions.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 22 August 2005 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code, which are
available for perusal on the respective websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Responsibilities

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
formulation of the remuneration policy, reviewing and recommending to the
Board the annual remuneration policy of the Directors and members of senior
management. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach made
under code provision E.1.2(c)(i) of Part 2 the CG code to determine, with
delegated responsibility the remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors and senior management.
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Composition
During the Year, there were changes of the composition of the Remuneration
Committee as follows:

(@) on 18 January 2024, Mr. Chan Chun Kit ceased to be the chairman and
a member, Mr. Lu Jianping was appointed as the chairman and Mr. Lee
Kwok Leung was appointed as a member; and

(b) on 12 June 2024, Mr. Lee Kwok Leung ceased to be a member and Mr.
Ip Yun Kit was appointed as a member.

As at 30 September 2024, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
INEDs, namely Mr. Lu Jianping (as the chairman of the committee), Mr. Lau
Kwok Hung and Mr. Du Ning and Mr. Ip Yun Kit, an Executive Director.

Summary of Work Done

Meetings of the Remuneration Committee shall be held at least once a year.
During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held four meetings, mainly
to assess the performance of the Executive Directors, approve the service
contracts of the Executive Directors, review the existing policy and structure
of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of (a) the INEDs for
the Year and (b) a candidate to be considered for appointment as an INED
in January 2024 as well as fix the remuneration of two candidates to be
considered for appointment as Executive Directors in March and June 2024,
respectively. During the Year, since there were no Shares granted under
the Share Option Scheme, no material matters relating to the Share Option
Scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules were required to be reviewed
or approved by the Remuneration Committee.

On 30 September 2024, the Remuneration Committee met to perform certain
of its functions.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code, which are available for perusal on
the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Responsibilities

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for monitoring the Group’s
relationship with external auditors, reviewing the Group’s financial
information, overseeing the Group's financial reporting system, risk
performing corporate
governance functions as well as making relevant recommendations to the
Board.

management and internal control procedures,
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EXERKS

Composition
During the Year, there were changes of the composition of the Audit
Committee as follows:

(@) on 18 January 2024, Mr. Chan Chun Kit ceased to be a member; and
(b) on 26 January 2024, Mr. Du Ning was appointed as a member.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Lau Kwok
Hung (as the chairman of the committee), Mr. Lu Jianping and Mr. Du Ning.

Summary of Work Done

Meetings of the Audit Committee shall be held at least twice a year and as
and when required. During the Year, the Audit Committee held five meetings,
mainly to discuss audit planning in respect of the audit of the financial
statements, to note the position of the relevant annual results and interim
results of the Group, to review the risk management and internal control
systems and to make recommendation to the Board of the appointment of
Auditor.

On 30 September 2024, the Audit Committee met to perform certain of its
functions.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS
The attendance of individual Directors at general meeting(s), Board meetings
and meetings of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee

EEERKS
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and the Audit Committee held during the Year is set out below: 2EEIERSEYWT
Nomination Remuneration Audit
Board 2023 Committee Committee Committee
Note Meetings AGM meetings meetings meetings
ZEZ=F RBZEE FMEEE BERZEE
M EEZEEE REEEXE g3 g3 g&
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung (Chairman) ZEIRR4E (Z/E) 1 11/11 " 33 33 N/A &
Mr. Zhou Shi Hao Bt REE 2 4/4 N/A 38 N/A 738 N/A i N/A i
Mr. Chen Zhirui BEELE 3 4/4 N/A 8 N/A R N/A 3B N/A RiEF
Mr. Xiao Libo (C£O) HIDR%E (BEHTE) 12/12 7n N/A T N/A FEHA N/A RER
Mr. Cheung Ka Yue REREE 12/12 i N/A R iE N/A RiE N/A RiE
Ms. Zhang Yan RIEMZ+ 4 3/3 N/A 8 N/A 58 N/A A58 N/A 38
Mr. Ip Yun Kit (Chairman) BCBERE (FE) 5 11 N/A 8 N/A 38 N/A B N/A 3
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Lam Chung Chak MWREBRE 6 3/5 0/1 N/A R A N/A B N/A RiE
Independent Non-executive B FHTESE
Directors
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung FEELRE 1112 1 4/4 4/4 5/5
Mr. Chan Chun Kit BRIREEEE 7 5/5 11 11 11 3/3
Mr. Lu Jianping BERTLEE 12/12 17 4/4 4/4 5/5
Mr. Du Ning HERE 8 5/5 N/A R 212 212 Al
Notes -

1.

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung was appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee on 18 January 2024 and resigned
as the Chairman and an Executive director on 12 June 2024 and accordingly,
ceased to be the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on the same date.

Mr. Zhou Shi Hao was removed as an Executive Director on 8 November 2023.

Mr. Chen Zhirui was removed as an Executive Director on 8 November 2023.

Ms. Zhang Yana was appointed as an Executive Director on 21 March 2024.

Mr. Ip Yun Kit was appointed as the Chairman and an Executive Director, the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee on 12 June 2024.

Mr. Lam Chung Chak retired as the NED on 29 December 2023.

Mr. Chan Chun Kit resigned as an INED on 18 January 2024 and accordingly, ceased
to be the chairman and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee on the same
date.

Mr. Du Ning was appointed as an INED and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 26
January 2024.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company’s independent external auditor is ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited (“Zhonghui”). The Audit Committee is responsible for considering
the appointment of the external auditor and also reviews any non-audit
functions performed by the external auditor for the Group. In particular, the
Audit Committee will consider, in advance of them being contracted for and
performed, whether such non-audit functions could lead to any potential
material conflict of interest. The remuneration for the services in respect of
the Year provided by Zhonghui amounted to as follows:

&1L % AT N &

KRB ZBIUIIMNERHM AP EZEGSTANER
PRERAE (THE)) - BEREEEEEEEEE
SNESAZ AT W AG SR RSN Z BAT B A E
ETZIFRHBEE - AR EXEE G ES}
EBZBMIMRRERTIFN 5 B&FF
ZHBEEEIREAETEAMEFTER KA
FE-RPEMMRHERFB MR ¢

RMB
NG
Statutory audit services EEZE R 1,356,000
Non-audit services (including review of IR (BIEEEP R EER
interim financial information, risk management, EREEIE AEPERIE UK
internal control and ESG consultancy services) ESGFA AR 75) 664,000
Total 45t 2,020,000

DIRECTOR’S REMUNERATION

The emoluments payable to the Directors and senior management will
depend on the contractual terms under the respective letters of appointment
or service contracts and are fixed by (a) the Board by reference to the
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee (in case of NEDs and INEDs)
or (b) the Remuneration Committee (in case of Executive Directors), both
by reference to, amongst others, their duties and responsibilities within the
Company as well as their qualifications and experience. No Director can be
involved in deciding his’/her own remuneration. Details of the remuneration of
the Directors for the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this Annual Report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 28 March 2019. Pursuant to
the policy, the Company should maintain adequate cash reserves to satisfy its
working capital requirements and future growth as well as the Share value
in recommending or declaring dividends. The Company does not have any
pre-determined dividend distribution ratio. The proposal of payment and the
amount of dividends will be made at the reasonable discretion of the Board
and will depend on the Group's results of operations, earnings, financial
condition, cash requirements and availability, future capital expenditure and
development requirements, business conditions and strategies, interests of
the Shareholders, any restrictions on payment of dividends and any other
factors that the Board may consider relevant. The Board will review the
dividend policy as appropriate from time to time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has delegated the corporate governance duties as set out below to
the Audit Committee:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and the CPD of the Directors and
senior management of the Company;

(c) to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Company and the
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report of the annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness. The Board requires
management to establish and maintain sound and effective system of internal
controls to safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the Group's assets. A
review of risk management and internal control system of the Group is made
at least annually, covering the material financial, operational and compliance
controls.

Risk Management

A risk register with risk rating and risk owners have been complied for
continuous risk assessment purpose. Risk owners are required to take
mitigating actions to address the identified risks and such actions are
integrated in the day-to-day activities and their effectiveness is closely
monitored. During the Year, the risk register had been circulated for
discussion and assessment of the ratings by key personnel and management,
after the likelihood and impact of each identified risk are considered. A
written risks assessment report with the identified key risks, evaluation of
related risks and relevant mitigating actions have been reported to the Audit
Committee and reviewed by the Board. The written report facilitates the
Board in considering the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks,
the Group’s ability in responding to changes in its business and the external
environment, as well as management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control system.
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Internal Control

The Group emphasises the importance of a sound internal control system
which is also indispensable for mitigating the Group’s key risk exposures.
The Group’s system of internal control is designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. The internal control system is reviewed on an ongoing basis by the
Board in order to make it practical and effective in providing reasonable
assurance in relation to protection of material assets and Shareholders’
interests. For any identified internal control weaknesses or defects, the
Group is committed to enhancing control measures to rectify such control
weaknesses or defects.

The Group has implemented a control system which includes a defined
management structure with limits of authority, a sound management system
and periodic review of the Group’s performance by the Audit Committee and
the Board.

Internal Audit Function

The Group does not have a formal internal audit function but retains an
independent professional risk management and internal control consultant
(the "RM&IC Consultant”) to conduct the risk management and internal
control review annually. The Board is of the view that in light of the scale and
complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to
appoint an external professional consultant to perform the Group's internal
audit function in order to meet its needs. It will continue to review on an
annual basis the need for an internal audit function.

Review of the Effectiveness of the Risk Management and
Internal Control System

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted an annual review
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems (the “System Effectiveness”) for the Year by
considering written reports prepared by the RM&IC Consultant, covering the
material financial, operational and compliance controls. The RMIC Consultant
set out certain deficiencies for rectification and improvement of the System
Effectiveness. The deficiencies were noted and agreed by the Board. The
Company will continue to review and adopt necessary policies and procedures
in order to improve the System Effectiveness. The Audit Committee has
annually reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience,
training and budget of the accounting, internal audit, financial reporting
functions, as well as ESG performance and reporting.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and significant
event that may impact the price of the Shares or their trading volume and
decides whether the relevant information is considered inside information
and needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules
13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions
under Part XIVA of the SFO. Executive Directors have the responsibility
for approving certain announcements and/or circulars to be issued by the
Company under the powers delegated by the Board from time to time.

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information in a timely manner in such a way so as not to place any
person in a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the market
to price the listed securities of the Company with the latest available
information. The Company has appropriate internal control and reporting
systems to identify and assess potential inside information. Dissemination
of inside information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing the
relevant information on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company according to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has been engaging an external professional company secretarial
services provider to provide regulatory compliance and a range of company
secretarial services to the Group in order to assist the Group to cope with the
changing regulatory environment.

Since 7 January 2022, SK2 Corporate Services (HK) Ltd. ("SK2")* has been
providing corporate secretarial services to the Company and Sir Kwok Siu
Man KR (“Sir Seaman Kwok")** has been nominated by SK2 to be the
Company Secretary with effect from the same date. The primary person at the
Company with whom Sir Seaman Kwok contacted in respect of the company
secretarial matters since then until 11 June 2024 had been Mr. Lee Kwok
Leung, the Chairman and an Executive Director. From 12 June 2024 onwards,
Sir Seaman Kwok has been contacting Mr. Ip Yan Kit, the Chairman and an
Executive Director in this regard. Sir Seaman Kwok delivered and attended no
less than 15 hours of relevant CPD training during the Year pursuant to Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

* SK2 has been selected as: (i) the “Best Corporate Services Provider” in the “Most
Valuable Brand Awards 2023” and the “Most Prominent Corporate Service
Consultant” in the “Most Valuable Brand Awards 2024"” organised by MythFocus;
and (ii) the “Most Innovative Services Company” in the “Most Innovative Enterprise
Award 2024 " organised by BUSINESS INNOVATOR.

**  Sir Seaman Kwok was awarded as one of the “Outstanding Chinese” organised by
the Outstanding Chinese Cultural Association, the Times Magazines in the Great
Bay Area and the Hong Kong Commerce & Industry Association in August 2024.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Memorandum and the Articles of Association (as amended) as adopted by
a special resolution at the AGM held on 14 December 2022 are available for
perusal at the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board is considering to amend and restate the existing Memorandum and
Articles of Association (the “"Existing M&A") in order to, among others, (i)
bring the Existing M&A in line with the latest regulatory requirements under
the Listing Rules in relation to the expanded paperless listing regime and the
electronic dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers and
the relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules, which took effect on
31 December 2023; and (ii) adopt certain consequential and housekeeping
amendments (the “Proposed Amendments”). As such, the Board may
propose to adopt the new memorandum of association and articles of
association (the “New M&A") containing the Proposed Amendments in
substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the Existing M&A and the adoption
of the New M&A will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders by way
of a special resolution at the forthcoming 2024 AGM.

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EGM

Pursuant to article 68 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
members of the Company holding alone or together at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the voting rights, on a one vote
per share basis, in the share capital of the Company which carry the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the right, by written
requisition which shall specify the objects of the meeting and the resolution(s)
to be added to the meeting agenda, and signed by the requisitionist(s)) and
depositing at the head office and principal place of business of the Company
20/F, Tung Ning Building,
2 Hillier Street, Hong Kong (or, in the event that the Company ceases to

in Hong Kong, presently located at Room 2001,

have such a principal office, the registered office), to require EGM(s) to be
convened by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and if the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date
of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting(s) to be
held within a further twenty-one days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or
any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene such meeting(s) in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that those meeting(s) may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting(s) so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDER'S MEETING

Shareholders wishing to put forward proposals for discussion at general
meeting should follow the procedures set out in the “Shareholders to

Convene an EGM” just above.
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PROCEDURES FOR NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS FOR
ELECTION

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director
are available and accessible on the Company’s website.

PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE PUT TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary by mail at the Company's head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong, presently located at
Room 2001, 20/F, Tung Ning Building, 2 Hillier Street, Hong Kong. The
Company Secretary is responsible for forwarding communications to the
Board and/or relevant Board committees of the Company, where appropriate,
to answer the Shareholders’ questions.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted and has been implementing a policy of
communication between the Company and the Shareholders (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”).

The Company uses a number of formal communications channels to account
to the Shareholders for the performance of the Company. These include
the annual reports, interim reports, circulars, financial information and
announcements published on the respective websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange (the "Corporate Communications”), as well as
through the AGMs and the EGMs with notice of meetings and form of proxy.
The Company aims to provide Shareholders and potential investors with
high standards of disclosure and financial transparency. In order to provide
effective disclosure to the Shareholders and potential investors and ensure
that they all receive equal access to the same information at the same time,
information considered to be price-sensitive in nature is released by way of
formal public announcements as required by the Listing Rules. The Company
also welcomes comments and questions from Shareholders at the AGMs and
the EGMs.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy, including but not limited to (i) timely
disclosures of the Corporate Communications; (ii) the steps taken at the
general meetings to ensure the opportunities for the Company to have direct
interactions with the Shareholders, the handling of queries received (if any),
and the participation of Board members, in particular, the chairmen of the
Board committees or their delegates, and the external auditor in the general
meetings; and (iii) the multiple channels of communication and engagement
in place, as well as the update of information on the Company's website in
a timely manner. With the above measures in place, the Board considers that
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been effectively implemented
during the Year.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

Each employee of the Group is regarded as an informal monitor. The Group
relies on each of its employee, at all levels, to monitor quality, ethics and
professional and the Group’s standards. The Group listens to employees’
concerns, receives recommendations for improving the Group’s practices and
controls and announces timely communications on policy changes and other
matters of the Group.

The Company has reviewed its whistleblowing policy to provide its employees,
customers and suppliers with reporting channels in view of the amendments
to the code provisions of the CG Code having come into effect on 1 January
2022.

ENHANCED GOVERNANCE

At its meeting held on 29 September 2022, the Board formalised in writing
an anti-fraud and anti-bribery policy of the Company and a mechanism for
ensuring independent views and input to be available to the Board with
procedures for the Directors to seek independent legal advice.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Ip Yun Kit, aged 64, has been appointed as an Executive Director and
the Chairman with effect from 12 June 2024. Mr. Ip is currently the chairman
of the Nomination Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee
and an authorized representative of the Company under Rule 3.05 of the
Listing Rules. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Ip holds a Doctor of Management from the Southern Cross University in
Australia.

In 2002, Mr. Ip was appointed as a visiting professor at the City University
of Macau (formerly Asia International Open University). He is a doctoral
supervisor and has been supervising students conducting various research.
Mr. Ip obtained the Six Sigma Master Black Belt qualification in quality
management in 2003 and the international project management trainer
qualification in 2008. In 2014, he was awarded the Chartered Building
Engineer designation, followed by the Sustainable Development Planner
designation from the UNESCO Hong Kong Association in 2018. A year later,
he became a member of the Institute of Public Accountants in Melbourne,
Australia. In 2020, he became a member of the International Federation of
Inventors’ Association in Geneva, Switzerland.

Mr. Ip has been invited to join the boards of directors of different companies
and has held positions as an independent non-executive director, executive
director and acting chairman. His understanding of listed companies’
operations extends to involvement in acquisitions and mergers. Additionally,
he was a Responsible Officer (Type 4 regulated activity) of Fruit Tree Securities
Limited, a corporation licensed to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities) and
Type 4 (advising on securities) regulated activities under the SFO.

Professor Cheung Ka Yue ("Prof. Cheung”), aged 52, was appointed
as an INED on 9 November 2021, was re-designated as a NED on 30
November 2021 and was further re-designated as an Executive Director
with effect from 26 April 2022. He has been appointed as the CEO with
effect from 27 September 2024. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company, including Guangzhou Mayer and a member of its general
management and control committee.

Prof. Cheung has over three decades of business and professional
experience in public accounting firm and across different industries in the
commercial sector. He has extensive experience and profound knowledge
in the regulatory, corporate finance, compliance, corporate governance and
academic fields. He is actively involved in public and community service. He
serves as the secretary-general of the honorary consulate of the Republic of
Fiji in Hong Kong.

Prof. Cheung is a postdoctoral researcher and an honorary professor. He holds
a doctoral degree in business administration, a master’s degree in education,
a master's degree in laws, a master’s degree in professional accountancy,
and a bachelor’s degree in accounting. He is a practising accounting in Hong
Kong.
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Prof. Cheung is currently an independent non-executive director of Peking
University Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (stock code: 618, shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange), Success
Dragon International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1182, shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange), China Hongbao Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8316, shares of which are listed on the GEM of Stock
Exchange), and MaxWin International Holdings Limited (stock code: 8513,
shares of which are listed on the GEM of Stock Exchange). He is also currently
an independent director of Primega Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
PGHL, shares of which are listed on the NASDAQ) in October 2024. He was
an independent non-executive director of Crown International Corporation
Limited (stock code: 727, shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) from 15 December 2022 to 31 July 2023.

Ms. Zhang Yana, aged 37, has been appointed as an Executive Director
with effect from 21 March 2024.

Ms. Zhang graduated from the JiangXi University of Science and Technology
in China in 2009 with a bachelor’s degree in accountancy and is an
intermediate accountant in the PRC. After graduation, Ms. Zhang had been
engaged in financial and taxation management and investment taxation
works in large state-owned enterprises and listed companies in the PRC
and joined Guangzhou Mayer, the Company's core operating subsidiary, as
Financial Controller in November 2022. Ms. Zhang has accumulated about 15
years' working experience and is familiar with the processes and operating
models of listed enterprises, good at system preparation, financial analysis,
tax planning and risk control, has excellent investment calculation and data
processing capabilities as well as communication and negotiation skills, and
is familiar with the laws and regulations of national financial policies, finance
and tax.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Kwok Hung, aged 77, was appointed an INED on 9 October 2014
and is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

He has extensive experience in financial accounting, auditing, taxation,
company secretarial matter and corporate finance, especially in mergers,
acquisitions and corporate restructuring.

Mr. Lau is currently an independent non-executive director of Huaxi Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 1689), and was an executive director and
company secretary of Rich Goldman Holdings Limited (stock code: 70)
(formerly known as Massive Resources International Corporation and
subsequently Neptune Group Limited), the issued shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

A certified public accountant in Hong Kong, Mr. Lau is a fellow of the HKICPA
and was a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
headquartered in England and an associate member of the Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants. Mr. Lau holds a Senior Executive Master
Degree in Business Administration from Charles Darwin University in Australia
and has obtained a Diploma in Insolvency issued by the HKICPA and an
Executive Diploma in International Business Valuation issued by the School of
Professional and Continuing Education of the University of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Lu Jianping, aged 60, was appointed as an INED with effect from 28
February 2022 and is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well as
a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.
In addition, he is the chairman of the supervisory board and a member of the
general management and control committee of Guangzhou Mayer as well as
the supervisor of each of Mayer Technology and Guangzhou Mayer Energy
Storage Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Guangzhou Mayer (“Mayer
Energy Storage”).

He has over 30 years' engineering and management experience gained from
working in a number of companies in Guangzhou and Tsingtao in the PRC.

He graduated from Jinggiao University in the PRC with a professional diploma
in laws.

Mr. Du Ning, aged 43, has been appointed as an INED with effect from
26 January 2024 and is a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committed. Mr. Du graduated
from the Law School of Shanghai Jiao Tong University Law School in China in
2003 with a bachelor's degree in laws. After graduation, he worked for large
law firms in Chongqging, China as a paralegal and lawyer, and accumulated
more than 20 years of legal experience. Mr. Du has been qualified as a
practising lawyer in China since October 2004.

Through continuous professional studies and work accumulation, Mr. Du has
a solid legal theoretical foundation, rich practical experience, agile thinking
and adaptability. During his practice, he has served in many legal affairs such
as real estate project mergers and acquisitions, corporate governance and
daily operation management, and has extensive experience in the field of civil
and commercial dispute resolution. He has provided year-round legal services
to many large state-owned banks and listed companies and successfully
dealt with a large number of civil and commercial contracts, company equity
disputes, patents and trademarks and other intellectual property disputes,
safeguarding the legitimate rights and interests of clients. During his work
in recent years, Mr. Du also served as the legal advisor and director of the
business department (at the early stage) of the western region of a certain
large real estate enterprise, was deeply involved in corporate business
decision-making and daily management and with his unique understanding
and comprehensive judgement ability, handed related business, finance,
upstream and downstream and shareholder relations of the company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Various businesses of the Group are respectively under the direct responsibility
of the Executive Directors named above, led by the Chairman. They are
regarded as members of the Group’s senior management.
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Report of the Directors

EFEHRS

The Directors are pleased to present this Report of the Directors together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Company’ primary subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) the
processing, manufacturing and selling of steel sheets, steel pipes and other
steel products in the PRC, and (ii) urban renewal project planning and
consulting in the PRC.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the Year is set out in Segment
Information in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Details of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set out
in the “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” section of the Management and
Analysis” on pages 46 and 47 of this Annual Report.

An indication of likely future development in the Group's business are set out
in the “Outlook” section of the Management Discussion and Analysis” on
page 47 of this Annual Report.

Details of the Group’s business review during the Year are set out in the
"Business Review"” section of the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 14 to 26 of this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has endeavoured to protect the environment by minimizing
environmental adverse in daily operations such as investing in energy-efficient
lighting and equipment, enhancing paper recycling to reduce consumption
and waste, and raising the environmental awareness of its employees. The
Group will continue to seek better environmental practices and promote the
right environmental attitudes within the organization.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with the issued Shares
listed and traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group is
principally engaged in the processing, manufacturing and selling of steel
sheets, steel pipes and other steel products in the PRC, as well as urban
renewal project planning and consulting in the PRC.
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The Group has kept itself abreast of the development of laws, rules and
regulations which have or may have an impact on the operation of its
business. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands, Hong
Kong, Singapore, the PRC and the British Virgin Islands during the Year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the Year and up to the date of this Annual Report,
please refer to note 39 to the consolidated financial statements for significant
or important event that affects the business of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Company is committed to maintaining, and has been maintaining, good
relationships with, its employees, customers and suppliers with a view to
fostering better mutual understanding and/or a sense of belonging towards
the Company. This is conducive to implementing the strategies and business
objectives of the Group, as well as its business development and sustainability
in the long run.

Employees

The Group believes that its employees are critical factors to the Group's
success and competitiveness in the market. To attract high calibre people
and solidify the management of the Group, eligible participants (including
employees of the Group) may be granted options to subscribe for the Shares
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. The Group also provides continuous
learning and training programs to its employees to enhance their skills and
knowledge so as to maintain their competitiveness.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The emoluments of the Directors are monitored by the Board
and the Remuneration Committee having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Customers

Customer satisfaction with the products and services of the Group has a
profound effect on the Group’s profitability. Its dedicated team of sales
people are in constant communication with customers and potential
customers to uncover and create customer needs and help customers make
informed decisions. The Group will continue to grasp the market trend so as
to timely adjust its operating strategies to fit the market requirement.
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Suppliers

Collaborative and mutual beneficial business relationship with the Group's
strategic suppliers and contractors is important to achieve higher levels of
efficiency and competitive advantage. The Group evaluates the capabilities
of its suppliers and contractors to determine whether they are able to meet
its requirement and needs from time to time. Developing and maintaining
good relationship with various commercial banks, financial institutions and
high net-worth individuals are always the main tasks of the Group because its
operations require on-going funding to maintain continuous growth.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The largest and the five largest customers accounted for 11% and 23% (Year
2023: 12.26% and 27.73% respectively) of the Group’s total turnover for
the Year, respectively. The largest and the five largest suppliers accounted
for 20% and 40% (Year 2023: 20% and 32% respectively) of the Group’s
purchases for the Year, respectively. None of the Directors, their associates or
the Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in these major
customers and suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business of the Group during the Year are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements. None of these related party transactions
constitute any connected transactions as defined under Chapter

14A of the Listing Rules.

BORROWINGS
Details of borrowings of the Group during the Year are set out in notes 27
and 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit and loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on pages 99 and 100, respectively of this
Report.

No interim dividend was declared and paid during the Year (Year 2023: nil).
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year
(Year 2023: nil).

No arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive
any dividends was made by the Company.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five years, including Year 2023 and the Year is set out on page 176 of this
Report.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the Year amounted
to RMB389,000 (Year 2023: RMB899,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND DEBENTURES
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year are
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

No new Shares or debentures were issued by the Company during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements of the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
102 of this Annual Report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
As at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023, the Company had no distributable
reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June 2024 are set
out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme previously adopted on 24 May 2004 had
expired on 24 May 2014 (the "Old Share Option Scheme"). Under the
Old Share Option Scheme, no options had been granted from its adoption
until expiration.
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Report of the Directors

EFEHRS

The Shareholders approved the adoption of the Share Option Scheme at a
general meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2019. The relevant details
of the Share Option Scheme were set out in the circular of the Company
dated 30 April 2019 (the “SOS Circular”). Unless otherwise defined, the
capitalized terms set out herein shall have the same respective meanings as
set out in the SOS Circular.

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to reward the Participants who
have contributed to the Group and to encourage Participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and the Shares for the benefit of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The Board considers that the
Share Option Scheme will incentivise more persons to contribute positively
to the Group, and facilitate the retention and the recruitment of high-calibre
staff of the Group.

Participants

Participants, including advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors,
suppliers, agents, customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters and service providers of the Group, will be determined
by the Board according to their potential and/or actual contribution to the
business affairs of and benefits to the Group. Employees and directors of the
Group, including full-time or part-time employees, directors, management,
consultants and advisers will be given incentives to work towards enhancing
the value and attaining the long-term objectives of the Company and for the
benefit of the Group.

Previous Scheme Mandate Limit

The total number of Shares issuable pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
was 174,800,000 Shares, unless the Company obtains an approval from the
Shareholders to refresh the 10% limit on the basis that the maximum number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Options granted to each grantee under the Share Option Scheme in any
12-month period shall not exceed: (i) 1% of the Shares in issue for the time
being; and (i) 0.1% the Shares in issue and a value of HK$5 million if the
grantee is a substantial shareholder of the Company or an INED or any of
their respective associates.
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Exercise Price

The exercise price of the Options granted shall be determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the Date of Grant which must be a Business
Day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five Business Days
immediately preceding the Date of Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.

Exercise Period

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during the period to be notified by the Board
to each grantee upon the grant of the Options (the “"Exercise Period");
such period shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant of the relevant
Option. Options granted during the life of the Share Option Scheme shall
continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant after the
end of the ten-year Period.

Vesting Period

There is no general requirement on the minimum period for which an Option
must be held or the performance targets which must be achieved under the
terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Amount Payable on Acceptance and Payment Period
HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee to the Company upon acceptance of the
Option which must be taken up within 28 days from the date of offer.

Remaining Life
The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a term of ten years from
the date of adoption until 30 May 2029.

Grant of Options During the 18-Month Period Ended 30 June
2022

On 12 January 2022, the Company entered into a consultancy agreement
with Sino Light Investment Advisory Limited (the “"Grantee” and the
"Consultancy Agreement”, respectively), and pursuant to which:

(i) the Company had appointed the Grantee as a consultant of the
Company for the provision of the Consultancy Services (as defined in the
Consultancy Agreement) for a term of two years from the Completion
Date (as defined in the Consultancy Agreement); and

(i) the Board had resolved to grant 174,800,000 Options to the Grantee
to subscribe for a total of 174,800,000 Shares under the Share
Option Scheme, subject to the conditions precedent set out under the
Consultancy Agreement, as consideration for the Consultancy Services.

An ordinary resolution regarding the entering into of the Consultancy
Agreement involving the grant of Options (the particulars of which are stated
below) was passed by the Shareholders at an EGM held on 22 April 2022 (the
"2022 EGM").
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Details of the Options
Grant Date:
12 January 2022

Exercise Price of Options Granted:
HK$0.20 per Share

Closing Price immediately before Grant Date:
HK$0.19 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange

Number of Options Granted:
174,800,000 Options (each Option shall entitle the holder thereof to
subscribe for one Share)

Validity and Exercise Period of Options:
Subject to the Share Option Scheme, the Options are valid and exercisable in
whole or in part for a period of ten years from the Grant Date.

Vesting Conditions:

i) 50% of the Options shall be vested on the date of completion of the
Joint Venture Agreement (as defined in the Consultancy Agreement) to
be entered into between the Company and a Business Partner (as defined
in the Consultancy Agreement), and shall be exercisable until the expiry
date of the validity period; and

i) conditional upon completion of the Joint Venture Agreement, 50%
of the Options shall be vested on the date of the completion of the
Equity/Debt Financing (as defined in the Consultancy Agreement) by the
Company successfully introduced and facilitated by the Grantee, and
shall be exercisable until the expiry date of the validity period.

Refreshment of Scheme Mandate Limit

Following the completion of the Consultancy Agreement, the then maximum
number of Shares that could be allotted and issued upon the exercise of the
Options, which might be granted by the Company pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme (the "Scheme Mandate Limit”) had been fully utilized.
The Board, therefore, proposed that the Scheme Mandate Limit be refreshed
and an ordinary resolution regarding the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate
Limit to 215,800,000 Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares in
issue as at the date of the 2022 EGM, was passed by the Shareholders at the
2022 EGM.

Shares Available for Issue

As at 30 September 2024 (being the originally intended date of this Annual
Report), a total of 215,800,000 Shares (excluding the underlying Shares
comprised in the Options that have been granted but not yet exercised,
cancelled or lapsed) were available for issue under the Share Option Scheme,
which represented 10% of the issued share capital of the Company on that
date. The number of options available for grant under the Scheme Mandate
Limit at the beginning and the end of the Year was 215,800,000.
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Particulars at Beginning and End of the Year

There were 174,800,000 outstanding Options granted under the Share
Option Scheme as at 1 July 2023 and 30 June 2024. During the Year, no
Options were granted, exercised or forfeited/cancelled or lapsed.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

During the Year, the Company did not redeem its listed securities or resell its
treasury shares (which the Company did not hold) nor did the Company or
any of its subsidiaries purchase or sell such securities.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to 30 September 2024 have been:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ip Yun Kit (Chairman) (appointed on 12 June 2024)

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung (resigned as Chairman and Executive Director
on 12 June 2024)
Mr. Zhou Shi Hao (removed on 8 November 2023)
Mr. Chen Zhirui (removed on 8 November 2023)
Mr. Xiao Libo (resigned as Executive Director and CEO on 27 September 2024)

Mr. Cheung Ka Yue (appointed as CEO on 27 September 2024)
Ms. Zhang Yana (appointed on 21 March 2024)

NED

Mr. Lam Chung Chak (retired on 29 December 2023)

INEDs

Mr. Lau Kwok Hung

Mr. Chan Chun Kit (resigned on 18 January 2024)
Mr. Lu Jianping

Mr. Du Ning (appointed on 26 January 2024)

Mr. Chan Chun Kit resigned as an INED with effect from18 January 2024 in
order to devote more time to his business engagements and due to his different
views with the other two members of the independent investigation committee
formed by the Board on 23 May 2023 to conduct an internal investigation on
the Allegations made by certain complainant(s).

According to article 95 of the Articles of Association, the Board shall have
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so
appointed shall hold office only until the first AGM after his/her appointment
and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting provided that any
Director who so retires shall not be taken into account in determining the
number of Directors who are to retire at such meeting by rotation pursuant
to article 112. As such, Mr. Ip Yun Kit, Ms. Zhang Yana and Mr. Du Ning, who
were appointed as new Directors by the Board after the 2023 AGM, shall retire
at the 2024 AGM and, being eligible, would offer themselves for re-election.
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In accordance with article 112 of the Articles of Association, at each AGM
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation and shall be eligible for re-election provided that every Director shall
retire from office by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. Lu Jianping shall retire by rotation and is eligible for re-election. All the
retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
2024 AGM.

BIOGRAPHIC INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 73 to 75 of this Annual Report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the staff costs of the Group with retirement benefit schemes
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the Year are set
out in notes 13 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service agreement or
an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of one year
commencing on the respective dates of their appointment and shall continue
thereafter from year to year until and unless terminated by either party by
giving the other party not less than one to three months’ prior written notice
according to the terms of the corresponding service agreement.

Each of the NED and the INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for an initial term of one year commencing on the respective
dates of their appointment and shall continue thereafter from year to year
until and unless terminated by either party by giving the other party one
month’s prior written notice according to the terms of the corresponding
appointment letter.

Save as disclosed above, no Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming 2024 AGM has a service agreement or appointment letter with
the Company, which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INEDS

The Company received from each of the current INEDs an annual confirmation
of their independence in the Year pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and as at 30 September 2024, still considers all of them to be independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts (except for the Executive Directors’ service agreements)
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company and the Group was entered
into or existed during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS, ETC.

Saved as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, no
Director or an entity connected with such Directors had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any contract, arrangement or transaction of
significance to the business of the Group, to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2024, none of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company had any interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which were required (i) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'/OTHER PERSONS’
INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2024, the interests or short positions of every person or entity,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, in the Shares and
underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:
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Cheung Ngan Beneficial owner 518,680,000 24.04
IRE] BumEBA
Harbour Prestige 1 Beneficial owner 410,000,000 19.00
B BEmBEEA
Zhou Shi Hao (“Mr. Zhou") 1 Interest in a controlled 410,000,000 19.00%
corporation
Bt (TAEE)) REGEE
Valley Park Global Corporation 2 Beneficial owner 230,000,000 10.66

("Valley Park") EmEEA
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Approximate
Number of percentage of
issued Shares/ the issued
Name of Capacity and underlying share capital of
Shareholders Note nature of interest Shares held the Company
FRIBEERTRG, AT BEET
RERRE 1R sz BRREZNE HEARNZEE REZBOESL
Liu Qiong 2 Interest in a controlled 230,000,000 10.66
corporation
2117 REGEE
Wong Shek Kwan Beneficial owner 217,320,000 10.07
FaH5 Bm#EB A
Cheng Siu Ang (“Ms. Cheng”) 3 Interests held jointly with 162,000,000 7.51
another person/Beneficial
owner
g (MEpded)) HEMATHEFEZE SR
BmEBA
So Pak Wing (“"Mr. So"”) 3 Interests held jointly with 162,000,000 7.51
another person/Beneficial
owner
B (Mg HEMATHEFEZESR
BmEBA
Notes: B 5T

1. As at 30 June 2024, 410,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 19% of the
issued Shares, were held by Harbour Prestige, a company wholly owned by Mr.
Zhou who was an Executive Director. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Zhou was deemed to
be interested in the 410,000,000 Shares held by Harbour Prestige.

2. According to the notice of disclosure of interests of Valley Park filed with the Stock
Exchange, Liu Qiong, who is deemed to be interested in 230,000,000 Shares held
by Valley Park under Part XV of the SFO, owns 100% of the interest of Valley Park.
There is a duplication of interest of 230,000,000 Shares between Liu Qiong and
Valley Park.

3. These 162,000,000 Shares are jointly held by Mr. So and Ms. Cheng. Mr. So is the
spouse of Ms. Cheng. There is a duplication of interest of 162,000,000 Shares
between Mr. So and Ms. Cheng.

4. As at 30 June 2024, there were a total of 2,158,000,000 Shares in issue.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2024, no person or entity had
registered an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares that
was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’' RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES

At no time during the Year were the rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any Directors, supervisors or their respective spouses or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

There were no contracts of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, nor any
contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company or its
subsidiaries by a controlling Shareholder or its subsidiaries subsisted at 30
June 2024 or at any time during the Year ended that date.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. Having been made specific enquiries
by the Company, all the current Directors have confirmed their compliance
with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

In accordance with article 175 of the Articles of Association, every Director
shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her as a Director in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his/her
favour, or in which he/she is acquitted. Subject to the Companies Act, if any
Director or other person shall become personally liable for the payment of any
sum primarily due from the Company, the Board may execute or cause to be
executed any mortgage, charge, or security over or affecting the whole or any
part of the assets of the Company by way of indemnity to secure the Director
or person so becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect of such
liability.

Save as the above, at no time during the Year, and up to 30 September 2024
was or is there any permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 9 of
the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of
Hong Kong)) being in force for the benefit of any of the Directors (whether
made by the Company or otherwise) or any of the directors of any associated
company (if made by the Company).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total Shares in
issue was held by the public as at 30 June 2024.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

EFEHRS

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” of this Report of the Directors, no equity-
linked agreements that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing Shares or
(i) require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by the Company during the
Year or existed at the end of the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their close associates had an interest in a
business, which competes or may compete with the business of the Group, or
has any other conflict of interest with the Group.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ DETAILS

Change in the Directors’ details since 28 March 2024, the last publication
date of the interim report of the Company for the six months ended 31
December 2023 required under the Listing Rules, are set out below:

1. Mr. Lee Kwok Leung resigned as the Chairman and an Executive Director
on 12 June 2024 and accordingly, ceased to be the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
on the same date;

2. Mr. Ip Yun Kit was appointed as the Chairman and an Executive Director,
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 12 June 2024; and

3. Mr. Cheung Ka Yue, an Executive Director, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Peking University Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (the issued shares of which are listed and
traded on the Main Board with stock code: 618) since 30 September
2024.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the Shareholders
are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are
advised to consult their professional advisers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the principal corporate governance practices of the Group are set
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this Annual
Report.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Year are being audited by
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited. The Board has taken the recommendation of
the Audit Committee that a resolution for the reappointment of ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited as the Auditors will be proposed at the 2024 AGM or its
adjournment (as the case may be).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
23 December 2024 to Monday, 30 December 2024 (both days inclusive),
during which period no transfer of Shares can be registered. In order to
qualify for attending, speaking and voting at the 2024 AGM, non-registered
Shareholders must lodge all the duly completed and stamped transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates with the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-16, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 20 December 2024.

On behalf of the Board
Ip Yun Kit
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B EETR S

T T e

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
MAYER HOLDINGS LIMITED =GR BRAQE)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Mayer Holdings
Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
"Group”) set out on pages 99 to 175, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2024, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 30 June 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Interest in an associate

Included in the consolidated financial statements is interest in an
associate, Zhuhai Hua Fa Yue Tang Property Development Limited (the
"Associate”) with carrying amount of approximately RMB10.7 million
and RMB10.7 million as at 30 June 2024 and 2023, respectively; share
of loss of approximately Nil and RMB46,000 for the years ended 30 June
2024 and 2023, respectively, and impairment of interest in an associate
of RMB Nil and approximately RMB198.3 million for the years ended
30 June 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Associate is engaged in the
urban land redevelopment in Zhuhai, the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"). Due to insufficient supporting documentations and explanations
of the accounting books and records for the years ended 30 June 2024
and 2023 because of the reason stated in point 4 below, we are unable
to satisfy ourselves as to the accuracy and completeness of the Associate
as at 30 June 2024 and 2023 of approximately RMB10.7 million and
RMB10.7 million, respectively, the share of loss for the years ended
30 June 2024 and 2023 of approximately RMB Nil and RMB46,000,
respectively and impairment of interest in an associate of RMB Nil
and RMB198.3 million for the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023,
respectively.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (cont'd)

2,

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
consideration receivables

Included in the consolidated financial statements are the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss in connection with (i) the
guarantee given by the vendor and the guarantor regarding the target
profit achieved by Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited and
its subsidiaries (the "Happy Group”) as at 30 June 2023 of RMB
Nil; (ii) the put option to transfer the entire interest of Happy Group
to the vendor as at 30 June 2024 and 2023 of RMB Nil and RMB Nil,
respectively; (iii) the change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of for the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023 of
RMB Nil and RMB Nil, respectively and; (iv) the consideration receivable
of RMB Nil regarding the compensation from the vendor and guarantor
for the failure to meet the target profit as at 30 June 2024. Due to
the facts that the re-development projects are still at their preliminary
stage and the Company did not enter into any further supplemental
agreement to extend the period for the achievement of the target profit,
the Company is taking necessary actions for the compensation from the
vendor and the guarantor regarding guarantee profit.

Due to the fact that the outcomes of any actions taken by the Company
are uncertain and, as mentioned in point 4 below, there is insufficient
supporting documentations and explanations of the accounting books
and records available for us to ascertain whether the target profit of
Happy Group can be achieved. Therefore, we are unable to satisfy
ourselves as to (i) whether the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss was reliably measured at 30 June 2024 and 2023,
and (ii) the accuracy of the change in fair value recognised in profit or
loss for the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023 and (iii) the accuracy of
the carrying amount of the consideration receivables as at 30 June 2024.

Prepayments and trade receivables

Included in the consolidated financial statements are prepayment
and trade receivables of RMB Nil as at 30 June 2024 and 2023, and
impairment for the prepayment and trade receivables of RMB nil for
the year ended 30 June 2024 and approximately RMB96.5 million and
RMB40.2 million for the prepayment and trade receivables, respectively,
for the year ended 30 June 2023.

As mentioned in point 4 below, there is insufficient supporting
documentations and explanations of the accounting books and
records available for us to ascertain the accuracy and completeness
of the prepayments of approximately RMB Nil and trade receivables
of approximately RMB Nil as at 30 June 2024 and 2023 and the
appropriateness of the impairment for prepayment and trade receivable
of RMB nil in the year ended 30 June 2024 and impairment of
approximately RMB96 million and RMB40 million for prepayments and
trade receivable respectively for the year ended 30 June 2023.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (cont'd)

3.

92

Prepayments and trade receivables (cont'd)

In addition, the Company received complaints from complainants
(including Mr. Zhou Shi Hao ("Mr. Zhou") and Mr. Chen Zhirui (“Mr.
Chen"), the then directors of the Company) whereby the complainants
made certain allegations. The Company had carried out independent
investigation on the matters related to the allegations. According to the
results of the investigations, there is no evidence to substantiate the
allegations. However, the independent investigators are unable to obtain
sufficient evidence to substantiate the commercial substance of the
payment and receipt arrangement of prepayment for purchase of steel
during the years 2019 and 2020 of HK$85 million (equivalent to RMB76
million) and HK$80 million (equivalent to RMB72 million), respectively,
and the payment arrangement of the prepayments to service providers
during the years 2019 and 2020 of HK$108 million (equivalent to RMB94
million). There is no alternative procedure that we could perform to
satisfy ourselves as to the commercial substance of the prepayments and
trade receivable. Moreover, due to the inconsistent information provided
by Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen during the investigation, we are unable to
ascertain the nature of the prepayments and trade receivables as at 30
June 2024 and 2023.

Consolidation of Zhuhai Mayer HuaFeng Development Co.,

Limited (“Zhuhai HuaFeng”) and its subsidiaries (“Zhuhai

HuaFeng Group”) and insufficient Accounting Records

(a) On 23 October 2023, the right to inject RMB14.7 million into the
registered capital of the Zhuhai HuaFeng, which represents 49% of
total registered capital, was disposed of at nil consideration to an
independent third party (the “Disposal”). In the event that the
Disposal was completed effectively, the Company lost control over
the Zhuhai HuaFeng as, according to the Amended Memorandum
and Articles of Association, the passing of resolutions in the
shareholders’ meetings of the Zhuhai HuaFeng requires the approval
from all shareholders. The Company’ directors consider the Disposal
is ineffective as it was not properly authorised or approved by the
board of directors. The Group is taking legal actions against Mr.
Zhou and Mr. Chen to recover the Group’s losses.

Due to the fact that the outcome of any legal actions are uncertain,
we were unable to ascertain the Group has effective control over
Zhuhai HuaFeng Group and whether the result of Zhuhai HuaFeng
Group from 23 October 2023 to 30 June 2024 and the financial
position as at 30 June 2024 should be de-consolidated from
the Group's consolidated financial statements accounted for the
remaining 51% equity interests in Zhuhai HuaFeng as joint venture
and recognised the amounts due from Zhuhai HuaFeng and its
subsidiaries of approximately RMB102,963,000.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (cont'd)

4,

Consolidation of Zhuhai Mayer HuaFeng Development Co.,
Limited (“Zhuhai HuaFeng”) and its subsidiaries (“Zhuhai
HuaFeng Group”) and insufficient Accounting Records
(cont’d)

(b) In addition, since 2023, the Group severally requested Mr. Zhou
and Mr. Chen, who were the management of Zhuhai HuaFeng, to
handover the accounting documents of Zhuhai HuaFeng Group. The
Group had taken legal actions against Zhuhai HuaFeng to request
the handover of accounting records. On 4 June 2024, the People’s
Court in Guangdong-Macau In-Depth Cooperation Zone in Henggqin,
the PRC had issued judgement to order Zhuhai HuaFeng to provide
its accounting books and records to the Group within 10 days after
the effective date of judgment. The Group had tried to enforce the
court judgments to obtain the accounting books and records of
Zhuhai HuaFeng Group. Up to date of this report, the accounting
books and records of the Zhuhai HuaFeng Group have not yet been
obtained by the Group.

Due to insufficient of supporting documentation and explanations for
accounting books and records in respect of Zhuhai HuaFeng Group for
the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, in addition to points 1 and 3
above, we were unable to carry out audit procedures to satisfy ourselves
as to (i) the accuracy, existence and completeness of the income and
expenditure for the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023 and the assets
and liabilities as at 30 June 2024 and 2023 of Zhuhai HuaFeng Group,
as detailed below, and other related disclosure notes in relation to
the Zhuhai HuaFeng Group, as included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group, and (ii) whether they have been accurately
recorded and properly accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements.

Income and expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2024
and 2023
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4.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (cont'd) FREERNVER @
Consolidation of Zhuhai Mayer HuaFeng Development Co., 4. IFfEEDTFLREARAT (THEE
Limited (“Zhuhai HuaFeng"”) and its subsidiaries (“Zhuhai ) EREMBAR (TEhEELEH)) 2
HuaFeng Group”) and insufficient Accounting Records EEABREARTS T @)
(cont’d)
Assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2024 and 2023: R _NMEE_SE_=F,B=tHE&EE
rafE:
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
ZEZNE —ET=F
~NA=+H ~NA=+H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFT
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERFZE 33 33
Right of use assets BREEE 180 180
Cash and bank balances BEKRIRTT4ERR 10 10
Trade and other payables B 5 e BR AR R E A & TR IE (19,441) (19,441)
Lease liabilities iEN==V (203) (203)
Consolidation of Shenzhen Hei Jing Photoelectric 5. FNESAERMAERAT (&) 2
Technology Co., Limited (“Hei Jing") ﬁ;‘*’.—é)\ﬁﬁ
On 9 February 2022, a former director of the Company who was also RIE-_F-_BNB>—% & TRE
a former director of certain subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC = S22 PENETFTFHRBASR =
using a suspected forgery seal, entered into an agreement with other BB EEEM AT IS 48R
parties to dispose of a 51% equity interest in Hei Jing, a wholly-owned SRBARMS, 300,000 HEREZ ( &
subsidiary of the Company at a total cash consideration of RMB5.3 REN—EE2ENBRE) 51%KE (THE
million (the “Disposal”). The consideration was received on 1 February FI1F)) REBR _ZE-__F#-_F—HE_ZE
2022 and 31 March 2022 and the registration of the ownership of the T HE=ZRA=1+—HWE  BEFRBEESL
equity interest was changed to the purchaser on 14 February 2022. RIEZ _F-_A+NHEEAEH- ﬁ'a
After the removal of the former director, the board of directors of the piEE% sSARExEg ((EF) ﬁuZ
Company (the "Directors”) carried out a review of the transaction. As ETEDT ARSI EHmRME34PT 8, %
stated note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, the Directors EFXAHEETENREBRAEBERANFE E
considered that the consideration of the Disposal was too low and unfair EEBRATEEBESSHEAGIB EHDA
and the Group would suffer a significant loss upon the Disposal. The HEEIFBRBH 1T AU ﬁ%gkt,ié
Directors are of the view that the Disposal is unenforceable. Therefore, FRER g;kﬁ@[ﬁ%fm ENNESH R R51%ME R
the Group instigated a legal action to rescind the agreement and resume HEFTER At ZRN1EAE SATMNIES
the ownership of the 51% equity interest in Hei Jing. Accordingly, ﬁﬁﬁ}z'/\jj\ﬁﬁ E.E'E.EAEEI*T @E&
Hei Jing is still accounted for as a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the TEC=F,A= +E¢¢r‘e’]ﬁ7ﬁk¥
Company and the financial results for the year ended 30 June 2024 and ATECNER_E_=—F,B=+HH ﬂa‘
2023 and the financial position as at 30 June 2024 and 2023 of Hei BRRHA SERNGESHBERE B
Jing were consolidated in the Group’s consolidated financial statements REAR55,300,0007T 5T A E A& T FRIE
and the consideration received of RMB5.3 million was included in other
payable.
Due to the fact that the outcome of the legal action is uncertain, we EE}j\ FEFIANERTE T R ELETE
were unable to ascertain whether the results for the year ended 30 June BENEE _E_UEEA_E =48
2024 and 2023 and the financial position as at 30 June 2024 and 2023 :JrEI FTFENEERN S _NERZZT
of Hei Jing should be consolidated in the Group’s consolidated financial TEEARBAES+THENM B RETERE
statements under HKFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” EEUMEREERE10FE M BEHREH
and whether the consideration received of RMB5.3 million is correctly A BEENESUMBERE UERDWAE
accounted for as other payable. AE185,300,0007c A H A EMNIBARRE
HIEHE
Mayer Holdings Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (cont'd)

5.

Consolidation of Shenzhen Hei Jing Photoelectric
Technology Co., Limited (“Hei Jing"”) (cont'd)

In addition, due to the insufficient supporting documentations and
explanations for the accounting books and records in respect of Hei Jing
for the year ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, we were unable to carry out
audit procedures to satisfy ourselves as to whether the following income
and expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2024 and 2023 and assets
as at 30 June 2024 and 2023 as included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group, have been accurately recorded and properly
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements.

ERYR A S CHES S

FEEEMEW@)
FNEENERMERAR (TE&L) 2

HEANER @)

W HRERERBEE S _MONFE_-F
CEFEARB=1THILEFENGRE R
MR REERT S RAEEANITE
ZER FERMAEMN EEBRFRSUHERE
FREUTERE_E _NER_E_=F,"8
=StHIEFERARBIURKR ZZSZNE
ERZEZ=FRB=+THMNEERSENEE
B BERRERD R RE A/ AR

Income and expenditure for the Year FARARKBR

2024 2023
—E-@lmE —EI=HF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TF T
Revenue 15 & - -
Other income HAu A = -
Administrative expenses THRHX - -

Assets and liabilites as at 30 June: RAB=1+tHNEEREBE
2024 2023
ZETmE —EI=HF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AR®TF T
Property, plant and equipment ME-BEKRFZE 3,745 3,745
Inventories FE8 1,137 1,137
Other receivables HfhfE W TR IE 7,647 7,647
Prepayment and deposits BNRIBEREE 4,569 4,569
Cash and bank balances & M IRTTAE R 12 12
Accrual expenses FEET R (9) 9)

Any adjustments to the figures as described from points 1 to 5 above
might have consequential effects on the Group’s results and cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2024 and 2023 and the financial position
of the Group as at 30 June 2024 and 2023, and the related disclosures
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

HEABIESHRM AT ERABEESH
BEY SEEERBE_T_MFR-_T"=
NAE=Z+THLEFENEERREREN
kR BEER-_T_NMERZFTZ=FA
=+ BB RRU G S HRETHIE
RARBEEETE-

ntH
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B EETR S

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (cont'd)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our qualified opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
In addition to the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section,
we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters
to be communicated in our report.

Trade receivables
Refer to Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance of trade
receivables of approximately RMB268,782,000 as at 30 June 2024 is material
to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment
test involves application of judgment and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history with the
customers;

—  Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

—  Assessing ageing of the debts;

—  Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

—  Checking subsequent settlements from the customers; and

— Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk in the
consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for trade receivables has been
supported by the available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (cont'd)

Inventory

Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of inventory for impairment. This impairment
test is significant to our audit because the balance of inventory of
approximately RMB79,307,000 as at 30 June 2024 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's impairment test
involves application of judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Attending the physical count to identify and assess aged and obsolete
inventory;

—  Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

—  Assessing the ageing of the inventory;

—  Assessing the net realisable values of the inventory; and
—  Checking subsequent sales and usage of the inventory.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for inventory has been is
supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the Company’s annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise

appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section above, we
were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate evidence from points 1 to 5.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other information
is materially misstated with respect to these matters.

ERYR A S CHES S
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rn:
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B EETR S

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website at: http://www.hkicpa.
org.hk/en/standards-and-setting/standards/our-views/auditre/.

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Chi Hoi

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07268
Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
ZEEEER

For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_ZF _MNEXA=+HIFE

2024 2023
M ZEI=F
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
&y at AR¥TT AR®TFT
Revenue = 7 714,408 538,163
Cost of sales HE K (627,021) (466,965)
Gross profit EF 87,387 71,198
Other income HAu A 8 20,036 17,310
Other net loss HithEs18 5458 9 (5.580) (336,571)
Distribution costs SAR = N (63,680) (42,845)
Administrative expenses TEREX (45,364) (35,937)
Other operating expenses Hi& &M (712) (39)
Loss from operations RERESE (7,913) (326,884)
Share of loss of an associate Eh—REHE AR 2 kB - (46)
Finance costs B F5 AR AN 11 (3.592) (6,263)
Loss on deregistration sTEHES 1R (69) -
Loss before tax PRI ARSI (11,574) (333,193)
Income tax expense FriginBE X 12 (3,300) (2,803)
Loss for the year FRNEE 13 (14,874) (335,996)
(Loss)/profit for THREEGER (B518)
the year attributable to: wF
Owners of the Company KNBER A (14,735) (338,846)
Non-controlling interests JEPERG R 2 (139) 2,850
(14,874) (335,996)
Loss per share SkREE 16
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) BExri#E (ARED) (0.68) (15.70)
EnERERAR 99
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
melEmkEMEEERER

For year ended 30June 2024 HEZZMFERB=+HLFE

2024 2023
—E@mE TEC=HF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AREF T
Loss for the year FREE (14,874) (335,996)
Other comprehensive income: Hih2mEukss :
Items that may be reclassified to BB EEEm ZEA -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating MEBINEREE
foreign operations operations PERERE (8,026) (26,521)
Items that will not be reclassified to HTrEEM A EERBZES
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating MEBIINEREE
foreign operations operations PERE%E 5,230 20,359
Other comprehensive expense FRAHEHMEEAS FRRE
for the year, net of tax (2,796) (6,162)
Total comprehensive expense FRE2EMZEE
for the year (17,670) (342,158)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ THEERGEENEZE
income for the year (FsZ) IR A 4828
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KABERA (17,531) (345,008)
Non-controlling interests JEFER R (139) 2,850
(17,670) (342,158)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBIARR

As 30 June 2024 R —ZE_WHE B =+H

2024 2023
—E@mE -
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
VioE: ARETT AR®&FT
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BEKRFZE 17 84,525 62,805
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 18 5,233 5,915
Interest in joint ventures REEhE R 20 = -
Interest in an associate R—REEE Az #ER 19 10,718 10,718
100,476 79,438
Current assets MENEE
Inventories 78 22 80,444 92,956
Trade and other receivables B SR R H A
FEU R IE 23 356,102 315,005
Financial assets at fair value BAREBESTAEBRZ
through profit or loss TREE 21 - -
Cash and cash equivalents ReEkREEHBEEE 25 57,554 46,388
494,100 454,349
Current liabilities mEAE
Trade and other payables B 5 FE T BR R R E Ath
FE (T RIB 26 195,921 147,469
Current tax payables RIHAFE RIS 14,912 12,405
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 553 627
Borrowings ER 27 100,000 75,000
Promissory notes AR ER 28 159,304 156,586
470,690 392,087
Net current assets MEEERE 23,410 62,262
Total assets less current WEERTREBEE
liabilities 123,886 141,700
Non-current liabilities JERENEE
Lease liabilities HEER& 30 - 344
- 344
NET ASSETS BEFE 123,886 141,356
EnERERAR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

EREMBIRRR

As 30 June 2024 R _MEB=+H

2024 2023
—E-mE TEC=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
=3 AR®TT AR®FT
Capital and reserves Be A Tt 1

Share capital B4 37 391,760 391,760
Reserves EX] (334,479) (316,948)

Equity attributable to owners of RNB)HER NEGEE S
the Company 57,281 74,812
Non-controlling interests PR 2 66,605 66,544
TOTAL EQUITY R 123,886 141,356

The consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 175 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2025 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Approved by:

Mr. Ip Yun Kit
BEogEE
Director

EF

1 02 Mayer Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

A 4l
TaN

BT

For year ended 30 June 2024 EZE T _NEB=+HILEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRFEE AL
Statutory Foreign
Statutory public currency Non-
Share Share Special surplus welfare  translation Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve fund reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
b2 RIVEE BHRE  EROAE  iRDEE  MEREER Rt Nt ERER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ABETR AEBTRE  AEETR
At 1 July 2022 RIZZZELA-H 391,760 213,309 67,570 25,892 4,950 (24,815) (258,846) 419,820 63,694 483514
Profit for the year ERER - - - - - - (338,846) (338,846) 2,850 (335,99)
Exchange differences on trandlating foreign operations BN ERELZERER - - - - - (6,162) - (6,162) - (6,162)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ERR2EETLE - - - - - 6,162) (338,846) (345,008) 2,850 (342,158)
At 30 June 2023 RIZZ=ERA=1H 391,760 213,309 67,570 25,892 4,950 (30977) (597,692) 74,812 66,544 141,356
At 1 July 2023 RIZZ=FtA-H 391,760 213,309 67,570 25,892 4,950 (30,977) (597,692) 74,812 66,544 141,356
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (14,735) (14,735) (139) (14,874)
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations ~ BEENERELZERER - - - - - (2,796) - (2,796) - (2,796)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREERTAE - - - = = (2,796) (14,735) (17,531) (139) (17,670)
Addition of NCI FEREDIEE - - - - - - - - 200 200
At 30 June 2024 RZEZMERA=TH 391,760 213,309 67,570 25,892 4,950 (33,773 (612,427) 57,281 66,605 123,886
EDERERAT
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For year ended 30June 2024 HE-_ZTZMEB=1+HILEE

2024 2023
—EE TT=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FT AR®FT
Loss before taxation PRI RTES I8 (11,574) (333,193)
Adjustment for: PR IREEH 2 HE
Depreciation TEs 4,985 4,791
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREESERE 647 327
Finance costs B AN 3,592 6,263
Interest income FE WA (626) (1,193)
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment loss B 5 AR
on trade receivables z CREER) HEHE (342) 40,631
Impairment loss on other receivables HhEWRIE Z BB/ E 3,833 2,613
Impairment loss on an associate —HEE AR 2 HEBE - 198,346
Impairment loss on prepayment FENMRIBEZ BEBE - 96,460
Share of results of an associate L —REHE AT 2 & - 46
Reversal of write down of inventories FE s Ao (69) -
Net loss on disposal of property, HEME - BERZEZ
plant and equipment BE1R3RE - 56
Operating profit before working capital EEETEHATZ
changes vl 446 15,147
Change in inventories FEEE 12,581 587
Change in trade and other receivables B 5 e AR 3R ELAth 8 U
MIEZ 28 (45,956) (91,172)
Change in trade and other payables B 5 FE T BR R EAth FE T
MIEZ B8 48,452 33,653
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KERE (FrR) 28ie 15,523 (41,785)
Income tax paid B PFER (793) (3,189)
Net cash generated from/(used in) RESEBARRE, (FH) 2RE 3
operating activities 14,730 (44,974)
Cash flows from investing activities REZHREHE
Proceed from disposal of property, HEWE - BERZEMERIE
plant and equipment 1,486 936
Payment for purchase of property, BEYE BMERERBNIR
plant and equipment (28,183) (15,520)
Interest received S5 e, 626 1,193
Net cash used in investing activities REEZEFIAZIREFEE (26,071) (13,391)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A A= =1
FRRERE
For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_ZF _MNEXA=+HIFE

2024 2023
ol 111 -3 —E=HF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBFT
Cash flows from financing activities FIEEZHREEHE
Contribution from non-controlling interests JEERERTE 200 -
Proceed from new borrowings MEEZREMIE 100,000 75,000
Repayment of borrowings BiERE (75,000) (7,637)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHAEARE (481) (117)
Interest paid BfFE (3,542) (2,033)
Net cash generated from RMEFESAFZ
financing activities REFEE 21,177 65,213
Net decrease in cash and ReERFEEESEEBRLVFHE
cash equivalents 9,836 6,848
Cash and cash equivalents FYzRERB[EEEER
at beginning of year 46,388 33,201
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate INEEXRESEF B 1,330 6,339
Cash and cash equivalents FRzHAEKRAETEEER
at end of year 57,554 46,388
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RE&RRESLEEBEE Z AR
Bank and cash balances RITRIREEER 57,554 46,388
EDERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MR R MY EE

For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

106

GENERAL INFORMATION

Mayer Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an exempted company
with limited liability incorporated in Cayman Islands and its registered
office is PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business is located at Room 2001, 20/F,
Tung Ning Building, 2 Hillier Street, Sheung Wan, HK.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group
In the current year, the Group has adopted the following new and
revised HKFRSs (which include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKAS"), and Interpretations) issued by HKICPA for the
first time for the consolidated financial statements.

New/Revised HKFRSs
el RETEAMBREER

1.

—REE

EDERERRAE (TFAT) A—HEEH
EFEAMMIZERRBRAST  Hitfi
M EE APO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islandsc £&
EEMMANEBEANE2RREARE2018
2001FE

FRB R —HREZERAT -ARIWER
BZIEXEBFHN GO HREM T3S

%éﬁ?ﬁﬂ&ﬁ@%ﬂ%%ﬂﬁ‘%iﬁ%

Z& HI

(a) BEBFRERAZ T RAETER
REAFE  AEEESMGEMBRERE
TEA T BEEREEMRAEMBERDN
WMETREEBIIEEUBREELN (HE
EMBEEBMBRSEN - SEEEL
(TEBFEN)) K2 -

Effective Date
EXBH

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts AP beginning on
BEBMBREERFE175E RIEEH or after 1 Jan 23
HKAS 1 Amendments in relation to Disclosure of Accounting Policies I ——
EEESHEEI5 BRAKEG SRR BT —RB—H¥z%
HKAS 8 Amendments in relation to Definition of Accounting Estimates BIEH E 5t
EBEESHERES BRgsHE I EE ZEST HAR £
HKAS 12 Amendments in relation to Deferred Tax related to Assets and

Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

BEBGETERE125
HKAS 12

Model Rules
BEBGEERE125

The Group concluded that the application of the Amendments
to Reference to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRSs and the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the amounts reported and/or disclosures set out in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_Z

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (cont’d)
(b) New standards and amendments to standards issued
but not yet effective for the accounting period
beginning on 1 July 2023 and not early adopted by the

Group

New/Revised HKFRSs

WA BB ERMBREER

iR IR IR R MY EE

THERAZTHLEFE

RN T RSB IEBMBRE
B 3: 110
(b) R-E-=HE+tHA—ABBzgHt

B EEmERRENESERL
BIRR R Z TR R ZERMEET

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning

on or after
RTIBRBAHZE
RN ESEEER

HKFRS 16
EEMHREERE165E
HKFRS 7 and HKAS 7
EEMBREENETHRK

HFEGTERETR
HKAS 1

BRGSTEASE195
HKAS 1
BERGEASE15R
HK-int 5
BRE-REER
HKAS 21
BERGSTERSE219%

HKFRS 7 and 9

EEMBREERFTRRESR
HKFRS 7 and 9

BERMBREENH7HRKLFINR
HKFRS 18
HERMBREERE 185
HKFRS 19

BRMBREEF195E
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

ERHUHRSEAF100R
EHEHEAIH28%

Amendments in relation to Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

AMERBERNEEGEZER]

Amendments in relation to Supplier Finance Arrangements

ARAMEERE L BT

1 January 2024
—Z2MF
—H—H

Amendments in relation to Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current

ARRBICERBBENDEZER]

Amendments in relation to Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

ARANGZENIERBBEZES]

Amendments in relation to Amendments to HKAS 1

BB BEERE IR BT 2B

Amendments in relation to Lack of Exchangeability

ARARZ AT R 2 &5

Amendments in relation to Classification and Measurement of

Financial Instruments

BREMIAZDEREZE]

1 January 2025
ZEZHF
—H—H

1 January 2026
—7—/\55'E
—RB—H

Amendments in relation to Contracts Referencing Nature —

dependent Electricity

AP RERBEAREREEBNZE

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

HZ1ERT

1 January 2027

B RKR 2 RIFE B =S

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures —H—H

FRAHEZAEENB LRIV E

Amendments in relation to Sale or Contribution of Assets TBD
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture HEE

ARREEEEREATDNGECR I MEEREITEZER]

The Group is in the process of making an assessment on the
impact of these new standards and amendments to standards and
preliminary results showed that their application are not expected
to have material impact on the financial performance and financial

position of the Group.

INEEIE T ERMZ S ER REAME
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2. IR T RBBITIERAMERE

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (cont'd) 28 @)

(b) New standards and amendments to standards issued (b) RZE-_=FtH—HRKBzE:t
but not yet effective for the accounting period HAR e EfmER RENEAER M
beginning on 1 July 2023 and not early adopted by the IR R IR 7 FAT R R BT
Group (cont'd) (€))

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11 Effective Date
ERAVMBREEVNEHENZEERE-FNE =l
HKFRS 1 Hedge accounting by a first-time adopter
BEBMBREEAFE15E BEAEMENHE PSR
HKFRS 7 Gain or loss on derecognition
BEBMBREEAETHR BRI 2B
Guidance on implementing Disclosure of deferred difference between fair value and

HKFRS 7 transaction price
BEBUBREERFEI1REIES ANBEEXZERZENIELEEENKE
Guidance on implementing Introduction and credit risk disclosures

1 January 2026

HKFRS 7 —m— A
BEBMBREERF1REIES] AN REERRIKE —B—n
HKFRS 9 Derecognition of lease liabilities
BEBMBREEAFNR BRIFEDEEAR
HKFRS 9 Transaction price
BEBMBREEAFNR RZ B
HKFRS 10 Determination of a ‘de facto agent’
BEBMBREERF1058 rEEREAINEE
HKAS 7 Cost method
BEBGEERETR R ASE

1 08 Mayer Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For year ended 30 June 2024 EZE T _NEB=+HILEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss which are carried at their fair
values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and estimates. It
also requires the directors to exercise its judgements in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As mentioned in note 21(3) to the consolidated financial statements, the
Company is taking legal action against Mr. Zhou Sai Hao ("Mr. Zhou")
and Mr. Chen Zhirui (“Mr. Chen"”) who are the management Happy
(Hong Kong) New City Group Limited ("Happy HK") and its subsidiaries
("Happy Group”), refuse to provide the accounting documents of
Happy Group for the years ended 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2024 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Therefore,
the Group consolidated the financial information of Happy Group in
according to the management accounts of Happy Group for six months
ended 31 December 2022 which are latest available financial information
of Happy Group.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 30 June. Subsidiaries are
entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the
Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity's
returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights
as well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to determine
whether it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 3. EEgETHE @

Consolidation (cont’d)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date the
control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
and consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a
subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is measured
at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration. Acquisition-
related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the
costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable assets
and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company's share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase
which is attributed to the Company.

1 'I O Mayer Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ_Z

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Business combination and goodwill (cont'd)

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value
and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss. The fair value is added to the cost of acquisition to calculate the
goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest in the
subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive income (for example,
equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income),
the amount that was recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised on the same basis as would be required if the previously held
equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill
is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The method of
measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other
assets as stated in the accounting policy (Il) below. Impairment losses
of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured
at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint control
over those policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights
that are currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing whether the
Group has significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 3. EEgETHE @

Associates (cont'd)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements by the equity method and is initially recognised at cost.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the
cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is
tested for impairment together with the investment at the end of each
reporting period when there is objective evidence that the investment
is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of the post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share
of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a loss of
significant influence represents the difference between (i) the fair value
of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that associate and (ii) the Group's share of the net assets
of that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to that associate
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the
Group continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For year ended 30 June 2024 EZE T _NEB=+HILEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties
have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control. Relevant activities are activities that significantly affect the
returns of the arrangement. When assessing joint control, the Group
considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held
by other parties, to determine whether it has joint control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture. A joint
operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations
for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a
joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially recognised
at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint venture in an
acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the joint venture's identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the
investment and is tested for impairment together with the investment
at the end of each reporting period when there is objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group's share of a joint venture's post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of the post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share
of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint
venture, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those
profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Joint arrangements (cont'd)

The

gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that results in a loss

of joint control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the

consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained

in that joint venture and (ii) the Group’s share of the net assets of that

joint venture plus any remaining goodwill relating to that joint venture

and

any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an

investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate, the

Group continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the

retained interest.

Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

114

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the Company’s presentation currency.
The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong dollar.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency on initial recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation
policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates when
the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Mayer Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report
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For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_ZF _MNEXA=+HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Foreign currency translation (cont'd)
(iii) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have
a functional currency different from the Company's presentation
currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency as
follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

—  All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the period in
which they are incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their costs/revalued amounts less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal useful lives are as follows:
Buildings and factory premises 5% or over the remaining term
of the lease, if shorter
10% — 33 /3% or over the
remaining term of the lease,

Leasehold improvements

if shorter
7% — 25%
5% - 33 3%

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and
office equipment
Motor vehicles 10% — 25%
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed

and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and
plant and machinery pending installation, and is stated at cost less
impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are
available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding lease
liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the Group.
Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at
rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and
the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Land and buildings 25% - 50%
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments prepaid, initial
direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the lease payments discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group's incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ_Z

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Leases (cont’d)

The Group as lessee (cont’d)

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an initial lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below
Us$ 5,000.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average basis. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of all production overhead expenditure,
and where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement
of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis
where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 3. EEgsHE W

Financial assets (cont'd) EREE @)

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following REBZESHEEDALUTHER .

categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and — WA EZEREE, &

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. — BAREBEAEGZEREE-

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost (i) HEERTAEZ THEE
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are classified SREE (BIEEB5ERETREMER
under this category if they satisfy both of the following conditions: ) MR & LU ES > B A LLEE

Al

—  the assets are held within a business model whose objective is — BENEEEEBZSELUWINAESYNIR
to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and EMZEBBRARNFTS , K&

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified dates — BEZEHNEHEMPREIEHEE
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest FaimrAaTNRERREZEELAEST
on the principal amount outstanding. B2HRERe

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the DS EHBIRASEN B EIRENR

effective interest method less loss allowance for expected credit R TEHE ERIE BB EIRstE-

losses.

(ii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (ii) BAAREBEAAIEGZZEZHEE
Financial assets are classified under this category if they do not meet STRHEBENATSIGEBER AT E 2K
the conditions to be measured at amortised cost and the conditions HERBEAAEBEESAHEMNZEKEZE
of debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive BB U BRIENEBRY S ESR
income unless the Group designates an equity investment that is BBl IERIEFEBE Z ERKEREAR
not held for trading as at fair value through other comprehensive AABESTAHMEZEWE ) TRIEA
income on initial recognition. 4B R ©
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently BARBEFAEBRZEZSHEEERR
measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising from changes ANABESE MARNBEEHFFESE
in fair values recognised in profit or loss. The fair value gains or MW R EERIER ARER N8
losses recognised in profit or loss are net of any interest income mAERZ ARNEBEW T EE BN
and dividend income. Interest income and dividend income are FREMNBWARKEEWA «F B WA K
recognised in profit or loss. & BU AR IEm I FERD ©

Loss allowances for expected credit losses JEERE B EZEGEEIR

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on REBEMEHBER LG E2EMEERT

financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are the weighted R EERE GEGIR AR EEEES

average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as EEBEZNMEFEHE TUZEHEEELY
the weights. EHZABRIEAMERE-

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss REREAFR  NEBRBESENBHEEES

allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the expected BraiEstesm T EZFEFIR Mt

credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected SEWESmM=aNEEEsH T AEZ=ZER
life of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) G E B ERURAKBIEIN  ETBEREE
for trade receivables or if the credit risk on that financial instrument has BEIERFEJAENZESH T EEstE
increased significantly since initial recognition. BHRBE ENSEHMEL ZFEHREEEE

(TRHATARAIEERSR)) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR IR IR R MY EE

For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_ZF _MNEXA=+HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses (cont’d)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected credit losses that
result from default events on that financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required amount is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 3. EEgETHE @

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives (including contingent considerations under business
combinations) are initially recognised and subsequently measured at
fair value with any gains or losses arising from changes in fair values
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract
with a customer with reference to the customary business practices and
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring control over a product or service to a customer.
Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that
contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group's performance;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

— the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the product or service.

Other income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive
payment are established.

1 20 Mayer Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ_Z

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the at the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes
which are available to all employees. Contributions to the schemes
by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost
charged in profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate
to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted
average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MR R MY EE

For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and its joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

1 22 Mayer Holdings Limited
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iR MR R MR

For year ended 30 June 2024 EZE T _NEB=+HILEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Taxation (cont'd)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the
Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @ member of the key management personnel of the Company
or of a parent of the Company.

(B) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary
is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(ili) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (A).

(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Company
or to a parent of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 3. EAGETHE @

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the financial statements are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the performance of the
Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of productions processes, the type or class
of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets other than investments,
inventories and receivables, to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

1 24 Mayer Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ_Z

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the grant date is recognised as an
expense in full at the grant date when the share options granted vest
immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact
of the revision of the original estimates during the vesting period, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share options
reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are measured at
the fair values of the goods or services received, unless that fair value
cannot be reliably measured, in which case the goods or services received
are measured by reference to the fair value of the share options granted.
The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised as
expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve),
when the Group obtains the goods or when the counterparties render
services, unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The

key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of

estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed

below.

(a)

(b)

126

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of the trade and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses
in the year in which such estimate has been changed.

Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the ageing
and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The assessment
of the allowance amount involves judgement and estimates. Where
the actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
allowance charge/write-back in the period in which such estimate
has been changed.

Mayer Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ_Z

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign

currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s

overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of

financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the

Group's financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances, trade and other
receivables included in the statement of financial position represents
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group’s financial assets.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. The credit risk on
bank and cash balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group has significant concentration of credit risk to its trade
receivables as the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers shared over approximately 16% (2023: 8.9%) and 33%
(2023: 20.7%) of the trade receivables respectively at the end of the
reporting period. The Group has policies and procedures to monitor
the collection of the trade receivables to limit the exposure to non-
recoverable of the receivables and there is no recent history of
default for the customer.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd)

(b)

128

Credit risk (cont’d)

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the following information
is used:

actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower;

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments
of the same borrower;

- significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is
more than 90 days past due in making a contractual payment. A
default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make
contractual payments within 365 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally categorises a
receivable for write off when the Group determine that the debtor
does not have assets or source of income that could generate
sufficient cash flow to repay the amounts subject to write-off.
Where receivables have been written off, the Group, if practicable
and economical, continues to engage in enforcement activity to
attempt to recover the receivable due.

Mayer Holdings Limited
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd)

(b) Credit risk (cont'd)
The Group uses two categories for

non-trade receivables which

reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision is determined

for each of the categories. In calculating the expected credit loss

rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each category and

adjusts for forward looking data.

HERRER @
(b) EERE @
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=tHLEEE

7 AR L

Rk =R 2 EERE R ERERER
AR -SHEEREEEERE AEEE
BEERZELEIBLLE > BRlalEk

BB FHAE -

Category Definition Loss provision
EYll & EERHE
Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay 12 month expected losses
KRIFIEE EMN R (IRREE /58 1218 B TR 18
Non-performing Significant increase in credit risk Lifetime expected losses
REXE EERRBREEIEM S HATEERRS1E
Other
receivables
and amount
Long term due from
receivables Joint Venture Total
H{th FE TR IE
REKREE
REAFE UL R IE TERIE at
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETT ARETT
Balance as at 30 June 2024 RIZZNFRA=+HZ#&H 50,000 27,182 77,182
Provision for loss allowance ESEEIR B E (50,000) (2,613) (52,613)
Carrying amounts IREEE - 24,569 24,569
Balance as at 30 June 2023 NZEZ=FB=+HBz#&eR 50,000 22,810 72,810
Provision for loss allowance BEEEEE (50,000) (2,613) (52,613)
Carrying amounts IREEE - 20,197 20,197
EDEREBERAR 129
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd)

(b)

130

Credit risk (cont’d)

The balance for long term receivables are considered high risk as
these investment companies are uncontactable and the Group
considered these loan made by the former management were
considered as deceitful acts and were reported to the Police
Department of Huangpu District, Guangzhou Municipality in May
2018.

5. BERAKRER @

(b) EERK @
EREREE SR EAEE SRR
REAENZEREAT LY MAEHR
DAZEHNESEREEL Y SRBR
FTAE UER _E—NEREAEEEM
HEBEARREE-

Expected credit loss rate FEHRfE EA51E =X % %
30 June 2024 “E-MERA=+H 100 10
30 June 2023 —E=FA=1H 100 11
Other
receivables
and amount
Long term due from
receivables Joint Venture Total
HthfEWFRIE
REKREE
REAFE WA EERIE #ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETFT AR ARETT
Loss allowance 5181
At 1 July 2022 N _FA—H 50,000 - 50,000
Allowance for year FERNEE - 2,613 2,613
At 30 June 2023, 1 July 2023 A =FB=+H~
and 30 June 2024 B2t BA—HR
“E_WEANB=+H 50,000 2,613 52,613
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For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_Z

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

iR IR IR R MY EE

THERAZTHLEFE

MBERAKRER @
(o RBESEMR

FERZERBTRERENKBHRR
PETFR UEFREERARREH
BURMERRRRARBETIE -

rEETREEZIHAORAT

Less than

1 year 2-5 years Total
D —F —ERF #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREBTT AR®BTT ARBFT

At 30 June 2024 RIE-MmEB=+H
Borrowings B8 103,485 - 103,485
Trade and other payables B 5 & T BR R R EL A FE (SRR 18 178,864 - 178,864
Promissory notes AREE 159,304 - 159,304
441,653 - 441,653

At 30 June 2023 RIZEZ=F/,A=1+H
Borrowings B8 75,111 - 75,111
Trade and other payables B EMERREMESTRIE 133,731 - 133,731
Promissory notes AR ER 156,586 - 156,586
365,428 - 365,428

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from its bank
deposits and borrowings.

Borrowings are arranged at fixed interest rates and expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risks. Other bank deposits are
arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk.

At 30 June 2024, as the Group has minimal exposure to interest rate
risk, the Group’s operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates.

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair values.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd) 5. BBEREEE @
(f) Categories of financial instruments (f) T AR
2024 2023
—E-ME TEC=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBETT AR®TF T
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at fair value through  #ZARBETABRZ EMEE
profit or loss = -
Financial assets at amortised cost BB AT 2 EMEE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BERESXIVSEEIER) 354,409 296,401
Financial liabilities ERaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost R HMATE 2 S EE 436,537 363,686

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 6.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants

at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value

measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categories into three levels
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1

that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any
of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances
that caused the transfer.

132
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REVENUE

For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_Z

The Group’s revenue represents the aggregate of sales value of goods

supplied and services provided to customers less goods returned and

trade discounts. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year are as

follows:

7. Kz

THERAZTHLEFE

FEBZWRZEHMAEF S HES KRR ®RS

ZHEBEEMBERRE
ZERWmDFWT

=R B REH

2024 2023
ZEZmE “ET=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®BFT
Sales of steel pipes, steel sheets and THEE ik R E MRS
other steel products 714,408 538,163
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: BERENREZIRD -
2024 2023
—ETmE TE=F
Steel - PRC Steel — PRC
i — il — AP Bl
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBFT
Sales of steel pipes, steel sheets and other $HEE \IIH REMIPE R ¢
steel products:
Indirect export sales B OHE 29,932 26,365
Domestic sales BN iHE 637,820 477,794
Direct export sales HiZzHOHE 46,656 34,004
Total “Est 714,408 538,163
Timing of recognition of revenue from MBERPEANEZ
contracts with customers: B
At a point in time B — BRI 714,408 538,163

Sales of steel pipes, steel sheets and other steel products

The Group manufactures and sells steel pipes, steel sheets and other
steel products to the customers. Sales are recognised when control of
the products has transferred, being when the products are delivered

HEME R REMARS
AERWERDEAHEESE A REM

05 m3 o

EEREFREES RIERXNTF

BERZE)  UBAERBETREMERZR

to a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer's acceptance of the products and the customer has obtained
legal titles to the products.

ERES BEREWMSERZEEMAR
Hﬁﬁﬁnuﬁégo
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

7. REVENUE (cont'd)
Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 60 to 180
days. For new customers, deposits or cash on delivery may be required.
Deposits received are recognised as a contract liability.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to the
customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.

8. OTHER INCOME

7. W= @

HERZIHE Z(EEH—MRB60E180K 3
ERAERERIMNEENEETR B

Re-HEDHENEE

EEMXNFTER RERERLESZH
HRRE > BB R A B AR 2 B B FEUGR

TR L BR R R B 23

8. HUA

2024 2023

ZEIME —E=F

RMB'000 RMB’'000

AR%TT ARBTT

Bank interest income IRITF S WA 626 1,193
Government subsidy* B 48 B 7,966 6,107
Scrap sales EE 35 & 8,018 9,558
Sundry income I A 3,426 452
20,036 17,310

# The government subsidy was received from local government authorities for
supporting the Group’s operation and encouraging innovation of production
technology, of which the entitlement was unconditional.

9. OTHER NET LOSS

f RARFAERKERKBE N EERMME
5 BB E NE#R AR E MY

EARMF o

9. HtEG#EFER

2024 2023
—E-mE —E==
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR T AREFT
Net loss on disposal of property, HEME BMERREZ
plant and equipment B8 2% - (56)
Net exchange (loss)/gain ER (B8 WmFaE (2,089) 1,535
Impairment loss on trade and other B RURR R At IE 2
receivables BERE (3,491) (43,244)
Impairment on prepayment T MIBEZRE - (96,460)
Impairment on an associate —EHERBZRE - (198,346)
(5,580) (336,571)
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For year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ_Z

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by
a mixture of both business lines (products and services) and geography.
In a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the board of directors of the Company, being the Group’s
chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment. The Group has presented the following
two reportable segments. No operating segments have been aggregated
to form the following reportable segments.

—  Steel — PRC: this segment primarily derive its revenue from the
manufacture and trading of steel pipes, steel sheets and other
steel products. These products are manufactured in the Group’s
manufacturing facilities located in PRC.

— Service — PRC: this segment primarily derive its revenue from
urban renewal projects planning and consulting in Zhuhai City of
Guangdong Province of the PRC.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group's chief operating decision maker
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets and current assets with the
exception of corporate assets. Segment liabilities include all liabilities
including trade and other payables and borrowings managed directly by
the segments with the exception of corporate liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with
reference to sales generated by those segments and the expenses
incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the
Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. The measure used for
reporting segment profit is “EBIT” i.e. "earnings before interest and
taxes”.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning EBIT,
management is provided with segment information concerning revenue,
interest income and expenses from cash balances and borrowings
managed directly by the segments, depreciation and amortisation,
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
net gain/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, impairment
loss on trade and other receivables, reversal of impairment loss on
trade and other receivables, write down of inventories, reversal of write
down of inventories, income tax expenses and additions to non-current
segment assets used by the segments in their operations.

iR IR IR R MY EE

THERAZTHLEFE

10.9 &R

REFEZEPIEEET > MEFIBILERE
& (EmKRRT) RtisoR SR IL75 AR
BRARBEEE HAEBREFEZEERK
B)RBE2REHMUDBE REIERREZS
o AEBE L2 TMER 28D 5 - 8
BHEE BB T 28| D H -

— H—FE Bz EETERERE
REBHE R RAEMBRR ILEE
MmN AERUR PR EERFERE -

— BRHB-—FE B ZWRETBREE
PEEREHRENRENTEREER
B Ko s o

DEMER - BERER

Pt E DR RN D EBEIERERMS
FEBREFEERRERUTEREREE
AIZ2HnHMELzFE EERARE

NEEECEMBERANEERRBERE &
FTEECEEE- DR EEERAZ D E
BEEBZMERR BEBZENERAKA
MEMRBEUAREE  EFBEEEEE.

Ko kEAEZ2BEIERSFEEZHE
BoURZEDBEEZHINELZEE
MEREHE PEESEIBL-TZ2RDE
BRHZEFEEEAERZ T BERMER
AR F3c 2RI EANFTAZAERS
XA BRERAIEAL B RAERRIERR
Ao

e R ARG ERA BN 2D BER
EEETEREAMUTEEZDEER
Wm REBSNHMEREEZRSERKRE
EZHRBWA KRB INEREH RARE
Bt ABRDzEMEEZAABEEH I
EME- -BERRFEzZNE HRFE-BS
EWERR R EMEWRIBEZ BERIE B
R W BiR 0 B L th P W R TE 2 R (E s 1R B E]
WoRFE - MBFEERRD RS RARE
BENENEENEAZIFRSNHEE-
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

10.9HER @

136

Segment results, assets and liabilities (cont’d)
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to

the Group's chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource

allocation and assessment of segment performance for the year ended

30 June 2024 and 2023 is set out below:

Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

DEBER

BEERGRE @

BHE_ T NMERN_ZE_=ZF,BA=1+HILE
FE BRAEENERSFIZENEHET
REFEEREBERAKRE  UNDBER&RTME

DERE > AREREIWT

AT 2®RDEEN AR

&'

Urban renewal

Sales of
steel pipes,

BEERBEZ

projects steel sheets
planning and and other
consulting  steel products Total
HEHE
WhEHER # R RE A
RE ReEA 5 m st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
A% ARETT ARETFR
Year ended 30 June 2024: HEZZ-MmE
~A _+E|JJ:¢I§ :
Revenue 6 - 714,408 714,408
Segment (loss)/profit D8 (518) /HF (106) 12,225 12,119
Finance costs RN - (3,541) (3,541)
Interest income FISWA - 626 626
Depreciation nE - (4,570) (4,570)
Amortisation s - (209) (209)
Income tax expense e - (3,300) (3,300)
Other material non-cash items: HtEAFEREEE !
Impairment on trade and other receivables BIEMRT K
EmERTIERE - (3,491) (3,491)
Additions to segment non-current assets REDHERDEE - 13,245 13,245
At 30 June 2024 RZZE_MEXA=+A
Segment assets NHEE 19,648 492,694 512,342
Segment liabilities NEE 19,648 261,284 280,932
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10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (cont’d)

4 AL

s
For year ended 30 June 2024 Ek;xt_v

10. 2 EEF @

DMER - BERER @

ST HRR M

THERAZTHLEFE

Sales of
Urban renewal steel pipes,
projects steel sheets
planning and and other
consulting steel products Total
HEHE
WhEHNEE #R &
RE K8 Hitiism 4t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT AR&FTT AR®TT
Year ended 30 June 2023: BEZZ-=F
AB=THLEEE:
Revenue Wz - 538,163 538,163
Segment (loss)/profit D (518) /&7 (335,733) 15,237 (320,496)
Finance costs EEN - (1,180) (1,180)
Interest income FISWA - 1,193 1,193
Depreciation e (7 (4,420) (4,427)
Amortisation i - (222) (222)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HENE \BERFZEZEHE - (56) (56)
Share of losses of associates FELHE AR 2 BB (46) - (46)
Income tax expense ik - (2,803) (2,803)
Other material non-cash items: HtERFREEE !
Impairment on trade and other receivables VY0
H BB RE (40,250) (2,994) (43,244)
Impairment loss on prepayment BMBEZHESSE (96,460) - (96,460)
Impairment loss on an associate —HEBEARZRERE (198,346) - (198,346)
Additions to segment non-current assets REDUIERHNEE - 1,679 1,679
At 30 June 2023 RZZEZ=F;A=+H
Segment assets NBEE 20,581 454,835 475,416
Segment liabilities NHEE 19,648 187,606 207,254
EDERBRAR ’l 37
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For year ended 30 June 2024 &Z_%

TmERBZTHIEEE

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont'd)
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or

11.

138

10. 7 ZEF @)

2RSS HHHBEE - BEER

loss, assets and liabilities: EEHEE
2024 2023
<l 111 - 3 =
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBETT AR®TF T
Profit or loss: AT EE
Total profit/(loss) of reportable segments B 23D EEF] (FF18) 4258 12,119 (320,496)
Corporate and unallocated loss ERKRDECEE (26,993) (15,500)
Consolidated (loss)/profit for the year FERNEE (BB) B5F) (14,874) (335,996)
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments 2N HTEELLEE 512,342 475,416
Corporate and unallocated assets TtERRIEEE 82,234 58,371
Consolidated total assets REBEERE 594,576 533,787
Liabilities afE
Total liabilities of reportable segments AERDBEHERE 280,932 207,254
Corporate and unallocated liabilities trERRDEER 189,758 185,177
Consolidated total liabilities REBEEE 470,690 392,431
Geographical information: Hhis kel -

Since the Group's revenue and assets are derived from customers and
operations based in the PRC and accordingly, no further analysis of the

Group's geographical information is disclosed.

Revenue from major customers:

No customer individually contributed 10% or more to the Group's

AR AEBRZ NEREERBUPEBEM
ZEPRER QI ERERERMEE

Bz E— e

FERF W

REE_E _NFER_ZE-_=FA=1H

revenue for the year ended 30 June 2024 and 2023. FFE UTHEENEFEAERKRI10%K
M ko

FINANCE COSTS 1. MR
2024 2023
ZEZmE —E=HF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT AR#FT
Bank interest expenses IRITH A 3,540 1,739
Promissory notes interest AREEFE - 4,210
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAaRNERS 50 20
Other finance charges HE %z i 2 294
3,592 6,263

Mayer Holdings Limited
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For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_ZF _MNEXA=+HIFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12.FRiRfRM
2024 2023
—E-@lmE —EI=HF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TF T

Current tax BRHEATR I8

PRC corporation income tax REI R 2RISR 3,300 2,803
Withholding tax FER - -
3,300 2,803

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at a rate of 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit for the year ended 30 June 2024. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the year ended 30
June 2024 as the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, the
subsidiaries in the PRC are liable to PRC Corporate Income Tax at a rate
of 25% (2023: 25%) during the year.

During the year, Guangzhou Mayer is accredited as a High and New Tech
Enterprise. As being a High and New Tech Enterprise, it was entitled to a
reduced corporate income tax rate of 15% for the year.

BE_Z_NFRAZTHLEFE > BT
BRDERGSHEREN K16 5% 2R F
SHREE ARNAERETEREBEEEW
R Er U ERBE_ T _WUFRA
“tELEEESAREBFERER-

RIBEPEAERBRE AR ERFAEKN B
REVER25% (ZEZ=F :25%) ZMEH
MR R ZEFRE o

ER BNETEFASHENLYE =5
15% 2 AR ¥ BRE.
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (cont’'d)

12.FfEREXZ @

Additionally, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to 9y B ZEENFE—B—HE P EHEE

foreign investors from the PRC effective from 1 January 2008. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty arrangement
between the PRC and jurisdiction of the foreign investors.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions are calculated at the rates prevailing

in the relevant jurisdictions.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the (loss)/profit

>__%:30

AREE.

IMREETIRZREBAERZI0% ZRFNER
He W EEBIINGEEFRE R EEES]
AMBHENZH AT ERBREZNHR

HMBNEZRE 2R\ IREME A EE 2R

PRSI A 2 B BRIR AT (B518) s M Sk LUE A

before tax multiplied by applicable tax rates is as follows: MEZEHEHWMT
2024 2023
—EmE =
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBETT AR®TF T
Loss before tax PRI AIES B (11,574) (333,193)
Tax at the rates applicable to loss HERBEZERNEBIEZ
in the countries concerned MESFEZRIE (1,667) (81,527)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERRBAZFE - (1,077)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A MRESZZRBEE 7,165 87,275
Tax effect of tax concession MBEEEZRBETE (2,198) (1,868)
Income tax expense for the year FRAERMAX 3,300 2,803
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For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_ZF _MNEXA=+HIFE

13.LOSS FOR THE YEAR
The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the

13.5 518
REBZERNEERLRIOEG, (%) T&

following:

TEREIIER

2024 2023
—E-@lmE B =
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR¥TT AR®BFT
Auditor's remuneration TZ B AT B =
— audit services — B LR 1,246 1,066
— other services —H MR 290 213
Cost of inventories sold* BEFEM A 627,021 466,965
Depreciation e 4,985 4,791
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ﬁﬁﬁ’f?ﬁ%?ﬁ% 647 327
Net exchange loss/(gain) BRI (W) /FEE 2,089 (1,535)
Net loss on disposal of property, Hj%%% o BB e 58 1 2.
plant and equipment B51E3EE - 56
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments £ L7 (BIIFEHHNS)
— Salaries, bonus and allowances —ErE EALRORRL 49,253 42,199
— Retirement benefits scheme —IRIRTEF] 5T BIHRR
contributions 5,884 5,908
55,137 48,107

# Cost of inventories sold includes the followings which are also included in the

t BEEFENAEETIEE (FstA LG

amounts disclosed separately above. WBEZEEA)

2024 2023

—E-mE ==
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®TT AR#EFT
Depreciation e 4,301 4,222
Staff costs BT 17,745 18,357

ETERERAT
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

14.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 14.EERESME
The emoluments of each director were as follows: REEZMSWT :
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors’ and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
BREF
£k e Ri2Ek Al Mt
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
30 June 2024 —E_MmERAZ+H Vg4 AE®TRT ARBTT ARBTT ARBFT
Executive Directors HTESE
Mr. Cheung Ka Yue ReEBTE - 360 - 360
Mr. Xiao Libo Hig s - 680 - 680
Ms. Zhang Yana RIEHZ L f - 191 - 191
Mr. Ip Yun Kit ECAEE g - 29 - 29
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung FEREE e - 540 - 540
Mr. Zhou Shi Hao BEREE d - - - -
Mr. Chen Zhirui TERE d - - - -
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Mr. Lam Chung Chak WrRERE b 69 - - 69
Independent Non-executive BIFRTESR
Directors
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung ZEEEE 138 - - 138
Mr. Chan Chun Kit BRIRGSE a 76 - - 76
Mr. Lu Jianping BERFEE ¢ - 360 - 360
Mr. Du Ning HELLE h 78 - - 78

Total for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZE_Z_M4E
NAZTRLEEEZRE 361 2,160 - 2,521
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For year ended 30 June 2024 EZE T _NEB=+HILEE

14.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS MVEZEREEMNE @
(cont’d)
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors’ and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
BIKEF
b i RoREh SHEIHER st
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
30 June 2023 “2T=FRA=TH i3 ARETT NG S AEEFT ARETT
Executive Directors BiITES
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung ZEBLE - 540 - 540
Mr. Zhou Shi Hao BHEREE - 373 - 373
Mr. Chen Zhirui RE&ERE - 373 - 373
Mr. Cheung Ka Yue RERARE - 360 - 360
Mr. Xiao Libo Hig ks - 591 - 591
Non-executive Directors FRITES
Mr. Lam Chung Chak WRERE b 133 - - 133
Independent Non-executive BIENTES
Directors
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung ZEERE 133 - - 133
Mr. Chan Chun Kit RIREGET 4 a 133 - - 133
Mr. Lu Jianping RETRE ¢ - 200 - 200
Total for the year ended 30 June 2023 HE_ZT_=F
NA=THLEFEZHEE 399 2,437 - 2,836
Notes: B2E

a Appointed on 9 November 2021 and resigned on 18 January 2024

b Appointed on 25 November 2021 and resigned on 29 December 2023

C Appointed on 28 February 2022
d Resigned on 8 November 2023
e Resigned on 12 June 2024

f Appointed on 21 March 2024

g Appointed on 12 June 2024

h Appointed on 26 January 2024

Except for Mr. Lu Jianping shall not receive directors fee effective from 25
March 2022, there was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.

a RW_Z2-_—F+—BhBEZARRZZ
“mE—A+/\HEE

b RIT-_—F+—-—B-+HHEZERIKZ
TO-F+"A+HhHBE

¢ RIBEZ-F-R-+/N\HEZERE
d RIZBZ=F+—A/\HEE

e RIBZMNFRB+IHEHME

f RIEZNF=ZB-+—HESRE
g MRIZ_MEAB+_HESRME
h RIBZME-—A-+XAESEE

BiHAEE T _F=-A"+HHEFE
BWHREFHRSI FRATEEEREAFR
MEEAMEZ 25
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

14.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

15.

16.

144

(cont’d)

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included
two (2023: three) directors, whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2023: two)

MUBEEKREEMNE @

ENFERIRREHFMALREER®R
EToF =R EF O REZNEN X

PDIFRB-BT=2(CE_=F M%) AL

individual are set out below: ZE&EFWT :
2024 2023
—E-mE —Z2—=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBETT AR®TF T
Basic salaries and allowances BEARFERER 1,427 902
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3B {K@F 5+ 2 {7 - -
1,427 902
The emoluments fell within the following bands: N FLUTEHR :

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
ZEmE —E=
Emolument band: i <& E E -
Nil = HK$1,000,000 221,000,000 7T 3 2

During the period, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors or the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend or declare the payment of any dividend
in respect of the year ended 30 June 2024 and 2023.

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately RMB14,735,000 (2023: loss of
approximately RMB338,846,000) and the weighted average number of
2,158,000,000 ordinary shares (2023: 2,158,000,000 ordinary shares) in
issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share
The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive for the year
ended 30 June 2024.

Diluted loss per share is equal to basic loss per share as there are no
potential ordinary shares outstanding for the year ended 30 June 2023.

Mayer Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report
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EEFEZTITERBE_ZE_NER_F
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16.5 R E18

SREXEIE
EREXAEENENRAABDEE AEGEE
HARE14,735,0007T (ZEZ=F | FEH
AR %5338,846,0007T) R EAR BT @R
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For year ended 30 June 2024 EZE T _NEB=+HILEE

17.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17.¢%¥ \ﬁ[‘ﬁ%&%ﬁ{ﬁ
Furniture,
fixtures,
fixture
Land and Leasehold Plant and and office Motor  Construction
buildings improvements machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
frfl RER
1HkEF  HENRRE BREREH NS RE HRIR At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBETR AEBETR AEBETFR AEBETFR AEBETFR AEBETR AEBETFR
At cost BEF
At 1 July 2022 RZE_"#tB-H 43,385 8,703 114,437 4725 3,526 9,842 184,618
Additions RE - - 127 18 - 15275 15,520
Transfers &g - - 4270 191 3 (4,794) -
Disposals tE - - (8,424) (44) - - (8,468)
Witten off it - - (992) - - - (992)
Exchange differences EREE - - - 1 118 - 119
At 30 June 2023 RZEZZE/B=1H 43,385 8,703 109,418 4,991 3977 20,323 190,797
Additions HE - 2,770 357 2,531 - 22,525 28,183
Transfers =1 548 3712 1,155 28 75 (6,452) -
Disposals HE (422) - (12,503) (390) (597) - (13912)
Exchange differences EREE - - - 2 2 - 29
At 30 June 2024 RZEZMERB=1H 43,511 15,185 98,427 7,416 4,162 36,396 205,097
Accumulated depreciation  E3HiE
At1uly 2022 RZE-"EtBA-H 37,91 4741 83,606 3613 1,669 - 131,590
Charge for the year ERg 47 185 362 110 401 - 4791
Disposals tE - - (7.436) (40) - - (7476)
Written off i - - (992) - - - (992)
Exchange differences ERER - - - 1 78 - 79
At 30 June 2023 RIZZZ%/A=1H 38,434 4,926 78,800 3,084 2,148 - 127,992
Charge for the year ERzi 465 209 3,629 542 140 - 4,985
Disposzls HE (380) - (11,145) (361) (540) - (12,426)
Exchange differences EREE - - - - 2 - 1
At 30 June 2024 RZE-mERB=1H 38,519 5135 71,284 3,865 1,769 - 120,572
Carrying amounts REEH
At 30 June 2024 KIEZMERB=1H 4,992 10,050 27,143 3,551 2,393 36,396 84,525
At 30 June 2023 RZEZZE/B=1H 4,951 3777 30,618 1,307 1,829 20,323 62,805

As at 30 June 2024, land and buildings, leasehold improvements and
plant and machinery with carrying amount RMB4,992,000 (2023: Nil),
RMB10,050,000 (2023: Nil) and RMB27,143,000 (2023:Nil) respectively
were pledged to a bank as securities for borrowings.

RIZEZNEAA=+H REEED A
AR#4,992, 0007_5 (:;:5 TE) VAR
#10,050,0007C (ZEZ=F ! &) R AR
27,143,0007c (ZEZ =4 ﬁ)E’JithL;%
M HEREERBERIEBEERTIRITIE
BERZIER
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

18.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

18.(FREE

Disclosures of lease-related items: THEEMEBEERE
2024 2023
ZEZmE ZEI=HF
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR%TT ARBTT
At 30 June: WARB=+H:
Right-of-use assets EREEE
- Land and buildings — T REF 5,233 5,915
5,233 5,915
The maturity analysis, based on AEBENRRMR[ES R
undiscounted cash flows, of the HEaBEIHBE2MUWT
Group's lease liabilities is as follows:
— Less than 1 year —bR—%F 565 676
— Between 1 and 2 years ——EWMF - 356
565 1,032
Year ended 30 June: BEAB=1+HLEE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEEITESH
- Land and buildings — T RETF 647 327
Lease interests HEFS 50 20
Expenses related to short-term lease FREATEE BRI - -
Total cash outflow for leases HERESMEAELE 481 117
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFRAEEE - 865

The Group leases various land and buildings. Lease agreements are

typically made for fixed periods of 2 years. Lease terms are negotiated

on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and

conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants and the

leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_ZF _MNEXA=+HIFE

19.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

19. 0 —HBEAT 2 #Ex

2024 2023
ZEIME —ET=HF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR¥F T

Unlisted investments FELmERE
— Share of net assets —EFEE 161,725 161,725
Goodwill [EES 47,339 47,339
209,064 209,064
Less: Impairment B ORE (198,346) (198,346)
10,718 10,718

Details of the Group’s associates at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023 are

WZZ_WEENB=+HR_EZ=F<A

as follows: =tH AEEBME QB ZEBOT -
Percentage
of the
ownership
Place of Issued/ interest
incorporation/ paid-up held by the Principal
Name registration capital Company activities
AT
B3 Ay B#1T EREEED
s 5F it ith 25 BRERE BatE FEEH
Zhuhai Hua Fa Yue Tang Property the People Republic Registered capital of 49% Land redevelopment
Development Limited* of China (“PRC") RMB 10,000,000
KEEZRAEEERZARAR REAREME ER=N THIEERE
(T E)) AR #10,000,0007T
EDERERAT
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For year ended 30 June 2024 H#Z—Z _UFA=1+HILEFE

19.

148

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (cont’'d)

Note:

The re-development of Yuetang Village under Happy Group is still considered
to be at its preliminary development stage. In addition, there has been certain
litigation against the former management of Happy Group involving their conduct.
Therefore, the re-development of Yuetang Village is remained standstill after the
event of COVID-19 pandemic and the operations of Happy Group are significantly
affected. The Company’s board of directors (the “Board”) and its audit committee
have come into conclusion that it is not commercially reasonable for the Company
to continue to invest its time and resources in Happy Group as the prospect of the
business operated thereunder remains largely uncertain. Notwithstanding that the
Group has taken legal actions against the former management of Happy Group
on the potential losses suffered by the Group in connection with the Sale and
Purchase Agreement, it is considered that the business of Happy Group cannot be
continued. Furthermore, as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
15 January 2024, it came to the Board’s attention that the unauthorized disposal
took place without the authorization and/or approval from the Board. In the event
that the unauthorized disposal was completed effectively (which the Group denies),
the Group lost control over Zhuhai Huafeng and its subsidiaries. Under such
circumstances, the Board had started considering the option of disposing of Happy
Group. Having considered the re-development progress of Yuetang Village; the risks
associated with the unauthorized disposal; and the litigation involving matters of
Happy Group, the consideration of the disposal would be minimal.

In estimating the recoverable amount of the interest in an associate as at 30 June
2023, the Group allocated the consideration for the disposal to the assets and
liabilities of Happy Group to be disposed of, with residual value being allocated
to the interest in an associate. On this basis, an impairment of approximately
RMB198,346,000 was recognized during the year ended 30 June 2023.

Mayer Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report

19.78 — R HkE

/|

NEZ D @

BT

BEEBMBETHAENEHRNRERER L &
BEER-ILHIEETHHREERMNEEENTH
Bk Al RFBREER BENNEMRINE
REFRS REEENEHTINEARE K E
HEFEE (EF8) RAEZEZEGFHGEHR T
PREEHEENEBISERRSNTREE
HItEERAKBRERY AR MSEHE LB
FRE-BEFEEENAERBEZNAEEHH
ERNETEREYREEROE EERRIUEAET

B IER R REEEBEB A LI S
ABEBAA-E_NE-—B+LANAEMKE
EFIRE RAERBNHEFHRERERE
EERERHMERERTETH - HREEE
NHEREEAMTH GIEAERTFUER) &
EERREHRBELRANBARNEGE R
EERT EFEERBEEREREETNEE
H-EZBIAEBNNEMER  BARACRENLE
FHAMNERE S R R EEBEHRSRMR HE
EEMNRERMTEMY-

AR ZIZ=FA=+HBE G
WEl&BER AERBHESTEREEBTE th‘i
CREACAEEREGE MAKSEIETHEA
B RIEE BE_T_=F,A=+HI1E
FEERDHREN AR198,346,0007T



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR IR IR R MY EE

For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_ZF _MNEXA=+HIFE

19.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (cont'd) 19.0—HBERT 2 #E @
The following table shows information of an associate that are material TRETHAERBEAZHEAT 2B
to the Group. This associate is accounted for in the consolidated BloZE NI EREINEAMHFRENR

financial statements using the equity method. The summarised financial
information presented is based on the HKFRS financial statements of the

iR -PREFMBERBEDUZEHER
BREEBMBREEIMERZMBRE

associates. AiKiE o
2024 2023
—EmE ==
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AER®TF T
At 30 June WRB=+H
Non-current assets ERBEE 438,888 438,888
Current assets MENE E 912 912
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (109,612) (109,612)
Current liabilities MENEE (138) (138)
Net assets BEFE 330,050 330,050
Group'’s share of net assets KEERELFEE 161,725 161,725
Goodwill gE
Less: impairment B ORE 47,339 47,339
Group'’s share of carrying amount of AEEEEERIREE
interests (198,346) (198,346)
10,718 10,718
Year ended 30 June 2024 and 2023 HBE_E_MER-_ZT_-_=F
NB=Z+HIEEE
Revenue Wz - -
Loss for the year FNEE = (94)
*  For identification purpose only *  (ERHEF
EnERERAR ’l 49
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

20.INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES 20 B8 EE IR

2024 2023
—E-@mE 2=
RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARBFT
Unlisted investments FELEHEE
— Share of net assets —EEFEE 50,971 50,971
Less: Impairment BRE (50,971) (50,971)

RIE_WEARB=Z+HAR_E_=ZF,~H
R AEEEEREZFBUOT .

Details of the Group’s joint ventures at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023
are as follows:

150

Percentage
of the
ownership
Place of Issued/ Group's interest
incorporation/ paid-up effective held by the Principal
Name registration capital interest Company activities
KREARE
8817/ FEEZ EEEREL
kY SEMRBRIL, 5 MRt 2 BRRE BREE BAE XEEH
GERRAEHEBRERAT the People Republic of Registered 50.02% - Real estate development
China ("PRC") capital of services
RMB500,000
FEANREMNE (ThE)) HEER EHESRRH
AR
500,0007%
Glory World Development Limited the British Virgin Islands 21,200,000 ordinary 49.80% 49.80% Investment holdings
shares of USD1 each
EBELEE 21,200,000 RELZK
SREEI1ETZ
il
Sinowise Development Limited the British Virgin Islands 9,000,000 ordinary 49.80% - Trading of coal
shares of USD1 each
HEBELEE 9,000,0008% HEES
SKEEI1ETZ
EREL
Elternal Galaxy Limited the British Virgin Islands 12,100,000 ordinary 49.80% - Trading of iron
shares of USD1 each
HBRELHS 12,100,0005% HEES
SREBIETZ
BER
Grace Capital Group Limited Samoa 1 ordinary share of 49.80% - Inactive
usD1
BELHS REEIETZ hik:d—E
BER
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For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_ZF _MNEXA=+HIFE

20.INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (cont'd)

21.

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's share of the
amounts of individually immaterial joint venture that are accounted for
using the equity method.

20 RERE D @
TREET I A BE 2 A BB AR
EAAEOE B

2024 2023
ZEmE ZEI=HF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®BTFT
At 30 June WARBA=+H

Carrying amounts of interest B2 REEER - -

Year ended 30 June HERA=+BHIEEE
Loss for the year FENEE - 10
Other comprehensive income Hiha2mEmlm - -
Total comprehensive income T EWHAEEE - 10

The accumulated losses not recognised were approximately
RMB2,343,000 (Year ended 30 June 2023: RMB2,343,000).

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

FERZRIBEOAAR2,343,0007T
(BE_ZT_=—F"B=1tHILEE AR
#2,343,0007T) ©

MNBAREENABRZEMEE

2024 2023

—EmE T =F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AR®FT

Contingent consideration receivable FEUWL S AL B = -

Put option Soh AR = -
EDERERAT ’l 5’|
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For year ended 30 June 2024 H#Z—Z _UFA=1+HILEFE

21.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (cont’d)

Note:

152

The contingent consideration receivable was related to the profit guarantee by
Harbour Prestige International Limited (the “Vendor”) when acquiring 100%
equity interest in Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited (“Happy HK")
which completed in 2019. Pursuant to the agreement, the consideration
shares shall be released and the promissory note shell be repaid to the
Vendor provided that the consolidated net profit after tax of Happy HK and
its subsidiaries (the “Happy Group”) for three years ended 31 December
2019, 2020 and 2021 exceed HK$260,000,000 (the “Target Profit”). On 11
March 2022, the Group and the Vendor entered supplementary agreement to
extended the guarantee period to 30 June 2023 pursuant to which, the long
stop date has been extended to 31 July 2023.

The re-development of the Yuetang Village Project is still in preliminary stage
as a result of, among other reasons, the impact of certain preventive measures
by the local government in response to the outspread of the COVID-19 since
2019. Following the recent disagreements among the Vendor, the guarantor
and certain directors of the Company, the re-development of the Yuetang
Village Project has been put on-hold despite the recovery of the COVID-19.
The directors of the Company believes that Happy Group will not be able to
achieve the Target Profit in the foreseeable future so the Company did not
enter into further supplemental agreement to extend the period for Happy
HK to achieve the Target Profit. The Company is taking legal actions to claim
against the Vendor and guarantor to compensate for failure to achieve the
Target Profit. Since the outcomes of legal actions are uncertain, the directors
of the Company estimate the consideration receivable as zero.

The Vendor agrees that, in the event that the Target Profit equals to or less
than HK$130 million, the Group is granted the right to exercise put option at
any time during the one year from the day on which the Group confirmed to
the Vendor the Target Profit is equal or less than HK$130 million, to transfer
the entire issued share capital of Happy HK to the Vendor at the price of sum
of all funds invested Group.

Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen, who are the management Happy Group, have
disputed with the Group. The Group is unable to obtain the financial
information of Happy Group for the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2024. The
Group is taking legal action against Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen to request the
handover of the accounting documents of Happy Group. On 4 June 2024, the
People’s Court in Guangdong-Macau In-Depth Cooperation Zone in Henggin
had issued judgement to order Zhuhai Mayer HuaFeng Group, the subsidiaries
of Happy HK, to provide its accounting books and records to the Group
within 10 days after the effective date of judgment. The Group had tried to
enforce the court judgments to obtain the accounting books and records of
Zhuhai Mayer HuaFeng Group. Up to date of this report, the accounting books
and records of the Zhuhai Mayer HuaFeng Group has not yet been obtained
by the Group. Regarding the uncertainty in obtaining sufficient accounting
documents for measuring the fair value of the financial assets, the directors of
the Company estimate the fair value of the financial assets as zero.
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For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_ZF _MNEXA=+HIFE

22.INVENTORIES 22.778
2024 2023
—EmE —ET=HF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®BTFT
Raw materials R A7 35,491 34,663
Work-in-progress TRE 716 1,872
Finished goods &l 42,092 54,017
Goods-in-transit TRE M 2,145 2,404
80,444 92,956

23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23.5 7 U AR TR R 2t FE W R IR

2024 2023

—EE —E-=
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT AE®TF T
Trade receivables B 5 EWERR 311,468 271,215
Less: allowance for doubtful debts B RERES (42,686) (43,028)
268,782 228,187
Bills receivables & U = 5 3,504 1,629
Prepayment and other deposit AN RIERE ML E 59,247 64,992
Other receivables Hih g W18 23,302 18,930
Amount due from joint venture FEW & E BEMIE 1,267 1,267
356,102 315,005
Trade receivables are due within 60 to 180 days from the date of billing B EWES P HEEHHE60E 180K KN

and may be extended to selected customers depending on their trade
volumes and settlement with the Group. Debtors with balances that are
more than 6 months past due are requested to settle all outstanding
balances before any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from customers.

As mentioned in note 19, there has been certain litigations against
the former management of Happy Group involving their conduct.
Furthermore, there is disposal took place without the authorization and/
or approval from the Board. The Board is in the view that the prospect
of the business operated of Happy Group thereunder remains largely
uncertain. Therefore, full impairment for the prepayments and trade
receivable of approximately RMB96,460,000 and RMB40,250,000,
respectively were recognized for the year ended 30 June 2023.

FE MBEERAFLER RPHEAER
BN ZERERBRME - MeraiHBE
NEBZEBAREREFNE-—FEER
BRERSCEBIAREREGH —RM=
FEMATERERESIEIF M-

MM 19 IR KR BE THEREEER
BEEEBNTANNFNR LI TEREESTY
RER /I ENEESTH EEER5
FBERT REERME Lﬂﬁﬁ?{ﬁﬁmfﬁh
BANAHEEE Fb HEZFZ=FX
B=+tHIEEFE" %Eﬁmlﬁ&a%ﬁ%uﬂém
ZIRED B AR 196,460,000t I AR 1
40,250,000 0 2 HFERD

EDERERAT
y2024 FHR 1 5 3
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont'd) 23. B ENERFT R EMEYRFIE
(&)
The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on invoiced date, and net B EWRSIIGEEUEZEAHAREEY
of allowance, is as follows: IREEDTUWT ¢
2024 2023
ZEZmE - ——
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T AR#EFT
0 to 30 days 0ZF30Kk 59,626 56,993
31 to 60 days 31E60XK 59,475 48,939
61 to 90 days 61E90K 47,126 36,034
91 to 180 days 91F 180K 51,645 45,255
Over 180 days 838180k 50,910 40,966
268,782 228,187
Reconciliation of allowance for trade receivables: B EINARI B E  HER .
2024 2023
ZEZmE —ET=HF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR®EF T
At 1 July ntB—H 43,028 2,397
(Reversal)/allowance for the year FR L) S EE (342) 40,631
At 30 June RARB=+H 42,686 43,028
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_Z

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to provide for
expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss provision for all
trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward
looking information.

iR IR IR R MY EE

THERAZTHLEFE

23.BES5 RNRT R H thEW RIS

()

FEERREBMBREENFIRZHBIE

HEto B A EZRWRRE R 2 MEME

BRAESRBNEEBEER RHABRES
EEEER BSBUERMEREREERR

BERBHRB I E BRREEBETES
AIBEMEE R o

Over Over Over
30 days 60 days 120 days
Current past due past due past due Total
B gt bk
Gl BiR30% #BiB60X #BiB120% @t
At 30 June 2024 RZZEZMEARB=1+H
Weighted average expected loss rate MEFRAEEE - 0% 1% 29%
Receivable amount (RMB) FEWIESE (ARET) 59,626 59,719 47,418 144,705 311,468
Loss allowance (RMB) BEEE AR - 244 292 42,150 42,686
At 30 June 2023 RZEZ=Z& A=+H
Weighted average expected loss rate MEFERPHEE - 1% 1% 32%
Receivable amount (RMB) ElHIESE (AR 56,993 49,416 36,388 128,418 271,215
Loss allowance (RMB) BiEEE ARBT) - 477 354 42,197 43,028
LONG TERM RECEIVABLES 24-§,ﬂﬂﬂ§ﬂ5‘(;’f—ﬁ’lﬁ
2024 2023
—EmE ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREBTFT
Long term receivables R WRIE 50,000 50,000
Less: allowance for doubtful debts B REREE (50,000) (50,000)
The amounts were deposited into certain investment companies which ZEREEFEAETREAT  AEILE %7
are unsecured, interest bearing with an effective interest rate ranged NFIS%EITI%ZERMXTE AR

from 9.5% to 11% and repayable in January 2020. Full impairment of
RMB50,000,000 was recognised as these investment companies are
uncontactable and the Group considered these loan made by the former
management were considered as deceitful acts and were reported to the
Police Department of Huangpu District, Guangzhou Municipality in May
2018.

ETERF-AHEB -HNRZERERE KN
i 7 £ H 38 2 M—;EEIHMEE?EE}EVE&ZE%’R
BEFTR LERZZ2—N\FERABEMN
TEBERAZBRE  WAEEEIZEUA
B AR #50,000,0007T °

EDERERAT
2024 FR
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For year ended 30 June 2024 B EZE —Z _MNFA=+HLFE

25.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
As at 30 June 2024, the bank and cash balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately RMB49,540,000
(2023: approximately RMB46,124,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

26.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

B R/RERFEFEERE

RZEZMEANAB=Z+H ZEBMUA
EBABEZROTABESEHRNAABARE
49,540,000 (ZE_=ZF : HYARHE
46,124,0007T) - ARE RN A INEBEST
o B 41 BE B TR A 151 o

26.8 7 B3 AR R Lt FE 4 7R IR

2024 2023

ZEIME S

Note RMB'000 RMB’'000

i3 ARETT AR#FT

Trade payables B 5 ETRRR a 86,049 61,090

Other payables HAME I 72,655 52,491

Receipt in advance related to B EMIEE A AN

urban renewal projects TAUWR 10,180 10,180
Receipt in advance related to EREAREAR 75 B RARY TR UL R

energy conservation service 367 367

Consideration for Hei Jing REERZAE * 5,301 5,301

Dividend payable FERT RS 2,681 2,671

Contract liabilities s8R b 18,688 15,369

195,921 147,469

* The amount consideration for disposal of Hei Jing and reference to HERENRERERFNSELREME340

outstanding litigation details refer to note 34.

a Trade payables
The aging analysis of the trade payables, based on invoice date, is as

8 5% B TR

BERMERRUBEZORRELEZIRE

follows: ST
2024 2023
—EmE TEC=HFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARBTT
0 to 30 days 0&E30K 43,572 19,380
31 to 60 days 31E60K 3,459 19,660
61 to 90 days 61E90K 684 5,352
91 to 180 days 91FE180K 4,556 4,230
181 to 365 days 181F365% 22,781 9,713
Over 365 days BiB365% 10,997 2,755
86,049 61,090
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For year ended 30 June 2024 HE_ZF _MNEXA=+HIFE

26.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (cont’d) 26%%@1@?5%’&&1&@1?%’@
(&)
b Contract liabilities b &#H&E
As at As at As at
30 June 30 June 1 July
2024 2023 2022
—TTHE —ET=F - —
~NAB=+H ~A=+H +B—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARSTT AREF T AR®TF T
Manufacturing and sales of BIERINENE A &
steel pipes, steel sheets and Hihimal g
other products made of steel 18,688 15,369 8,374
2024 2023
ZEmE ZEI=HF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BTT AR®TFT
Revenue recognised in the year REYFAEHNEEZ
that was included in contract FERBEEE W
liabilities at beginning of year 12,540 5,552
Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year: SHEaENFERZEKES
2024 2023
—EmE ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TF T
Increase due to operations in the year FERNEZFEFE MG 15,859 12,547
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue BESNEBEERR 12,540 5,552
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer products SHEEEAEERERELSRE (FHEH
or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration BAHIE AR ERERIREZES-

(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customers.

ERERER

UNC]
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27.BORROWINGS 27.f88
2024 2023
—EmE —EZ=
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT
Bank borrowings — unsecured IRITEE —mIKH 20,000 75,000
Bank borrowings — secured (i) IRITHEE — B HEI) 80,000 -
100,000 75,000
The borrowings are repayable as follows:  fEEEEZIT :
On demand or within one year BERYNR—FERN 100,000 75,000
In the second year MREZFE - -
100,000 75,000
Less: Amount due for settlement B R1I2EBNEIEEEZ SR
within 12 months (100,000) (75,000)
Amount due for settlement after R1I2ERBIRBEZ 4
12 months - -
The average interest rates were as follows: EHFRINT :
2024 2023
—ETmE ZEI=HF

Bank borrowings — unsecured

Other borrowings — unsecured

RITEE—EIRH
H & & —HEIn

3.2% - 3.7%
N/ARE B

3.45% - 3.8%
N/AT 8 A

All borrowings are arranged at fixed interest rates and expose the Group

to fair value interest rate risk.

(i)  Bank borrowings are guaranteed by the Guangzhou Mayer Corporation
Limited with its property, plant and equipment to the amount of

$100,000,000.
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For year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ_Z

28.PROMISSORY NOTES

Upon the completion date of the acquisition of Happy (Hong Kong)
New City Group Limited on 26 November 2019, the Company
issued Promissory Notes (“"PN”) to a Company owned by a
substantial shareholder of the Company with a principal amount of
HK$158,000,000 as a part of the settlement of the consideration.
The PN are interest bearing at 3% p.a. payable semi-annually and the
maturity date is in 2 years from the date of issue. The fair value of PN at
issuance was assessed as approximately HK$136,090,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB122,260,000) by an independent valuer. The effective
interest rate is 10%.

Pursuant to the supplemental agreement dated 11 March 2022 (the
"Supplement Agreement”), the Company, the vendor and the
guarantor have agreed to extend the period for the meeting the
Target Profit of Happy Group for 18 months to 30 June 2023. As a
result of the extension, the maturity date of the PN was extended to
30 September 2023. On 30 June 2023, the directors of the Company
believes that Happy Group will not be able to achieve the Target Profit
in the foreseeable future so no further supplemental agreement was
entered to extend the maturity date of PN. As at the date of this report,
the Supplemental Agreement was not yet approved by the independent
Shareholders of the Company and the extension of maturity date of the
PN to 30 September 2023 has not taken effect.

According to the sale and purchase agreement entered between the
Company, the vendor and the guarantor, in the event that Happy Group
is unable to achieve the Target Profit, the PN may be offset with the
shortfall between the actual profit and Target Profit. The Company is
taking legal actions to claim against the vendor and the guarantor for
breaching the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement. Therefore, the
Company expects the PN will not be repaid until the claim is settled.

iR IR IR R MY EE

THERAZTHLEFE

28. A REE

A ZE—NEFE+—ABIZ+/NBERKERH
(BB R EREBRBRAB* (Happy
(Hong Kong) New City Group Limited)zz H »
KRB B—BHBEAABFEREHREZR
BT RS EEA158,000,000B T2 A RE
B (RRER) FANEBZE DR K
REBBFFEI%FE  BFFRE—R
A ABRETHHESME - RRRRE
RETRZANBER LB ILG BT
E#3#9136,090,0008 7 (HERHO AR
122,260,0007T) e BEFIZEA10% °

REAPAE__F=B+—HWERH
#((HRmE) AR -BAKRERAR
BREBHERYLEEBE 2T NVEARIER18E
ﬁi—v——fﬁ/\ﬁ +H AR &KR
EENIREERE_E_—F B =1+
H R ZZEZ=FXB=1TH xRBESE
EERLEER BRI ELIZEINERHE
o EIb g — P TR S DUERK
REENIBAH RAREBE  AQABEL
BRI EBTIH R KA R EZEHEE
BEREZS_=FhLA=+HHEEREK-

mﬁK@j‘Eﬁ&#ﬁkﬂimAA%ﬁ’
h%%%%l%ﬁ BRER - ol E R
i A1) B AR e ﬁz%m%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁo
K@Tﬁﬁ%ﬂ&@ﬁ@ MEREERE
HERAEBES REFRARE -FIL > AAFE
o RREEBRAASTIGEEARRE
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29.

30.

160

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the "MPF
Scheme"”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer makes contributions
to the scheme at 5% and employees are required to make 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Mandatory contributions to the scheme vest immediately.
No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable
in future year.

Subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC participate in various defined
contribution retirement plans (“Plans”) organised by local authorities
for the Group's employees in the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute, based on a certain percentage of the basic payroll, to the
Plans. The Group has no other obligation for the payment of pension
benefits associated with these Plans beyond the annual contributions
described above.

LEASE LIABILITIES

Lease payments

29 R hRAIH1E

BEERAKEF
FEERBEBERFIMERAB A EMS
EEMBEAEREERLBHNIEAEERE
(MRBEEFTE) - BB HHBIET
ANEEZ EEHRTBRIKGE - RBBIES S
g EEXRESREMBAZS%M B HR
MESTFRIZS%HR > S EERMBA LIRS
30,0007 7T © A 5+ 8 £F & 2 58 il 14 5 7R BN B
57 8 o M0 B2 WAV (RN AT (A SR 2R E A0
BT R

EREEMRILIZMB AR R AEERTEE
B2 5 KR AR A~ 2 TEE BRHTUR ARG
# (ZEE) - MBEADARREERS
HEETAEDLEMZSHBIER - BFLAE
FEAERRON - 20 S 0 B H Mt B 52 5 S B AR R
ZRARERAAREE

30.fHE&E

Present value of
lease payments

HERE HAERIERE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZED@E 2= IZEZ@EFE ZZ=%F
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT AR®Tx ARE®TRT AR®TT
Within one year —£RN 565 676 553 627
In the second to fifth years, FEBLEF
inclusive (BEERMEF) - 356 - 344
565 1,032
Less: Future finance charges R AR 3T (12) 61)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAERE 553 971 553 971
Less: Amount due for settlement i ?‘5/:\12@@ IN@J\,HH‘}%ETE\Z
within 12 months @R REas
BHT)
(shown under current
liabilities) (553) (627)
Amount due for settlement R12ERBERBEEZ S8
after 12 months = 344
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31.SHARE CAPITAL

31.58 4

Number of
shares Amount
KHER Gt
‘000 RMB’000
T AREBTFT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.2 each at é:;‘::&tﬁ =
1 July 2022 and 30 June 2023, —Z=F5A=+H"
1 July 2023 and 30 June 2024 _E=FtRE—HBk
“EMOFEXA=+H
SREEI2ETZEER 4,000,000 724,843
Issued and fully paid : ERITRERE :
At 30 June 2023, 1 July 2023 R-E-=fXB=+A-"
and 30 June 2024 B e =D
ZE2EIHEFERA=+H 2,158,000 391,760

Note:

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by considering the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts, redemption of existing debts or selling
assets to reduce debts in order to maintain sufficiency of working capital.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by adjusted capital. Net debt is calculated
as total debts less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity (i.e. share capital, share premium, non-controlling interests,
accumulated losses and other reserves).

PEE -

FEBEREAZ BRBRELERENIRTEL
ERERERE AREBELEBRERER
RRRBRR AL -

FEEBRERELAMARARFEAEFI R
B SREOIR S B A RIS - A EBR B RIKE ~ #1T
WK B BIfE U K B 1T &5 ~ BRI A EH
HEBERVEFUEERAREEES THHEE
REARE

FEEENEFHBABRREA L XERER ZLE
KUYEBFEGUERABEAFE -EFHFHEUE
BREARRERRESEERFE - KABRELES
TEFT A AR A D (BIARZA ~ R17 18 ~ SFIE AR
o Rt Rk EME#E)
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31.SHARE CAPITAL (cont'd)

The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

31.58 4 @)
REBHRCEEAGBLERNT

2024 2023

ZEZmE ZET=F

RMB'000 RMB’'000

AR® T ARBFT

Total debt B HE%E 259,304 231,586
Less: cash and cash equivalents B REAREEEEE (57,554) (46,388)
Net debt B35 201,750 185,198
Total equity ERE 123,886 141,356
Net debt-to-capital ratio FEBHEARLLE 163% 131%

The increase in the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio during 2024 resulted
primarily from new borrowings used in operations.

32.RESERVES
(@) The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements therein are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

(b) Reserves of the Company

BHEHBABREAR XN S _NE AT
TEHRNEEMBZMEEMRR -

32.#1E
Q) ~EBR#ESEREEINGSEER

EfzERaiURGEEaEHRE
5o

(b) EABIHE

162

Foreign
currencies
Share Special translation Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
1R & fE BhltkE  SMBRERE BEtEHE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFRT ARBFT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 July 2022 RIEZZH+E—H 213,309 125,211 (62,168) (374,219) (97,867)
Loss for the year FREE - - - (82,854) (82,854)
Exchange difference HMENBRRELIEE
on translation of EEZER %%ﬁ
financial statements to
presentation currency - - 20,359 - 20,359
At 30 June 2023 RZE_=%,A=+H 213,309 125,211 (41,809) (457,073) (160,362)
At 1 July 2023 KRZE2Z_=5tA—H 213,309 125,211 (41,809) (457,073) (160,362)
Loss for the year EWEE?E - - - (20,043) (20,043)
Exchange difference BEMBRREZIEE
on translation of EEX7ERER
financial statements to
presentation currency - - 5,230 - 5,230
At 30 June 2024 “EMERB=1H 213,309 125,211 (36,579) (477,116) (175,175)

Mayer Holdings Limited
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32.RESERVES (cont'd)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium account

32.(# % @
(0 BEZHEEEN
(i) Br=ER

The application of the share premium account is governed by
the Companies Acts of the Cayman Islands.

Under the Companies Acts of the Cayman Islands, the funds in
the share premium account of the Company are distributable
to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be

KROEBRZDAZHEHBERT
EIRE e

RERERERE X xRAF RN
HEERZEZIDIRTEARDRK
oAt EREBEERREREZH
B ARBEEHNELNNRABES

distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its BREPEE B
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
(ii) Special reserve (i) #HEEE

The special reserve of the Group represents the paid-in capital
of the Company of 1 share of HK$0.1 each and the special
reserve of RMB83,570,000 arising from exchange of 1 share of
the Company of HK$0.1 for the entire share capital of Bamian
pursuant to the reorganisation scheme dated 12 December
2003 less distribution of final dividends of RMB12,000,000 and
RMB4,000,000 for the years ended 31 December 2004 and
2005 respectively.

The special reserve of the Company represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares of the Company
issued in exchange for the issued share capital of the
subsidiaries and the value of the underlying assets of the
subsidiaries pursuant to the group reorganisation on 12
December 2003.

AEBZENEEREAR2ENKEE
0NEBTRMDZEHR A UKEIR
BEHBEA-ZZ=F+"A+=H

ZEAEFE UARABEIREEC NS
TTZRMRIGEMEBRAMESE
2R B AR #83,570,0007T
WD R EE SN ER
EERF+_B=+—HILEFESD
TRz AREARRE AR ®12,000,0007¢
K AR #4,000,0007T ©

KRB Z B ERE 2T =
F+TBE+ZHZEREME X
BB AR EHTRAMEGTZA
ARRMEELAZEWE QB 2
MEEGBEZBNEE-

EDERERAT
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7177 (g |

32.RESERVES (cont’d)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (cont'd)
(iii) Statutory surplus fund

164

The Articles of Association of Guangzhou Mayer requires the
appropriation of 10% of its profit after taxation, based on its
statutory audited accounts, each year to the statutory surplus
reserve until the balance reaches 50% of the registered capital.
According to the provision of the Articles of Association of
Guangzhou Mayer, in normal circumstances, the statutory
surplus reserve shall only be used for making up losses,
capitalisation into registered capital and expansion of the
production and operation of Guangzhou Mayer. For the
capitalisation of statutory surplus reserve into registered capital,
the remaining amount of such reserve shall not be less than
25% of the registered capital.

(iv) Statutory public welfare fund

)

Pursuant to the PRC Company Law, Guangzhou Mayer shall
make allocation from its profit after taxation at the rate of
5% to 10% to the statutory public welfare fund, based on its
statutory audited accounts. The statutory public welfare fund
can only be utilised on capital items for employees’ collective
welfare. Individual employees only have the right to use these
facilities, the titles to which will remain with the Company. The
statutory public welfare fund forms part of the shareholders’
equity but is non-distributable other than in liquidation. With
effect from 1 January 2006, the appropriation is not a statutory
requirement in accordance with the PRC Company Law (2006
Amendment). Guangzhou Mayer adopted the amended
Company Law and no appropriation was made.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 3.

Mayer Holdings Limited
2024 Annual Report
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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33.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 33. K AFIZHMBERAER
COMPANY
2024 2023
ZEZmE ZEI=HF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AER®TF T
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment MEBE KRB 31 12
Right-of-use assets ERAREE 331 759
Investments in subsidiaries RHEARZEE 123,909 121,794
124,271 122,565
Current assets REEE
Deposit, prepayments and other receivable 23 ~ TE 718 K H th FE UL R IE 62,031 60,395
Due from subsidiaries FE WL 8 A B T I8 39,214 57,703
Cash and cash equivalents ReERkREEEEE 522 135
101,767 118,233
Current liabilities ik B=NE
Other payables HME [ RIE 9,103 8,606
Due to subsidiaries FEATIS @B A Bl 7R I8 - 26
Lease liabilities HEaE 350 424
9,453 9,056
Net current assets REEERE 92,314 109,177
Total assets less current liabilities “AEERTEBAR 216,585 231,742
Non-current liabilities EmENEE
Lease liabilities HEaE - 344
- 344
NET ASSETS BEFE 216,585 231,398
Capital and reserves % 2s K (56 1
Share capital N 391,760 391,760
Reserves (B (175,175) (160,362)
TOTAL EQUITY At 216,585 231,398
EnERERAR ’l 65
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34.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 3.5 REE
Writs of summons against the Company HAEQATEHZEHASHK

On 29 March 2012, writs of summons were issued by Capital Wealth
Finance Company Limited and Capital Wealth Corporation Limited
against the Company to claim the sum of HK$15,500,000 plus relevant
legal costs incurred/to be incurred. The Company intends to contest the
claim. In the directors’ opinion, the ultimate liability, if any, will not have
a material impact on the Group’s financial position.

Dispute on diposal of Hei Jing

On 9 February 2022, a former director of the Company who is also
the former director of certain subsidiaries in the PRC using suspected
forgery seal entered an agreement with other parties to disposal of 51%
equity interest in Hei Jing at cash consideration of RMB5.3 million. The
consideration was received on 1 February 2022 and 31 March 2022 and
the registration of the ownership of the equity interest was changed to
purchaser on 14 February 2022. After the removal of the former director,
the board of directors of the Company carried out the review of the
transaction. The directors of the Company considered the consideration
of the Disposal were too low and unfair and the Group would suffer
significant loss upon the Disposal. In the view of the directors of the
Company, the Disposal is unenforceable. Therefore, the Group instigated
a legal action to rescind the agreement and resume the ownership of the
51% equity interest in Hei Jing.

On 2 January 2024, Shenzhen Baoan District People's Court has issued
a judgment to dismiss the claim. In order to protect the interests of
the Group and after having sought legal advice, the directors of the
Company has decided to appeal and filed an appeal to the Shenzhen
Intermediate People’s Court. The Legal action is processing and outcome
is uncertain.
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35.NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
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5.4 RERERMEE

FLOWS
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities MEEBFFELEaEZE
The following table shows the Group's changes in liabilities arising from TREBRENASNEERE THESEEY
financing activities during the year: BAE
Promissory Lease
notes liabilities Borrowings Total
EREE HEafE (1= aat
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®EFT ARET ARETFT ARBFT
At 1 July 2022 RIZEZZH+LBE—H 142,281 203 7,637 150,121
Changes in cash flows Remegs) - (117) 67,363 67,246
Interest paid BAFE - - (2,033) (2,033)
Non-cash changes EREEH
- Interest charged -FIEZH 4,210 20 2,033 6,263
- Lease modification —HEBN 865 - 865
- Exchange difference -ERER 10,095 - - 10,095
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 RIZEZ=FAB=1HK
S = Rl 156,586 971 75,000 232,557
Changes in cash flows RERELH - (481) 25,000 24,519
Interest paid BAFE - - (3,542) (3,542)
Non-cash changes EREEH
- Interest charged —hE - 50 3,542 3,592
- Additions —FIEZH - -
- Exchange difference -ERER 2,718 13 - 2,731
At 30 June 2024 RIEZMEAB=1+H 159,304 553 100,000 259,857
EDERERAT ’l 67
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36.SHARE OPTION SCHEME 36. BEPIGHEETE

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for
the purpose of reward participants who have contributed to the Group
and to encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value
of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole. Eligible participants include the directors,
employees, advisors, consultants, agents, customers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, business partners, promoters, service providers
of the Company and the Company's subsidiaries. The Scheme became
effective on 31 May 2019 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the
adoption date, which may be renewed by obtaining approval of the
shareholders in general meeting from time to time, provided that such
renewed limit shall not exceed 10% of the shares in issue. Any further
grant of shares options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of
their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after a certain
vesting period and ends on a date which is not later than ten years from
the date of the offer of the share.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share
options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the
offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of
the offer.
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For year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ_Z

36.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (cont’d)

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or to vote
at shareholders’ meetings.

On 12 January 2022, the Company entered into the consultancy
agreement with the grantee and pursuant to which (i) the Company has
appointed the grantee as a consultant of the Company for provision of
the consultancy services for a term of two years; and (ii) the board of
directors has resolved to grant 174,800,000 options with exercise price
of HK$0.2 per share to the grantee on 27 April 2022 to subscribe for a
total of 174,800,000 shares under the Scheme, subject to the conditions
precedent set out under the consultancy agreement, as consideration for
the consultancy services.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share options
granted under 2019 Scheme during the year ended 30 June 2023:

iR IR IR R MY EE

THERAZTHLEFE

36. IR T E @)

BRETKRBFHAEABRREREXNEREKR
g ERERER -

AT THF—RB+HAATEEEA
ST R BRI (VA RRBEEEREA
BANBER LURHEMRY > BHEWE ;

RiNVEEGERANR - _FONAZ++t
HmE AR A H174,800,0000 1T EASE
BRO2B TR LUREZTERESH
174,800,0008& f2 1% > MEBRT S BARI R FT &
B SR E M (EA BRI RSB o

TREERBEEZZ_=FB=+HILF
ER ZRBRE_Z-—NAFAERTNE
RENEHBER

Number of share options

BhEHE
Forfeited/
Exercise Outstanding Granted  Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
price per asat 1 July during during during as at 30 June
Date of grant Exercise period share 2022 the year the year the year 2023
RIEZZ& R RIZZZR
5k tA—H B/ RA=TH
REAE 8 158 I ERRL RERTE B KT
HKS
B
Consultant 27 April 2022 27 April 2022 to 27 April 2032 0.2 174,800,000 - - - 174,800,000
i ZZICE "B _EMACHEAE
MEZ++tH ZR=ZEMAZ+tH
Exercisable at the end of the year
FRATHE
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.20 HK$0.20
METFHEITEE 0.20%7 0.20%7
EDERERAT 1 69
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36.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (cont'd) 36. FERGHE T2 ()
The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share options TREENRHE_Z_NEA=+HILLE
granted under 2019 Scheme during the year ended 30 June 2024: ERN AR RE_E—HFEFEETHE

RENEHBER

Number of share options

BREHR
Forfeited/
Exercise Outstanding  Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
price per  as at 1 July during during during as at 30 June

Date of grant  Exercise period share 2023 the year the year the year 2024
RZBZ=f R RKRIZZnE
sk tA-H g’/ ~A=1H
RHAH 18 @ K  ERRYE RERTE BRH KTfE
HK$
BT
Consultant 27 April 2022 27 April 2022 to 27 April 2032 0.2 174,800,000 - - - 174,800,000
B ZZICE “E_EMACFLHE

mAZ++H “E=ZFMAZ+tH

Exercisable at the end of the year

FERATE

Weighted average exercise price HK$0.20 HK$0.20
MEFETEER 0.20%7T 0.20%7T
The options are valid and exercisable in whole or in part for a period of EREERFZHETFEAER A28
ten years from the date of grant of the options. With vesting conditions, B TR o sLER BRI S » (1)50% B8 I S
(i) 50% of the options shall be vested on the date of completion of the RARBEEEBEIEBHEINAEHET
joint venture agreement to be entered into between the Company and Mz BEE WA R AR EEE 2 AT
a business partner, and shall be exercisable until the expiry date of the (I EEBETRBIRIES  S0% N B
validity period; and (i) conditional upon completion of the joint venture TR AR A RIS AR A BB, &
agreement, 50% of the options shall be vested on the date of the GRETKRHREE TR ENAEAE
completion of the equity/debt Financing by the Company successfully ZHI{TME

introduced and facilitated by the grantee, and shall be exercisable until
the expiry date of the validity period.

At the end of reporting date, consultant has not fulfilled the vesting HERSHH BRERMEHEBIRE-
conditions.
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37.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

a.

In addition to those related party transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had no other transactions with its related parties during the
year; and

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company's directors and certain of
the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 14 is as follows:

37. Bﬁﬂﬁ‘ﬁ z 5%
frér e PR R EME D AT IR 88 2~ B B
FR G RGN REBR F R EH
Rl AETHMRS ; &

b. AEERTFEEEASZH (B
AR BERARBEERETRSHIE
EXftzEER) W

2024 2023

—EmE ==
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AER®TF T

Salaries and other short-term frerkEMEHEE R

employee benefit 3,635 3,718
Retirement scheme contribution IRIRET B R - _
3,635 3,718

EDERERAT
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38.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at the end of reporting period
are as follows:

38. X EMBAT

REEHRZEIEWMBABFBEOT

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

FATEMERERDIL
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of issued and
Name of company operation paid-up capital Directly Indirectly Principal activities
REHTE MBI, EE MR BRETRBRREFE = BE IEEH
Bamian Investments Pte. Limited Singapore 16,829,670 ordinary 100% - Investment holdings
shares of SGD1 each
BRRERRAF BN 16,829,6700 B EE BRERR
IRz EBR
Guangzhou Mayer Corporation Limited  the People Republic of Registered capital of - 81.4% Manufacturing of steel pipes
("Guangzhou Mayer")* China ("PRC") RMB200,000,000 and other products
EMEZRABRAD (EMESE)) HEARKAR AEMEAARE HEHERAEMER
(TR 200,000,0007%
Elate Ample Limited the British Virgin Island 50,000 ordinary 100% - Investment holdings
("BVI") shares of USD1 each
HERUEE 50,000 BB EE REER
(TRBERES) 1ETZEER
Fulland (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each - 81.4% Investment holdings
L4 (B8 ERAF N IREEIETZEBR REER
Happy (Hong Kong) BVI 10,000 ordinary - 100% Investment holdings
New City Group Limited shares of USD1 each
HBRUES 10,0008 8K EME BRELK
(I t ]
Galaxy Peace Holdings Limited BVI 10,000 ordinary - 81.4% Investment holdings
shares of USD1 each
RERUEHE 10,000 B8R EE REZR
(ESIPA b=l
Happy (Hong Kong) Hong Kong 7,000,000 ordinary - 100% Investment holdings
New City Group Limited share of HK$1 each
RE (BH) MPHERERERAT FF 7,000,000 SR EE REER
BT EER
KEREEELRBRAE" PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Business and economic
RMB30,000,000 consulting
HE AR E A AR #30,000,0007 EBRIEESS
KERERTERERAE PRC Registered capital of - 100% Urban renewal project
RMB10,000,000 planning and consulting
FE s E A& AR #10,000,0007T W ERIEE RE KA
KERERHEBRERAR* PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Real estate development
RMB10,000,000 services
FE AEMEARAR10,000,0007 B EERRS
BEMNEGREERBRAR PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Technology development and
RMB 10,000,000 consulting
I AR E A AR 10,000,0007 Bl Rt
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38.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd) 3.XEEME AT @

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

AAFEMGRET AL
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of issued and
Name of company operation paid-up capital Directly Indirectly Principal activities
NEATE Bl ayg-fekik BETRBERFEE HiE M FEEH
FIBEAERMERRE* PRC Registered capital of - 51%  Trading of electric
RMB29,411,800 and other products
FE AMEARARE29,411,8007 EEBEFREMER
REIETMRERAT* PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Trading of steel pipes
RMB10,000,000 and other products
FE & A AR 10,000,000 BEENERAMER
BNEGEERBRERERAT" PRC Registered capital of - 81.4%  Engineering and
RMB30,000,000 technical services
E HEMEAAR30,000,0007 IRREMRS
BENEGEERBEERAR" PRC Registered capital of - 81.4%  Science and technology
RMB1,000,000 extension and
application services
FE AMEARAE1,000,0007T REEERERRE
FREED (IR RENE PRC Registered capital of - 65%  Science and technology
Eﬂn nﬁﬁ ’A\u a* RMB1,000,000 extension and
application services
FE AMERAE1,000,0007T Rt B R B RS
X0 (BM) B AkREERAT PRC Registered capital of - 49% Research and experimental
RMB1,000,000 development
g S E A AR 1,000,000 - 49%  HEABRER
BEMEZKIGRARRERAR PRC Registered capital of - 34%  Science and technology
RMB 1,000,000 extension and
application services
FE AMERAE1,000,0007T Rt B R B RS
X (5% BENRERAR PRC Registered capital of - 81.4% Research and experimental
RMB1,000,000 development
g S E A AR 1,000,000 RHBRER
ETEE (8% BERKERAT*  PRC Registered capital of - 58%  Science and technology
RMB2,000,000 extension and
application services
FE AMERAE2,000,0007T R B R B R
# Registered under the law of the PRC as a Sino foreign equity joint venture tRBREEREAM RS ERERE

enterprise

* Registered under the law of the PRC as limited company

Registered under the law of the PRC as wholly foreign-owned enterprise

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities at the end of the

reporting period.

* REBHEDEEEMABRAD

RFEPEERIMBIERE

RREMRBEMNB LD SEHTEBRS-

EDERERAR
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38.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd)
The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NCI") material to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company

3.FEMELAT @
TRETEENAEEBE A IFERER
(TIEHRRRME RS ) = [ B A B B4 o FF Ef it B
HERHEN AT IR 2 5o

eliminations.

Name &g Guangzhou Mayer
EMEE
2024 2023
ZEOE —E”=
Principal place of business/country FEEEMB EMAIER PRC PRC
of incorporation i FE
% of ownership interests/voting R RS REREE R
fights held by NCI FREBEDLL 18.6% 18.6%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBFT
At 30 June: ®AB=+8:
Non-current assets EREEE 60,360 53,350
Current assets TEEE 532,367 449,791
Current liabilities PIE=NE (246,043) (171,982)
Net assets BEZE 346,684 331,159
Accumulated NCI REtIEERR S 68,218 66,544
Year ended 30 June: HEANB=1HLEE":
Revenue W 713,051 538,346
Profit for the year F R 15,525 17,184
Total comprehensive income TEW T AEEE 15,525 17,184
Profit allocated to NCI PETIFERER ZEF 2,888 3,196
Dividends paid to NCI TN TFIRERERZRE - -
Net cash used in operating activities RERBMAZIRE 38 (2,061) (59,411)
Net cash used in investing activities KREZBMAZIRE 38 (11,253) (743)
Net cash generated from financing activities B EBNFT1S 2 I & 958 21,514 73,824
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IR&KIFELEEBEHF /D FE 8,200 13,670

As at 30 June 2024, the bank and cash balances of the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB45,815,000 (2023: RMB44,704,000). Conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations.
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39.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 5 March 2015, Elate Ample Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company) (“Vendor”) and the Purchaser entered into the Sale
and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the purchaser agreed
to purchase from the Vendor and the Vendor agreed to sell to the
Purchaser the Sale Shares at the consideration of RMB1. The disposal was
completion on 12 March 2025.

The Group is expected to record a one-off loss due to the provision for
impairment loss in respect of its investment in the Target Group of the
amount of approximately RMB335.06 million for the year ended 30 June
2024.

40.APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 26 March 2025.

39.5HHRER

AZZ " HHF=HA B Elate Ample Limited
(ErEzENBAR) (TEA)) BEHE]
VEEWHH B BEFREAESBE M
BEAFREAEBEAHEHERG KEAAR
1T - ARHEER _E-_AFE=A+_H
SERL ©

AERERRBE_ZE_NFA=+HL
MHFEERAMKRERBRABFRRE
EBRAEARMRS -—RIEBEHARKE335.06
BBt

40 .4t M FE IR R

EEEEN T RFE=-RA -+ BEHET
RETEMBRE-

EDERERAT
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFMBHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial period/years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below:

For the year ended

BHE e EECERMBREAKBEEMERD
BrAEEBERBEVBGE FEZEERE
ERGEHEHRIWT

31 December For For For
HE+ZA=1+-H 18-month the year the year
i period ended ended ended
2019 2020 30 June 2022 30 June 2023 30 June 2024
“ECCF “EC=E “ECmE
AAZFALE ~A=1H ~NA=tH
ey K ZEI%E T)\BEREMH IEFE LEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREBTT AREBTT AREBTT AREFR
RESULTS £
Revenue Wi 580,456 581,112 902,652 538,163 714,408
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRIl (B9 /mA 10,139 32,620 (3,367) (333,193) (11,574)
Income tax expense FisiEx (2,064) (11,940 (5,452) (2,803) (3,300)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period F/8R (B18) /& 8,075 20,680 (8,819) (335,996) (14,874)
Attributable to: TEfh
Owners of the Company AR EBA 3,322 15,854 (14,304) (338,846) (14,735)
Non-controlling interests R ER 4,753 4,826 5,485 2,850 (139)
8,075 20,680 (8,819) (335,996) (14,874)
As at
As at 31 December As at 30 June 30 June
RTZA=1+—H RAB=+H RAB=+H
2019 2020 2022 2023 2024
—2-NE IR ZEITR “EC=F —E_MmE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTR AREBFT AREBTR ARBFT ARBFR
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
Non-current assets FRBEE 259,330 264,637 267,515 79,438 100,476
Current assets RBEE 522,959 509,950 494,358 454,349 494,100
Current liabilities nBEE (183,383) (278,603) (278,359) (392,087) (470,690)
Non-current liabilities EEI=Y (125,121) (885) - (344) -
NET ASSETS BERE 473,785 495,099 483,514 141,356 123,886
Share capital i 391,760 391,760 391,760 391,760 391,760
Share premium and reserves R EERHE 26,244 43,270 28,060 (316,948) (334,479)
Proposed final dividend BERERE - - - - -
Non-controlling interests FERER 55,781 60,069 63,694 66,544 66,605
TOTAL EQUITY iR 473,785 495,099 483,514 141,356 123,886
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